
NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Please take notice that the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., lNC. will be held
on 3l- May 2018 at 2:00p.m. at The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, Ayala Avenue Extension,
Makati City to discuss the following:

AGENDA

1,. Call to order

2. Certification of Notice and Quorum

3. Review and approval of the minutes of the previous meeting

The minutes of the previous meeting held on May L0, 2017 will be presented for approval by
the stockholders. Copies of the minutes of the meeting will be distributed to the stockholders
before the meeting. A resolution to this agenda item must be approved with a majority vote of
the stockholders present and eligible to vote.

4. Annual report of Management and approval of the audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31,2017

Afterthe President's report on the performance of the Company in the year 2017 and the plan
of operations for the year 2018, the Company's Financial Statements as of December 31., 2017
will be presented for approval by the stockholders. The Financial Statements of the Company is

included in the lnformation Statement to be sent to the stockholders prior to the meeting.

5. Ratification of all acts and resolutions adopted by the Board of Director, Executive Committee
and other committees of the Board of Directors, and Management since the last Annual
Stockholders Meeting held on May 1.0,2017.

Ratification by the stockholders will be sought for all acts and resolutions adopted by the Board
of Directors, Executive Committee and other committees of the Board of Directors, and
Management since the last Annual Stockholders Meeting on May 1,0, 2011. These acts and
resolutions include approval of agreements, fiscal or treasury matters, regulatory matters, and

other matters taken in the conduct of the regular business of the Company. A resolution on this
agenda item must be approved by a majority vote of the stockholders present and eligible to
vote.

Election of member of the Board of Directors (including lndependent Directors)

The Nominations Committee will determine whether the nominees for membership in the
Board of Directors of the Company have all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications
to serve as members of the Board. The qualified nominees will be submitted for election by

the stockholders. The profile of the nominees to the Board of Directors of the Company will be

included in the lnformation Statement that will be sent to the stockholders prior to the
meeting. Members of the Board of Directors of the Company are elected by plurality of votes
using the cumulative voting method.

Appointment of External Auditor7.
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The appointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co. as the Company's External Auditor for the ensuing
year will be proposed for the consideration and approval of stockholders. A resolution on this
agenda item must be approved by a majority vote of the stockholders present and eligible to
vote.

8. Other matters

The Chairman will open the floor for comments and questions by the stockholders. such other
relevant matters or issued may also be considered by the stockholders.

9. Adjournment

For purposes of the meeting, only stockholders of record as of April 30, 2018 are entitled to
notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Registration starts at 1-:30p.m. For your convenience in registering your attendance, please
have available some form of identification, such as your driver's license, passport or community tax
certificate. For representatives of corporate stockholders, kindly bring a copy of the Board Resolution
authorizing you to vote the shares of the company you represent.

Should you be unable to attend the
favor of a representative. The giving of such
you decide to attend the Annual Meeting.

April24,201.8.

meeting in person, you may want to execute a proxy in
proxy will not affect your right to vote in person, should

Corporate Secretary
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SEC FORM 20.!S

INFORMATION STATEMENT PURSUANT TO SEe-B$h{?&: A}tD ExcHA}::E
OF THE SECURITTES REGULATTON CODE- -"''cbrrrrvil$sroN

1. Check the appropriate box:

[ ] Preliminary lnformation Statement
[x] Definitive lnformation Statement

2.

3.

Name of Registrant as specified in its charter AIAK

PHILIPPINES
Province, country or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization

SEC ldentification Number PW 427-A

BIR Tax ldentification Code 000-707-286

4lPhaland Makati Place. 7232 Avala Avenue corner Maluqav Street. Makati Citv
Address of principal office postal Code 12Og

Registrant's telephone number, including area code +6A2 gg7-2031 t +632 g1O-710O

Date, time and place of meeting of security holders

Date May 31, 2018
Time 2:00p.m.
Place The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place,

Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street,
Makati City

Approximate date on which the lnformation Statement is first to be sent or given to
security holders: May 9, 2018, or at least fifteen (15) business days prior to meeting
date.

Proxies will not be solicited.

Securities registered pursuant to Sections 8 and 12 of the Code or Sections 4 and 8 of
the RSA (information on number of shares and amount of debt is applicable only to
corporate reg istrants) :

Title of Each Class
Number of Shares

Outstanding
Amount of Liabilities

Outstanding as of December
31,2017 (in Php)

Common Shares 2,545,000,000 2,354,337

12. Are any or all of registrant's securities listed in a Stock Exchange?
Yesf, No

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.
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PARTI. _

A. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Annual Meeting of the Stockholders of Atok-Big Wedge Co., lnc. (hereinafter
referred to as "AB", the "corporation" or the "company) witt oe rreto on May 31 , 2o1g al
2:00p.m. at The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, izsz eyala Avenue Extension corner
Malugay Street, Makati City.

The complete mailing address of the registrant is the Alphaland Makati place, 2232
Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street, Makati City.

The approximate date on which the lnformation Statement is first to be sent or given to
security holders is May 9,2018 or at least fifteen (15) business days prior to meeting daie.

Item 2. Dissenters' Right of Appraisa!

There are no matters or proposed actions as specified in the attached Notice of Annual
Meeting that may give rise to a possible exercise by shareholders of their appraisal rights or
similar rights as provided in Title X of the Corporation Code of the philippines.

Pursuant to Sections 81 and 42 of lhe Corporation Code, shareholders of the Company
may exercise their right of appraisal in the following instances:

(i) any amendment of the articles of incorporation which has the effect of changing or
restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of share, or of authorizing prefererices
in any respect superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or oiextending or
shortening the term of corporate existence,(ii) sale, lease, exchange, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all of
the property or assets of the corporation;

(iii) incurring, creating or increasing bonded indebtedness;(iv) increase or decrease of capital stock;(v) merger or consolidation of the corporation with another corporation or other
corporations;

(vi) dissolution of the corporation;
(vii) declaration of stock dividends;
(viii) removal of directors;
(ix) extension or limitation of corporate term;(x) investment of corporate funds in another corporation or business or for any purpose

other than the primary purpose for which the corporation was organized;(xi) delegation to the board of directors of the power to amend or iepeal by-laws or adopt
new by-laws.

Each share of stock is entitled to one vote during stockholders' meetings. However, at
all elections of directors, every stockholder entitled to vote may vote such number of stocks for
as many persons as there are directors to be elected, or he may cumulate said shares and give
one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected multiplied by the number
of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same principle among as many
candidates as he shall see fit.

The election of directors may only be held at a meeting convened for that purpose at
which stockholders representing a majority of the outstanding capital stock are present in
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person or by proxy.. However, any vacancy in the board, other than by removal or expiration ofterm, may be filled by the majority of the remaining direciors if still constituting a quorum.

A shareholder who shall have voted against any proposed action may exercise hisappraisal right by making a written demand on the company within thirty (30) days after thedate of the shareholders meeting. Failure to make ttre oemano within ine prescrioed periodshall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right. lf the proposed corporate action isimplemented, the Cg.rp?lv shall pay the dissentirig stockholder upon surrender of the stockcertificates representing his shareholdings in the cJmpany based on the fair value thereof asof the day prior to the date of the shareholders meeting, excluding ,ny ,ppr"ciation ordepreciation in anticipation of such corporate actions, provid6d that no p"ayment shall be madeto the dissenting shareholder unless the company has unrestricted retaineo earnings to causesuch payment.

lf within a period of sixty (60) days from the date of the corporate action was approved
by the stockholdet:, t.!9 withdrawing stockholder and the Company cannot agree on the fairvalue of shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, one ofwhom shall be named by the shareholder, another oy irre Corpoiation and the third by the twothus chosen. The findings of the majority of the ,pprri."r shall be final and their award shall bepaid by the company within thirty (30) days after such award is made.

Item 3. lnterest of Certain Persons in or Opposition to Matters to be Acted Upon

No director or officer of the Corporation, or nominee for election as director of theCorporation, or any associate of any of the foregoing persons, has any substantial interest,
direct or indirect, by security holdings or othenvise,ln' any matter to be acted upon in the
stockholders' meeting, other than election to office.

No director has informed the Corporation, in writing or othenvise, that he intends to
oppose any action to be taken by the registrant at the Meeting.

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION

Item 4. Voting Securities and principal Holders Thereof

(a) All the outstanding 2,545,000,000 common shares of the Corporation as of record date
are entitled to vote at the rate of one (,1) vote per share.

(b) The record date for purposes of determining the stockholders entiiled to vote is April
30,2018.

(c) An item in the Agenda for the Annual Meeting is the election of directors for the ensuing
year. The Corporation's stockholders have cumulative voting rights in the election of
directors. Thus, a stockholder entitled to vote at the stockholdeis' meeting shall have
the right to vote, in person or by proxy, the number of shares registered in his name in
the stock and transfer book of the Corporation for as many persons as there are
directors to be elected, or he may cumulate said shares and give one nominee as many
votes as the number or directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares
shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same cumulaiive voting principle among
as many nominees as he shall see fit; provided that the total number of votes cast by J
stockholder shall not exceed the number of his shares multiplied by the number of
directors to be elected.
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Only registered stockholders of good standing as of April 30,2O1g are entrled to vote.

The following have been nominated to the Board of Directors for the ensuing year:

Roberto V. Ongpin
Eric O. Recto

Walter W. Brown
Anna Bettina Ongpin

MichaelAngelo patrick M. Asperin
Dennis O. Valdes

Mario A. Oreta
John Peter Chick B. Castelo

Cliburn Anthony A. Orbe
Paul Francis B. Juat

Margarito B. Teves _ lndependent Director
Gregorio Ma. Araneta lll _ lndependent Director

Lorenzo V. Tan - lndependent Director
Dennis A Uy - lndependent Director

The-following names have been nominated as members of the various committees ofthe Board of Directors for the ensuing year.

Executive Committee
Roberto V. Ongpin (Chairman)
Eric O. Recto
Anna Bettina Ongpin

Audit Committee
a. Margarito B. Teves (Chairman/lndependent Director)b. Eric O. Recto
c. Anna Bettina Ongpin

Nominations Committee
a. Margarito B. Teves (Chairman/lndependent Director)
b. Eric O. Recto
c. Roberto V. Ongpin

Compensation Comm ittee
a. Roberto V. Ongpin (Chairman)
b. Eric O. Recto
c. Anna Bettina Ongpin

The aforementioned nominees were nominated to the Nominations Committee by
shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to Section 38 of the Securities Regulation Code and Article lll, Section 2 of
the Corporation's By-Laws, the Corporation is required to elect at least two (2)
independent directors, or such independent directors constituting at least twenty
percent (20o/o) of the members of such board, whichever is less. Messrs. Margarito B.
Teves, Gregorio Ma. Araneta lll, Lorenzo V. Tan and Dennis A Uy were nominated by
Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin. The nominating shareholder is not related to any of the
nomineesfor independent director.

a.
b.

c.
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A majority of the above named nominees are expected to attend the scheduled Annual
Meeting.

(d ) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management

1' Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of More Than S%o as
of 31 March 2018

- All shares subscribed by Boerstar Coryoration, both fully paid-up ancl partialty paid. The totat fuily paid-up shares
amount to 584,241,964.
**North Kitanglad Agicultural Co., lnc. (NKAC|) has 200,000,000 shares lodged with pDTC and held by pCD
Nominee Corporation. ln all, NKACI owns 509,000,000 shares representing 20% of the total outstanding sh'ares of
the Company. Only the 200,000,000 shares are fully-paid shares.

Except as stated above, the Board of Directors and Management of the Company have
no knowledge of any person who, as at Record Date, was indirectly or direcily the
beneficial owner or more than 5% of the Company's outstanding shares of common stock
or who has voting power or investment power with respect to shares comprising more

(1)
TITLE

OF
CLASS

(2)
NAME AND

ADDRESS OF
RECORD

OWNER AND
RELATIONSHI

P WITH

(3)
NAME OF

BENEFICIAL
OWNER AND
RELATIONSHI

P WITH

(4)
CITIZENSHI

P

(5)
NUMBER OF

SHARES

(6)
PERCENT TO

TOTAL
OUTSTANDIN

G

Commo
n

Boerstar
Corporation*
6766 Ayala

Avenue corner
Paseo De

Roxas, Makati
City

(Stockholder)

Roberto V.
Ongpin -
Beneficial

Owner

Filipino 1,495,695,99
3

58 38%

Commo
n

Boerstar
Corporation*
6766 Ayala

Avenue corner
Paseo De

Roxas, Makati
City

(Stockholder)

Eric O. Recto -
Beneficial

Owner

Filipino 289,532,821 11.3goh

Commo
n

North Kitanglad
Agricultural

Co., lnc.
Kalugmanan

Manolo
Fortich,

Bukidnon
(Stockholder

Walter W.
Brown -

controlling
shareholder

Filipino 309,000,000. 12.14%

Commo
n

PCD Nominee
Corporation

(Stockholder)

North Kitanglad
Agricultural
Co., lnc. -
beneficial

owner

Filipino 200,000,000* 7 86%
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than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of common stock. As of 31 March 2018,there are no persons holding more than 5o/o of the company's common stocks that areunder a voting trust or similar agreement.
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2. Security Ownership of Management as of 31 March 2O1g

Mr. Roberto V Ongpin beneficially owns and controls Boerstar Corporation ("Boerstar"),
yhic! is the registered owner of approximately 69.75% of the Company. However, Mr.
Eric O. Recto is the beneficial owner of 289,532,821 common shares registered in the
name of Boerstar, corresponding to approximately 11.38% of the Company as indicated
above.

ln 2012, Boerstar Corporation sold a portion of its shareholdings in the Company to
other entities to enable the Company to comply with the minimum public float
requirement of the PSE. Upon approval of its Executive Committee of the Board of
Directors, the Company agreed to shoulder the transaction costs amounting to
P27,300,000 for the transfer of ownership of the shares of Boerstar Corporation to olher
parties.

To the extent known to the Corporation, there is no person holding more than five
percent (5%) of the Corporation's voting stock under a voting trust or similar agreement.

(e) Changes in Control

TITLE OF
CLASS

NAME OF
BENEFICIAL

OWNER

AMOUNT AND
NATURE

BENEFICIAL
OWNERSHIP

CITIZENSHIP PERCENT OF
CLASS

Common Roberto V. Ongpin 1 (direct)
1,485,685,983

(indirect)

Filipino Nit
58.38%

Common Eric O. Recto 1 (direct)
289,532,821

(indirect)

Filipino NiI
11.3BoA

Common Walter W. Brown 1 (direct)
509,000,000

(indirect)

Filipino Nit
20.00o/o

Common Dennis O. Valdes 1 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common Gregorio Ma.
Araneta lll

1,000 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common Mario A. Oreta 1 (direct) Filipino Nit
Common MichaelAngelo

Patrick M. Asperin
100 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common Margarito B.

Teves
100 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common John Peter Chick
B. Castelo

102 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common Cliburn Anthony A.
Orbe

100 (direct) Filipino Nit

Common Anna Bettina
Onqpin

100 (direct) Filipino Nit

TOTAL 2,284,219,904 89.760/o
Total lssued &

Outstanding
Shares

2,545,000,000 100%
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The Corporation is not aware of any change in control or arrangement that may result ina change in control of the Corporation during the period couered by this Statement.
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Name Age Position Period During Which the
lndividual has Serves as

Such
Roberto V. Ongpin 81 Chairman of the Board,

Chief Executive Officer
and Director

12 November 2009 to
Present

Eric O. Recto 54 Vice Chairman,
President and Director

10 December 2009 to
Present,

1 September 2016 to
Present

12 November 2009 to
Present;

Walter W. Brown 75 Director 10 December 2009 to
Present

Dennis O. Valdes 56 Director '12 November 2009 to
Present

Anna Bettina Ongpin 53 Director 16 August 2013 to Present
Michael Angelo Patrick M.

Asperin
59 Director 28 August 20141o Present

John Peter Chick B. Castelo 51 Director 28 August 20141o Present
Margarito B. Teves 74 lndependent Director 26 May 2011to Present

Gregorio Ma. Araneta lll 69 lndependent Director 28 August 2O14 to Present
Mario A. Oreta 70 Director 12 November 2009 to

Present
Cliburn Anthony A. Orbe 44 Corporate lnformation

Officer and
Compliance Officer,

Director and
Corporate Secretary

13 May 2013 to Present

May 1 3 2013 to Present
December 31 , 2013 to

Present
Josephine A. Manalo 75 Treasurer 11 August 2015 to present
Cristina B. Zapanta 53 Compliance Officer-

anti Money Laundering
Manual and Vice

President for Finance

31 May 2016 to Present

Jonamel G. lsrael-Orbe 45 Corporate lnformation
Officer; Deputy

Compliance Officer
and

Assistant Corporate
Secretary

As Assistant Corporate
Secretary, 28 August 2014,
As Corporate lnformation

Officer and Deputy
Compliance Officer, 13

December 20'13 to present

Item 5. Names of Directors and Executive Officers -
The names of the Directors and Executive Officers of the Corporation as of 31 December 2017,
and their respective ages, positions held and periods of service are as follows:

Following are information on the educational attainment, business experience for the last five
years and other directorships held in other companies credentials of each of the above-named
Directors and Officers, and present nominees for membership in the Board of Directors of the
Corporation:
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ROBERTO V. ONGPIN , Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Mr' Ongpin, Filipino, 81 years old, was elected Director and Chairman of the Board on 12November 2009. He is also the Chairman of Alphaland Corporation (ALpHA) and a former
Chairman of Philweb Corporation, a former Director of San ivtiguel CJrforation (SMC), pAL
Holdings, lnc. (PAL) and P_etron Corporation (PCoR) He ls also the Chairman of Alphatand
Balesin lsland Club, lnc. (ABlCl). ln Hong Kong, he was the Non-Executive Director of Shangri-
La Asia and the former Deputy Chairman of the South China Morning post, both listed in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He is also the former Non-Executive D'irector of Forum Energy
PLC (United Kingdom). Mr. Ongpin graduated cum laude in Business Administration from tie
Ateneo de Manila University, is a Certified Public Accountant and has an MBA from the
Harvard Business School.

ERIC O. RECTO, Vice-Chairman, president and Director

IVr. Recto, Filipino, 54 years old, was elected Director on 12 November 2009 and appotnted as
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors on 12 December 2009 and appointed Acting president
on 1 September 2016. He is also the Chairman and CEO of ISM Communications dorporation(lSM), Chairman and President of Bedfordbury Development Corporation, Chairman of
Philippine Bank of Communications (PBC), a Member of the Board of Supervisors of Acentic
GmbH, and a Director of Petron Corporation (PCOR). Mr. Recto has a degree in lndustrial
Engineering from the University of the Philippines as well as an MBA from the Johnson School,
Cornell University.

WALTER W" BROWN, Director

Dr' Brown, 75, Filipino, is also the Chairman of A Brown Company, lnc., palm Thermal
Consolidated Holdings Corporation, lnternational Cleanvironment 

'Systems, 
lnc., North

Kitanglad Agricultural Company, lnc., PhiGold and A Brown Energy & Resources Dev,t. lnc.,
President of Monte Oro Resources and Energy lnc., and PBJ Coiporation. He received two
undergraduate degrees. B,S. Physical Science (1959) and B.S. Geology (1960), bothfrom the
University of the Philippines, and post graduate degrees from Stinford University: M.S.
Economic Geology (1963), and Ph.D in Geology, and Major in Geochemistry (1965). H; was a
candidate in master of Business Economics (1980) from the University oiAsia & the pacific
(formerly Center for Research & Communications). He is currently the Chairman and Director
of Family Farm School (PPAI), Chairman and President of Studium Theologiae Foundation,
Vice Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Xavier University, and Member oi the Chamber of
Mines of the Philippines, lnc., and the Geological society of the philippines.

ANNA BETTINA ONGPIN, Director

Ms. Ongpin, Filipino, 53, was elected Director on 16 August 2013. She is also currenily a
Director, the Vice Chairman and President and Assistant to the Chairman of Alphalind
Corporation. Ms. Ongpin has more than 20 years of communications, marketing, project
management, and operations experience in the management consulting and media fields. She
holds a Bachelor's Degree in Political science from wellesley college.

MICHAEL ANGELO PATRICK M. ASPERtN, Director
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Mr. Asperin, Filipino, 59 years old, was elected Director on August 2g, 2014. He is also the
President and chief Executive officer of Alphaland Balesin lsland club, lnc. (ABlct) He is alsothe Chief operating Officer of Alphaland Corporation and handles various matters for theAlphaland Group of companies including the development of the Balesin lsland club project,
1: *-el as the operations of the aviation and securiiy divisions of the Crorp. He is also thechief-operating officer of Alphaland corporation. Pri& to loiring ALpHA, he served as seniorVice President for Security for Philweb corporation fwrgl rrori zoog to ior 2. He graduated
from the Philippine Military Academy in 1981

DENNIS O. VALDES, Director

Mr'.Valdes, Filipino, 56, was elected Director on 12 November 2oog. He is atso the president
and a Director of Philweb Corporation (since 2006), and a Director of Atphatand Corporation(since 2011). His previous work experience includes 1O years with the Inquirer Group ofCompanies, as a Director of the newspaper, and he was also in charge of expanding theirlnternet, printing, and ink-making operations. Prior to that, he spent" six years with TheNutraSweet Company developing its businesses in Asia. He is a Certified public Accountant,graduated magna cum laude in Business Administration and Accountancy from the Universityof lhe Philippines and has an MBA from the Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern
University.

MARIO A. ORETA, Director

Mr. Oreta, Filipino, 70 years old, was elected Director of the Company on 12 November 2009.
He is also the Chairman of The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. He graduated withhonors from the Ateneo De Manila University with a degree in Bachelor of Laws and
immediately joined the law firm of Siguion Reyni, Montecillo ind Ongsiako. He is one of the
managing partners of rhe Law Firm of ranjuatco oreta and partners.

JOHN PETER CHICK B. CASTELO, Director

IMr' Castelo, Filipino, 51, was elected Director on 28 August 2014. He is presenly the Senior
Vice President for Business Development of Araneta C-enter lnc. and sits in the board of its
various subsidiaries and affiliates. He had 27 years of experience in real estate and finance
industries. He earned his Masters in Business Adminrstration and Degree in Bachelor of
Science in Electrical Engineering from the University of the philippines in DIliman.

PAUL FRANGIS B. JUAT, Director

Mr. Juat, Filipino, 25, is a director of Brownfield Holdings Corporation, Norlh Kitanglad
Agricultural Company, lnc., PBJ Corporation, and Pacific Bougainville Holdings Corporat-ion.
He also currently serves as Assistant to the President of Apex Mining Co., lnc. He holds a
Bachelor's Degree in lndustrial Engineering from the University of the pliitippines, Ditiman.

MARGARITO B. TEVES, lndependent Director

Mr. Teves, Filipino, 74 years old, is also the Chairman of Think Tank, lnc., Member of the
Board of Advisers of Bank of Communications. He is also an lndependent Director of
Alphaland Corporation, Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc. and The City Club at Alphaland
Makati Place, lnc. He was formerly Secretary of the Deparlment of Finance, Landbank
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President and CEO, and a Member of the House of Representatives (representing the 3rd
District of Negros oriental). He obtained a Higher National biptor, (HNDj in eusinesJ Studies,
equivalent to a BSC in Business EconomicsJrom the City of London coitege and a Master ofArts (MA) in Development Economics from the Center for Development Elonomics, Williams
College, Massachusetts, USA. He was r,ecently conferred an Honorary Degree, Doctor of
!aws, by Williams College, and named Senior Adviser to the China-Asean Economic andCulture Research Center and Visiting Professor at the Guilin University of Electronic
Technology in China.

GREGORIO MA. ARANETA lll, tndependent Director

Mr. Araneta, lll, Filipino, 69 years old, is also a Director and the Chairman of philweb
Corporation, Alphaland Corporation, Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc. and The City Club atAlphaland Makati Place, lnc.. He is an independent director of Alphaland Coiporation,
Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc. and The City Club at AlphalanO Mat<aii place, tnc. He is theChairman and Chief Executive Officer of Araneta Properties, lnc. since 2010. He is president
and Chairman of ARAZA Resources Corporation and Carmel Development Corporation,
Chairman of Gregorio Araneta lnc., Gregorio Araneta Management Corporation, and Gamma
Properties, lnc" Mr. Araneta studied at the University of San Francisco and Ateneo de Manila
University where he earned his Bachelor of Arts Degiee in Economics.

LORENZO VILLANUEVA TAN, tndependent Director

Mr. Tan, Filipino, 56 years old, is a prominent banker who served as the president and Chief
Executive Officer of Rizal Commercial Banking Corporation from 2OOT to 2016; president of the
Bankers Association of the Philippines from 2013 to 2016; and chairman of the philippine
Dealing System Holdings Corp. until April 8, 2016. Mr. Tan is a member of the Board of
Directors of Smart Communications, lnc., an lndependent Director of philippine Realty and
Holdings Corporation (RLT) since July 1 3,2016; a Director of EEI Corporation iEEl; since June
16' 2017. Mr. Tan is a Certified Public Accountant in Pennsylvania, USA and in the philippines.
Mr. Tan graduated from De La Salle University, with a Bachelor of Science degiee in
Accounting and Commerce and holds a Master oi Management degree from the J.L."Kellog
Graduate school of Management in Evanston, Northwestein Universit!.

DENNIS A. UY, lndependent Director

Mr Uy, Filipino, 43 years old, is the Chairman and President of Udenna Corporation; Chief
Executive Officer and President of Phoenix Petroleum Philippines, lnc. (pNX) since 2002,
Comstech lntegration Alliance, lnc., Chelsea Shipping Corporation, Global Synergy Trade and
Distribution Corporation, Udenna Development Corporation, Value Leases inc., and Udenna
Foundation, lnc.; Chairman of 2GO Group, lnc. (2GO), Chelsea Logistics Holdings Corp.
(CLC)' Oilink Mindanao Distribution, Mindanao Media Dynamics, te Don printers and
Bohemian Promotions and Training Center, Phoenix Petroleum Holdings, lnc., F2 Logistics,
and Phoenix Philippines Foundation, lnc. He is also an Independent Diiector of Apex 

-Mining

lompany, lnc. (APX) and a Director of First Oriental Packaging, Seriorita Farms, Aquaminei
Philippines, Bulbscor Minerals Corporation and Blucor Minerals Corporation. Mr. Uy is the
Honorary Consul of Kazakhstan to the Philippines since November 2011. He holds a Bachelor
of Science Degree in Business Management at the De La Salle University in Manila.

CLIBURN ANTHONY A. ORBE, Director and Corporate lnformation Officer; Compliance
Officer; Corporate Secretary
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Mr' orbe, Filipino, 44, was elected Corporate lnformation officer on 13 December 2013 andelected Corporate Secretary on 31 May 2016. He is also Director (since May 2o14to present),
Corporate Secretary (since March 31-,2016 to present), and Corporate information officer(since May 26, 2014 to present) of WEB. He has a Baci-relor of Laws oegree from Mindanao
State University where he graduated cum laude and class valedictorian. 

-H. 
was formerly anassociate of Rodrigo Berenguer & Guno law firm. He is a member of the lntegrated Bar of thePhilippines.

JoNAMEL G' ISRAFI -ORBE, Corporate tnformation Officer; Deputy Comphance Officer;Assis/ance Corporate Secreta ry

Ms lsrael-orbe, Filipino, 45 years old, was appointed as Corporate lnformation officer andDeputy Compliance Officer on 13 December 2013 and appointed Assistant Corporate
Secretary on 28 August 2014. Ms. orbe is also Legal Counsel for Alphaland Southgate Tower,lnc' and Corporate lnformation Officer of Alphai-and Corporation.She is a member of the
Philippine Bar.

CRISTINA B. ZAPANTA, Vice President for Finance and Compliance Officer for Anti-Money
Laundering Manual
Ms Zapanta, Filipino, 54 years old, was appointed Vice President for Finance and Compliance
Officer for Anti-Mone/ launflering Manuaion 31 May 2016. She is also the Vice president for
Finance of Alphaland Corporation, Alphaland Balesin lsland Resort Corporation, Alphaland
Balesin lsland Club, lnc, and Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. and Senior Vice president for
Finance of Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc. Prior to joining the Company, she was the Finance
and Administration Head of Connectivity Unlimited Resouices Enterprise, lnc. (2006-200g) andAccounting Head of Belle Corporation (1997-2OoO). She has more than 30 years solid
experience in Finance, of which over half is in real estate industry. She is a Certified public
Accountant.

JOSEPHINE A. MANALO, Treasurer
Ms. Manalo, Filipino, 75 years old, was appointed Treasurer on 11 August 2015. She is also
connected with WEB as Executive Assistant to the Chairman. She is a-lso working in various
capacities for Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin's Group of Companies. She has a Bachelor oi Science in
Business Administration degree from st. Theresa's college, Manila.

For election during the Annual Meeting:

As regular Directors -
ROBERTO V. ONGPIN (incumbent)
ERIC O. RECTO (incumbent)
WALTER W. BROWN (incumbent)
ANNA BETTINA ONGPIN (incumbent)
MICHAEL ANGELO PATRTCK M. ASPERtN (incumbent)
DENNIS O. VALDES (incumbent)
JOHN PETER CHICK B. CASTELO (incumbent)
MARIO A. ORETA (incumbent)
CLIBURN ANTHONY A. ORBE (incumbent)
PAUL FRANCIS B. JUAT (new)

As lndependent Directors-

MARGARITO B. TEVES (incumbent)
GREGORIO MA. ARANETA til (incumbent)
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LORENZO V. TAN (new)
DENNIS A. UY (new)

The procedure and requirements under Rule 38 (Requirements on Nomination and Election of
lndependent Directors) of the Securities and Regulation Code, substantially incorporated in
Article ll of Section 4 (Nomination and Election of lndependent Directors) of ttre iompany;s
Amended By-Laws, which were approved on 16 July 2008, were followed in the nomination of
lndependent Directors and will be observed in the election of lndependent Directors.

Each of Messrs. Margarito B. Teves, Gregorio Ma. Araneta lll, Lorenzo V. Tan and Dennis A.Uy, if elected, would be an independent director who does not have a relationship with the
Company which would interfere with the exercise of his independent judgment in carrying out
the responsibilities of a director. Messrs. Teves, Araneta, Tan and Uy'arJnot related to a-ny of
the directors or officers of the Company.

Mr. Roberto V. ongpin nominated Messrs. Teves, Araneta, Tan and Uy as independent
directors of the Company for the ensuing year. The Nominations Committee has taken into
consideration the qualifications to be an independent director. Attached as Annexes ,,A,,, ,,B,,,
"C" and "D" are the Certificates on the qualification of the nominees for lndependeni
Directors.

ln approving the nominations for lndependent Directors, the Nomination committee took into
consideration the guidelines on the nomination of lndependent Directors prescribed in SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 16, Series of 2002. All the nominees for election to the Board of
Directors have at least one (1) share registered in their names.
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Term of Office

Under Article Il, Section 1 of the Corporation's Amended By-Laws, the directors chosen by the
stockholders of the Corporation entitled to vote at the annual meeting shall hold office for one
(1) year until their successors are elected and shall have qualified.

Directorships in Other Reporting Companies

Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin also serves as director and the Chairman of Alphaland Corporation and
Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc.

Mr. Eric O. Recto is also Chairman of the ISM Communications Corporation, as well as the
Vice Chairman of Philweb Corporation. He is also a Director of Petron borporation and e-Tech
Alliance Holdings, lnc.

Dr. Walter W. Brown is also a director of A Brown Company, lnc. (BRN) and a Director of
Philippine Realty & Holdings Corporation (RLT).

Ms. Anna Bettina Ongpin is a director and the Vice Chairman and president of Alphaland
Corporation and The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, lnc. She is also a director and the
Vice Chairman of Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc.

Mr" Michael Angelo Patrick M. Asperin is a director and Chief Operating Officer of Alphaland
Corporation. He is also a director and the Chief Executive Officer and iresident of Alphaland
Balesin lsland Club, Inc.

Mr' Margarito B. Teves is also an lndependent Director of Alphaland Corporation, philweb
Corporation, The City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, lnc., and Alphaland Balesin lsland Club,
lnc^

Mr. Gregorio Ma. Araneta lll is also an lndependent Director of Alphaland Corporation, The
City Club at Alphaland Makati Place, and Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc. He is also the
Chairman of Philweb Corporation (WEB)

Mr. Dennis O. Valdes, is the President of WEB and a director of Alphaland Corporation.

Mr. cliburn Anthony A. orbe is also a director of Alphaland corporation.

Mr. Lorenzo Villanueva Tan is a Director of EEI Corporation (EEl) and an lndependent Director
of Philippine Realty and Holdings Corporation (RLT).

Mr. Dennis A. Uy is
Philippines, lnc. (PNX),
Holdings Corp. (CLC).
(APX)

the chief Executive officer and President of phoenix petroreum
and the Chairman of 2GO Group, Inc. (2GO) and Chelsea Logistics
He is also an lndependent Director of Apex Mining Company, lnc.

Shares of lSM, wEB, PCOR, PBC, BRN, RLT, EEt, pNX, 2Go, CLC and ApX are ail tisted in
the Philippine Stock Exchange, lnc. Shares of The City Club at Alphaland Makati place, lnc.
and Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc. are covered by Registration Statements filed with the
SEC.
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Significant Employee

The Company considers its entire workforce as significant employees (including employees ofits subsidiary AB Stock Transfers Corporation). Everyone is expected to worli togetner as a
team to achieve the Company's goals.

Family Relationships

Ms. Anna Bettina Ongpin is a daughter of Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin. Messrs. Recto andValdes are nephews o.f Mr ongpin. Mr. Recto, Mr. Valdes and Ms.-ongpin are first cousins.
Atty' Cliburn Anthony A. Orbe and Atty. Jonamel G. lsrael-Orbe are mrrn-ed to each other. Mr.
Paul Francis B. Juat is the grandson of Mr. Walter W. Brown. Other than the foregoing, thepersons nominated or chosen by the Company to become directors or executive office6 are
not related to each other up to the forth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity.

!nvolvement in Certain Legal proceedings

1. Atty' Zenaida Ongkiko-Acorda, as attorney in fact of Atty. Mario E. Ongkiko and in behatf of
Philex Mining Corporation vs. Roberlo V. Ongpin, et at., SEC Case No. 11-166, Branch 15g,
Regional Trial Court of Pasig. This involves a purported "derivative suit" filed on behalf of
Philex against RVO and other companies beneficially owned by RVO in connection with
Section 23.2of the Securities Regulation Code and in oiderto recoverthe "short-swing profits,,,
yhich were allegedly realized from supposed transactions involving philex shares. A related
Petition for Review on Certiorari is also pending before the SupremiCourt in G.R. No. 204166,
entitled Roberto V. Ongpin, et al. vs. Acorda, et al.

2. People vs. Reynaldo G. David, et al., s.B.-13-cRM-0105 and s.B.-13-cRlM-0106,
Sandiganbayan (Third Division). This case was filed against RVO and others in connection with
two loans obtained by Deltaventure Resources, tnc. lOVnt;from DBp. The Informations in both
cases for violations of Section 3 (e) of R.A. No. 3019 were filed on 10 January 2013. ln a
Resolution promulgated on 28 May2014, the Third Division of the Sandiganbayan granted the
Accused's Motions to Quash and DISMISSED Criminal Case Nos. S.e.-f3-CRM--0.105 and
S'B'-13-CRIM-0106. A related Petition for Review on Certiorari is pending before the Supreme
Court in G.R. Nos. 217417 and 217914, entitled "People of the philipfiines v. Reynaido G.
David, et al."

3. ln the matter of. Roberlo V. Ongpin, Mario A. Oreta, Margarito B. Teves, et al., SEC-EIpD
Case No. 14-3039.This concerns the findings of the Enforcement and lnvestor protection
Department on the liability of respondents for violation of Section 26(3) of the Securities
Regulation Code (SRC) in connection with the issuance of shares of Alphaiand Corporation in
a capital call, stock rights offering and property for share swap which were approved and
ratified by respondents as officers and members of the Board of Alphaland Corporation. On
August 24, 2015, Respondents elevated the matter through notice of appeal to the SEC En
Banc, where the matter is presently pending resolution. The appeal is docketed as SEC En
BancCase No.08-15-384, entitled "RobertoV. Ongpin, MarioA. Oreta, Margarito B. Teves, et
al. vs. Enforcement and lnvestor protection Department,,.

4. ln the Matter of: Philex Mining Corporation, SEC-EIPD Case No. j4-3044. This concerns the
findings of the Enforcement and lnvestor Protection Department against Mr. Roberto V. Ongpin
for allegedly committing lnsider Trading when he purchased Philex shares at php1g.25 to 

-Chp

19.50 per share from the open market in the morning of 02 December 2009 without disclosrng
to the public that the group of Mr. Manuel V. Pangilinan had agreed to purchase the said
shares from him at P21.00 per share. RVO appealed the case to the SEC En Banc but the
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Iatter affirmed the findings of the EIPD. Mr. ongpin elevated the case to the Court of Appealsby way of a Petition for Review docketeo as cn-o.R. sp. No. 146704, entifled ,,Roberto 
V.ongpin v. Enforcement and lnvestor Protection Department". ln a Resolution dated september29,2016, the Court of Appeals issued a writ of Preliminary lnjunction 

"n;oining 
the enforcement

of the SEC En Banc's decision. The case is submitted for'resolution as of t+ iuty 2017.

other than the foregoing, the Corporation knows of no legal proceedings including withoutlimitation any (a) bankruptcy petition, (b) conviction by finaijudgment, (ci order, judgment ordecree, or (d) violation of a securities or commodities law, durin! ilre iasi five (5)'yeIrs up tothe date of the filing of this Statement, to which any of rts Directors and Executive Officers is aparty and which is material to an evaluation of their ability or integrity to act as such.

Neither have they been convicted by final judgment in any criminal proceeding or have been
subject to any order, judgment or decree.oi competent jurildiction, permanenfly or temporarily
enjoining, barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting thelr involvement in any type of business,
securities, commodities or banking activities, nor found in action by any court of administrative
bodies to have violated a securities or commodities law

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

significant transactions with related parties include the following:

a" ABSTC is billed by AMPI for the rent and utility expenses it incurs and allocates the same
to its sub-lessees. ABSTC has existing subleasing agreements with the parent Company
and other related parties.

b. The Company entered into a Cost Sharing Agreement with Phitweb Corporation (philweb),
a related party under common management with the Company, for its share in rental and
salaries of its key management personnel.

c. Noninterest-bearing advances to and from related parties which are due and demandable.

The following table summarizes the Group's transactions with related parties (entities with
common directors) forthe years ended December 31,2017 and 2016 and the related balances
as at December 31 ,2017 and 2016"

Amount of Transactions Outstanding Balance
ofTransaction 2OlT 2Ot6

Receivable from related parties
Entities under common management:

Alphaland Corporation (ALPHA)

Alphaland Heavy Equipment Corporation
The City Club at Alphaland Makati place,

Inc.
AlphalandBalesin Island Club, Inc.

Acentic Philippines Inc.
Alphaland Aviation Inc.
Alphaland Bagulo Mountain Log Home,

Allocated costs P-
Service fee 180,000

Allocated costs

Servrce fee 18O,OO0
Rermbursements

Service fee 180,000
Allocated costs 39,741

Reimbursements -

P- ?2,794,966
180,000 16,800

- 579,305

180,000 67,200
- 32,500

180,000 50,400_ 2,500
_ 796

P2,794,966
168,000
579,305

84,000
32,500

100,800
27,441

796

Inc. Sale of asset - 418,019 _ 418,019
Choice Insurance Brokerage, Inc. Allocated costs _ 629,581
Philweb Cambodia Ltd. Reimbursements - 190,450Philweb Service fee - 180,000 - 118,560

Payable to related pafties
Entities under common management:
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Nutrr. of trurre-.tion
Lease of offi..

Alphaland Southgate Tower, Inc. (ASTI)

Alphaland Makati Place, Inc. (AMpt)

ALPHA

Philweb

space
and utilities F11,605

Lease of office space

and utilities 266,524

Rermbursements -
Allocated rent,

salaries and shared
costs

P7,566,707 ?593t974 P582,369

117,387 262,392

- t87tL82 1B7,tB2

4,614,938

d' ln 2012, Boerstar Corporation sold a portion of its shareholdings in the Company to theother entities to. enable the company to comply with the minimuim public float requirementof the PSE. Upon approval of its Executive-Committee of the Board of Directors, thecompany agreed to shoulder the transaction costs amounting lo p27.3 million for the
transfer of ownership of the shares of Boerstar Corporation to oth]er parties.

Aside from the foregoing, there are no transactions (or series of similar transactions) during theIast two (2) years, with or involving the Company or its subsidiaries, in which 
'a 

dire-ctor,
executive officer, or stockholder owning ten perceht (Oo/o) or more of the total outstanding
shares, or any member of his/her immediate family, had or will have a direct or indirect material
interest.

Item 6. compensation of Directors and Executive officers

ln the years 2016 and 2017, the Company gave directors per diem in the total amount of
Phpao,000'00 each, net of withholding taxes.- The directors and officers did not receive anyother compensation flo* the Corporation in the form of bonus, warrants, options, orparticipation in any profit-sharing plan in the years 2016 and 2017.

Annual Compensation of the Five Most Highly-Paid Executives including the CEO:

(a)
(e)

(d)(c)(b)

1. Roberto V. Ongpin
Chairman/CEO

2. Eric O. Recto
Vice Chairman & President

3. Benedicto D.V. Tan
General Manager for ABSTC4. Merilyn G. De Guzman
OIC General Administration and Support

Aggregate Compensation of the Five
Most Highly-Paid Executives
including the CEO:

2015
2016
2017

3,952,000
3,945,552

975,000
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There are no material terms of, nor any other arrangements with regard to compensation as towhich directors are compensated, oireitly or indirectiy, for any services rendered as director.

There is no employment contract between the Corporation and a named executive officer.

There is no compensatory plan or arrangement between the corporation and any executiveofficer in case of resignation, retiremenl or any other termination of the executive officer,semployment with the Corporation, o.r from a'change in the ,"nrg"r"nt control of thecorporation, or a change in the named executive officJr's responsibilities following a change inthe management control.

Item 7. !ndependent pubtic Accountants

ITf"rorny's 
independent certified public accountant ("tcpA") for 2017 is Reyes Tacandong

The 2017 audit of the Company is in compliance with sRC Rule 68(3xbxlv) that provides thatthe external auditor should be rotated every five (5) years or earlier or the engagement partner
shall be changed. The engagement partner is Mr. Emmanuel v. clarino.

During Audit Committee and/or company meetings that would have an agenda that wouldaffect the financial statements of the Company, I r"presentative of the External Auditor isexpected to be present to discuss issues and be available to respond to appropriate questions.
The External Auditor is given the opportunity to make a statement if necessary pertaining to
1aliep that may affect the examination of the books of the Company. The Chairman of theAudit committee of the corporation is Mr. Margarito B. Teves.

T-he1e are no changes in or disagreement with the accountants on accounting and financial
disclosures.
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Item B. Financia! and Other lnformation

2017 Operational Results

ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLI DATED STATEM ENTS OF COM PREH ENSIVE I NCOM E

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

oTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)

Share in the net results of operations

of a n associate

Service fees

I nterest income

Others

(1-3,73s,2O9)

7,472,890

1,,057,02L

{'1,8,758,273)

1,479,480

2,784,483

30,7q.

5,O23,064

(6, s90)

{1.,733,462)

-26.780/o

-o.45%

-62.25%

-93.970/"

-22.500/"

IOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAX L62,094 209,955 (47,861) -22.80%

oTHER COMpREHENSTVE TNCOME (LOSS)

Item thot will be reclossified subsequently

to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation ofthe
financial statements of Tidemark

BASIC AND DILUTED IOSS PER SHARE

2017 operations resulted to a p1T .3 million total
million in 2016. The total difference of p30.9
following:

comprehensive loss compared to p13.6
million were brought about by the

1) + P10.9 million, decrease in the general and administrative mainly due to lower
salaries and wages consequent to manpower reduction, rent, representation
expenses, allocated mining exploration and communication costs during the current
year.

2) +P5 million; decrease in share on the income of operations of an associate
(Tidemark),

3) - P45 million; decrease on the foreign exchange differences of an associate
(Tidemark)

Item 9. Merger, Consolidations, Acquisition & Similar Matters

(A) Description of Business
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The company was incorporated and registered with the securities and Exchange commission
(the "SEC") on 4 September 1931. lts corporate lifewas extended on 25 September 19g1 for
another fifty (50) years to expire on 25 September 2031. The common shares of the Company
are listed in the Philippine stock Exchange (the ,,psE,,, ticker symbol. AB).

Since its incorporation, the Company engaged in mining as its primary purpose, producing gold
as its major product and silver as a by-product. lts production was af f iofO to the CentraiBlnk
of the Philippines at a price subsidized by the Philippine Government, and tater on at theprevailing world market price. Gold bullions are used'by the Philippine Government as one of
the components in the monetary reserve.

Although the Company changed its primary purpose in 1996 from mining to general
investment, it reverted to its original purpose of engaging in exploration and developrient of
mining, oil, gas, and other natural resources when it-amended its Articles of Incoiporation,
which was approved by the SEC on 24 May 2010.

The Company has two (2) wholly-owned subsidiaries, AB Stock and Transfers Corporation
(ABSTC) and Tidemark Hotdings Ltd.

ABSTC was incorporated on 24 June 2010, with the purpose of establishing, operating and
acting as a transfer agent and/or registrar of corporations.

On the other hand, Tidemark is a holding company registered and domiciled in Hongkong SAR,
which the Company bought on 3 October 2011. Tidemark used to own g,646,7-s7 oidin"ry
shares of Forum Energy plc, now Forum Energy Limited ("Forum"), a company registered and
domiciled in the United Kingdom representing, approxim ately 27.14oh of Forgm'slutstanding
capital. ln March 2017, Tidemark subscribed to 6,666,667 new shares of Forum, together withthe subscription simultaneously made by the other shareholder of Forum. This new
subscription resulted in Tidemark owning 2Oo/o of Forum. Tidemark expects the absolute value
of its 20% stake in Forum to exceed the value of its then 27 .14% stake. Forum is a gas & oil
exploration and production company with a portfolio of projects in the philippines. Among these
projects is the Service Contract (SC) 72 where Forum holds 70% equity. SCTZ is situated
offshore West of Palawan lsland and is host to the Sampaguita offshore gas/condensate
discovery. Drilling plans for SC72 have been placed on hold by the philippine government
pending the resolution of territorial sovereignty disputes involving claimani countries
surrounding West Philippine Sea.

The Company is a regular member and signatory of the Chamber of Mines. lt has adopted the
spirit and substance of the Chamber of Mines' Code of Conduct, which calls for susiainable
mineral resources development, environmental responsibility and a social commitment to the
general welfare and economic development of the people in the localities in which it operates.

Over the past seven decades, the Company has established a strong foundation in the
Philippine mining industry.

Pursuant to its goal of seeking out projects to put into operation, the Company made a
continued careful and diligent evaluation of multiple metallic and non-metallic prospects for
possible investment. While it looked into investment possibilities in Laos, it recently decrded to
re-focus its efforts in the Philippines with priority on projects in the advanced stage, but not
disregarding greenfield exploration prospects with potential. Discussions also continued for
mines with confirmed potential and previously operated but closed down during the period
with low metal prices. However, the Company has not made any publicly-announced new
products or services nor it or any of its security holders acquired securities of another person,
aside from the previously stated acquisition by Tidemark of additional shares of Forum. The
company has no plans of purchasing or selling any significant equipment.
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Government Approvals

The Company has 
.complied with government rules and regulations and has paid all thenecessary taxes and fees. lt regularly coordinates with the Department of Energy (DoE) andDENR with regard to new rules and regulations that may be promulgated.

Employees

As of end of 20.17, the Company has three (3) regular employees whle ABSTC, theCompany's subsid.iary,. has only one (1)regular erpioyuE, which employees are not subject tocollective Bargaining Agreement rhe company has no plans or aoJini Looitionat employeesfor the ensuing twelve (12) months. However, if the level of activitieJincrease parailel to amore supportive regulatory position on exploration and mining, the Company, is expected toincrease the number of its employees. The principal dutLs and resfonsibitities of the
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries are to conduct technical evaluation of potential
mining projects, maintain the validity and existence of the subsidiary's mining rights, conduct
exploration and development works, set and run a pilot gold procesiing plant, and secure allother properties of the subsidiary, including the plant, Jquipment, ,ec6rds, maps and other
valuable information at the mine site.

Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights, Licenses, Concessions and Royalty Agreements

The company does not own any registered patent, trademark or copyright. Neither is it a
recipient of any license or concession nor a party to any royalty agreement-

Effect of Existing or probable Governmental Regulations

The Philippine government is currently reviewing its policy on mining. Any such policy, when
adopted, may have a significant on the Company's future endeavorJinto mining activities.

Nonetheless, a combination of political, administrative and social issues slowed the pace of
mining permit processing in the Philippines. For this reason, none of the pending projects for
the Company progressed. A team sent by the Company evaluated a poientially mineralized
area in the Bicol region last September 2011. Surface indications combined withihe presence
of existing producing mines in the vicinity gave interest to this prospect. However, the existing
tenement application by the claim owner was rejected by the Department of Environment and
Natural Resources (DENR). Without a valid permit, a more thorough exploration program
cannot be implemented.

ln 2012, Forum encountered a delay in one of its drilling programs. lt has submitted all the
requirements for the issuance of required permits tor the Oritting program. However, thepermit has not yet been issued by the relevant Government oooy. The latest resource
assessment supported the case to proceed with the drilling and Forum has been granted an
extension up to August 2015 to complete its obligations under the service contract. Forum
expects to proceed with its commitment as soon as it is able to obtain the necessary
authorization from the Government. The Philippine Department of Energy has granted a
force majeure on Service Contract 72 [SC 72J because this contract arJi fatts witnin tfre
territorial disputed area of the West Philippine Sea, which is the subject of a United Nations
arbitration process between the Republic of the Philippines and the People's Republic of
China.

Research and Development Activities
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The Company does not allocate specific amounts or fixed percentages for research anddevelopment. The allocation for such activities may vary depending on the nature of theproject.

Total cost incurred, including exploration and development works, during calendar years 2013
to 2017 amounted to p5.2 million broken down as foilows:

Exploration Development percentage on
Period Revenue and Environmental Cost Revenue

CY 2013 - 165,459
CY 20L4 - 2,456,s58
cY 2015 - 1,593,983
CY 2016 - 976,42a
cY 20a7

o"/"
oo/o

oo/o

o"/"
ov"

Total S,Lg2,4Lg

The above-mentioned expenses were incurred pursuant to the mandatory requirement to
conduct annual assessment works, i.e. reconnaissance and semi-detailed exploration works
such as geological mapping, sampling, and assaying of samples, etc., to prove mineable ore
reserve, as provided under the Philippine Bill of 1902, Presidential Decree No. 463, the New
Mining Code, and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Compliance with Environmental Laws

The Company presently has no exploration and commercial operations. While an exploration
permit application for a mining tenement in Agusan del Norte was filed with the MGB in 2013,
no exploration permit has been granted to date. ln the event that the Company will be granted
the requisite permit to operate a mine or oil project, all necessary pollution control and
environmental protection measures will be set in place.

Risk Factors

The Company's profitability is dependent on the performance of its subsidiary ABSTC and
affiliate Forum.

Financial Risk Management

The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

. Credit Risk. Liquidity Risk. Market Risk

The Company's Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the risk management framework.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks
faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and Company's activities. All risks faced by the Company are
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incorporated in the annual operating budget. Mitigating strategies and procedures are alsodevised to address the results. The companyl thLugh iG training and management
standards and procedures, aims to develop- a disciplined and ionstructive control
environment in which all employees understand iheir roles and obligations.

The Company's Board of Directors reviews and institutes policies for managing each of the
risks.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk of loss the Company would incur if credit customers and
counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligafions. The Company's credit risk arisesprincipally from the Company's cash in banks and cash equivalents, traOe receivables and
refundable deposits.

Receivables which are neither past due nor impaired are of good quality. These are from
clients that pay on time or even before maturity date.

Liquiditv Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as
they fall due" The Company manages liquidity risk by forecasting projected cash flows and
maintaining a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility in operations. Treasury
controls and procedures are in place to ensure thai sufficient caih is maintained to cover
daily operational and working capital requirements. Management closely monitors the
Company's future and contingent obligations and sets up- required cash reserves as
necessary in accordance with internal requirements.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest
rates and other market prices will adversely affect the Company'J incom" oi the value of its
holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk minagement is to manage and
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while oftimizing the return.

The Company is subject to transaction and translation exposures resulting from currency
exchange fluctuations. The Company regularly monitors outstanding finaniial assets and
liabilities in foreign currencies and maintains them at a level responiive to the changes in
current exchange rates.

Capital Manaoement

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure its ability to
continue as a going concern and that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of debtto-equity ratio which is calculated as total
debt divided by total equity. Total debt comprises of accounts payable and accrued expenses,
other current liabilities and due to related parties. Total equity comprises all components of
equity.

(B) Description of Property

SEC Form l7-lS 26



Other than its shareholdings in ABSTC and in Forum (through Tidemark), the Company does
not own any other significant property.
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lnformation required by Part ll (A) of Annex ,,C,', as amended

A. Market lnformation

1. Principal Market - philippine Stock Exchange, tnc.

The Company's common shares are traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange. As of March 31,291.8' the closing price of the shares of the company iis', p12.7g. The high and low sale prices
of the sharesforeach quarterwithin the lastthree (3jyears and subsequent interim period are.

Quarter Ended Hiqh Low

03 . 31. 1B- 1"t euarter 18.34 18.30

72 .37 .7't * 4" euarter 15. 00 13 .52
09.30.17 - 3'o euarter: 16.00 15.00
06.30. lJ - 2''o euarter 74 .9a L3 .2A
03.31. tl- ttt eua.te. 11.38 10.00

12 .3r .16 - 4'" euar.ter 10.38 9.1A
c9. 30. 6 3" Quarter 10.98 9. 55
06.30.16 lt" el,urte. 11. B0 11.78
03.31.16 i"t quarter 72.18 1,2 .58

12.3r.15 - 4Lh euarter lI .18 11.78
09. 30. 15 - 3'o euarter 10.90 9.00
06. 30. 15 z gualter 11.40 11.04
03.31.15 1" euarter 10. B0 10. B0

(Data taken from the philippine Stock Exchange, lnc.)

B. Holders

Approximate Number of Shareholders of Each Class of Common Security as of
December 31,2017:

The company has 4,200 stockholders as of December 31 , 2017 .

The Top 20 Registered Stockholders of the Company as of December 31l, 20,17 are:

No. ofShares %

1. Boerstar Corporation 1,,715,2Lg,g04 69.75%
2. North Kitanglad AgriculturalCo., tnc. 309,000,000 12.1,4%

3. PCD Nominee Corporation: 212,257,7j1. g.34%

Filipino - 212,!23,996
Non-Filipino - 1,33,77 5

4. Strong Gain Enterprises Limited 120,0OO,OOO 4.12%
5. Progressive Development Corporation 9 3,963,474 3.69%
6. Power Merchant lnternational Limited 30,000,000 1..Ig%

Carroll, Charles F.,TEE Carroll Family Trust FBO

7. Charles F" Carroll 593,200 O.OZ%
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8,

9.

10.

1.1..

1.2.

13.

74.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

Braasch, Herbert

Baron, Rose A. & William J.

Araneta, Jorge L.

McLarney, Jane Mary & Timothy p. McLarney
Silbert, Solomon S. & Claire B. Silbert
Cohen, Sy R. & Barbara
Steiner, Norma

Coherco Sec., lnc. FAO 191513151200
Loo Ngo Kue

Pua, Luis

Cunningham, Edmund F. & pauline F.

Olasiman, Edilberto O.

Fores, Maria Lourdes A.

Roxas, Judy A.

Totalissued and outstanding shares -
2,545,000,000

84,884

Bt,1g7

73,535

70,975

56,567

43,L95

38,656

39,000

36,020

35,542

33,275

33,100

29,940

29,840

0.00%

0.00%

o.oo%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

o.oo%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

o.oo%

o.oo%

NOTE: NKACI has 200,000,000 shares lodged with PCD Nominee Corporation. tn all, NKACIowns 509,000,000 shares representing 20% of the t6td outstanding shares of the Company.

C. Dividends

The company has not declared any dividends during the last three (3) years.

The Company's Amen_ded By-Laws provides that its Board of Directors may declare dividends
only from surplus profits arising from the business of the Company, in alcoroance with thepreferences constituted in favor of preferred stock when and if such 

-preferred 
stock be issued

and outstanding. Restrictions under the corporation code of the philippines also limit theCompany's power to declare dividends.

lnformation Required by Part lll, paragraph (A) and (B) of ,,Annex c,,, as amended

Management's Discussion and Analysis

December 31,2017 vs December 11,2016

As of December 31,2017, the Company's consolidated assets amounted to P637 million as
compared to P654 million as of December 31,2016. On the other hand, the Company,s
liabilitiesasof December3l ,2017 increased toP2.4 million fromP2.1 millionasof December
31,2016.

C99h and cash equivalents totalling P41 million as of December 31 , 2017 , showed a decrease
of P105 million from P146 million as of December 31 ,2016 due to Tidemark's subscription to
6,666,667 shares of Forum in March 2O1T.

Receivables decreased from P5.7 million as of December 31,2016 to p4.5 million as of
December 31, 2017 mainly due to payments made by related parties and liquidations of
advances to officers and employees.
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lnvestment in associate showed an increase of P89 million from p4g0 million as of December31' 2016 to P579 million as of December 31,2017 due to Tidemark's new subscription of6,666,667 new shares of Forum in March 2017.

stockholders'Equity decreased from P652 million at the end of 2016 to p635 million as ofDecember 31,2017 primarily due to cumulative translation adjustment.
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Financial Condition - Consolidated

ATOK-B|G WEDGE CO., tNC. AND SUBStDtARtES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAT POSITION

December 31

2077 2016 Movements
ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receiva bles
40,764,90L

4,523,770
1.45,837,637

5,,672,078

1"530,772

(10s,072,830)

(1,148,368)

1,807,06s
Other current assets 337,237
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets

lnvestment in an associate

Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets

Property and equipment
Advances to mining rights holders

Other noncurrent assets

748

579,241,175

1,999,950

45,574

1,525,000

490,326,057

1,999,950

1,25,61"0

1,525,000

1,441,579

88,915,724

(80,036)

(7,447,57s)

87,393,509

159,039,881 (L04,474,t331

Total Noncurrent Assets s82,gtt,699 495,418,790 17,020,624)

637,437,447 6s4,458,071 17,020,624

LIABITITIES AND EqUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
lncome tax payable

2,47t,632 2,09s,070

1,8,1,1L

31,6,562

( 18,1 1 1)
Total Current Liabilities 2,47!,632 2,1,1,3,787 298,451
Equity

Capital stock

Deficit

1,060,000,000

{.529,797,202)

1,060,000,000

(s10,s88,802)

(19,208,400)

1,889,325

Other co ehensive income loss 704,823,O17 102.933 (17,379,07s
Total 535,025,915 652,344 (17,319,07s

637 437,447 654,458,077 (17,020,624

Results of Operation
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2017 Operational Resutts

2017 operations resulted to aP17.3 million total comprehensive loss compared to p13.6
million in 2016. The total difference of P30.9 million were brought about oy ine following:

1) + P10.9 million; decrease in the general and administrative mainly due to lower
salaries and wages consequent to manpower reduction, rent, representation
expenses, allocated mining exploration and communication costs during the current
year.

2)

3)

+P5 million; decrease in share on the income
(Tidemark),

of operations of an associate

- P45 million; decrease on the foreign exchange differences of an associate
(Tidemark)

ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREH ENSIVE I NCO ME

Years Ended December 31

2017 2016
GENERAT AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Share in the net results of operations

of a n associate

Service fees

lnterest income

Others

(13,735,209)

1,472,890

7,051.,021,

1,816

(18,7s8,273)

1.,479,480

2,784,483

30,74L

5,023,064

(6,s90)

(1,,733,462)

(28,32s)

-26.78a/o

-0.45%

-62.25%

-93.97v

2l 3,254,687 -22.50%

046,306) 108,321 42.55%

162,094 (47,86

oTHER COMpREHENSTVE TNCOME (LOSS)

Item thot will be reclossified subsequently

to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation ofthe
fina ncial statements of Tidemark 46,933,425 (4s,044, 100)

TOTAL COMPREHENS| Tt,soa,a+r (30,887,913) -227.64%

BASIC AND DILUTED TOSS PER SHARE (o.o201) (0.03s0) 42.43%

):SEC Form 1Z-lS
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201 6 Operational Results

2016 operations resulted to a P13.6 millionlotal comprehensive income compared toP0'5 million in 2015. The total difference of P13.0 miliion were brought about by thefollowing.

decrease in the general and administrative expenses
decrease in share on the income of operations of an associate

increase on the foreign exchange differences of an associate

4) + P3.2 million;
5) +P3.4mittion;

(Trdemark),
6) + P6.4 million;

(Tidemark)

ATOK Btc WEDGE CO., tNC. And Subsidiaries
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the vear increase (Decrease)
2016 2O1S Amount %

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 18,691,964) 21,927,639) 3,235,675 (14.76%

oTHER TNCOME ( EXPENSES )
lnterest income
Service fees
Share in the net results of operations

of an associate
Others

2,784.483
1,479,480

(18,758,273)
31 ,647

2,843,539
1,463,297

(22,208,2s2)
27,643

(59,056)

1 6.1 83

3,449.979

(2.08%)

1.11%
0.00%

(1s.53%)
14 48%4,004

(14,46 (17,873,7731 3,411,110 19.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISIONS FOR INCOME TAX

(33,154,627) (39,801,412) 6,646 785

9,733

(16.70%)

955) (219, 4.430k

NET LOSS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Item that will be reclassified subsequentty

to profit or loss -
Foreign exchange differences on translation

of the financial statements of Tidemark

40,021,100) 6,656,518 (16 63%

Limited 46,933,425 40,540,500 6,392,925 15.77%

TOTAL SIVE INCOME 13,s68,843 5'19,400 13,049,443 2512.41%

BASIC AND DILUTED PER SHARE (0.0131 (0.0157) 0 0026 16.630/o

SEC Form 'l 
7-lS 33



2015 Operational Results

2015 operations resulted to a P0.5 million.total comprehensive income compared to thetotal comprehensive loss of P16.6 ,ittio, in 201i. ir..lu'iotrr difference of p17,2millionwere brought about by the following:

1) 
i"';oi{*ion; 

decrease in the general and administrative expenses as compared
2) - P24'9 million; decrease in share on the income of operations of an associate(Tidemark) , P22'2 million share on loss in 2015 as compared to the p2.6 millionshare on the income for 2014
3) - P0.2 million; decrease on interest income in 2O1S4) + P38'6 million; increase on the foreign 

"*.rlrng" 
differences of an associate(Tidemark)

ATOK BIG WEDGE CO., tNC. And Subsidianes
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year rncrease (Decrease)
zots

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

-

21,927 ,639) 607, 3,680,244 (14.37%

oTHER TNCOME ( EXPENSES )
lnterest income
Service fees
Share in the net results of operations

of an associate
Others

2,843,539
1,463,297

(22,208,252)

27,643

3,0s5,442
1,438,880

2,647,051
88 012

(211,903)
24,417

(24 85s,303)

(6 e4%)
1.70%

0.00%
(938 e8%)

,369) 59%

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISIONS FOR INCOME TAX

(17,873,773) 7,229,395 (25,1 03,1 5g)

(39,801,412) (18,378,498) (21,422,914)

347.24%

116 57%

38 58%219,688 ( 1 58, 529 61 ,1 59)

021 ,1 00) (18,537,027)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Item that will be reclassified subsequentty

to profit or /oss -
Foreign exchange differences on translation

of the financial statements of Tidemark
Holdings Limited 1,905,745 38,634,755 anaa aoo/

rola!_eoMEEEEExs.lvE I NGQM E ( Loss 16,631,282) 17,150 682 103.12%

D LOSS PER SHARE (0.0157)
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Key Performance lndicators

.The company's and its majority owned subsidiariesindicators and their manner of computation are as foilows:
key performance

Manner of
Calculation

Current assets

divided by

current lia bilities

Dec 31, 2016 Dec 31, 2015
CU RR E NT/tIq UI DI TY RATI o

Current assets

Current liabilities

22.65:t

54,625,748

2,41,L,632

75.26:7

159,039,881

2,113,1.8L

L2.97:l

184,845,834

14,256,356

SOI.VENCY RATIO

Net loss after tax
less depreciation

and impairment losses

Total liabilities

The sum of

net loss after tax
less depreciation

and impairment losses

divided by

totalliabilities

(7.9s):1

( 19,208,400)

40,589

2,41_L,632

(1s.s8):1

(33,364, s82)

442,826

2,11_3,1.87

(2.75):1

(40,021,100)

856,500

1,4,256,356

DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO

Total liabilities

Total equity

Totalliabilities

divided by

total equity

0.004:1

2,477,632

635,025, 815

0.003: L

2,7L3,187

652,344,890

0,022:L

14,256,356

638,776,047

ASSETTO EQUITY RATIO

Total assets

Total equity

Total assets

divided by

total equity

1.00: 1

637,437 ,447

635,025,815

1,00:1

654,458,077

652,344,890

I.02:1

653,032,403

638,776,047

INTEREST RATE COVERAGE RATIO

lncome before interest and taxes

lnterest expense

lncome before taxes and interest
divided by

interest expense

(19,046,306) (33,ts4,627]t (39,807,412)

PROFITABILIW RATIO

Net loss after tax

Total equity

Net loss after tax

divided by

total equity

(0.03):1

(19,208,400)

635,025,81s

(0.0s): 1

(33,364, s82)

652,344,890

{0 06):1

(40,021,100)

638,776,047

currenuliquidity ratio - The ratio decreased from 75.26 lo 22.g7 due to Tidemark,s
subscription to 6,666,667 shares of Forum in March 2017.

Solvency ratio -The ratio moved from (15.58) to (7.95) due to lower net loss incurred as
compared with 2016, from (P33.4 million) down to (P1g,2 million), This is caused primarlly bythe decrease in share in the net results of operations of its associate, Tidemark and due tolower administrative expenses.

Debt-to-equity ratio - The ratio increased from .003 in 2016 to .004 in 2017 due to the
decreased activities on exploration works.

Asset-to'equity ratio - There is no significant movement for the Asset-to-equity ratio.
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Profitability ratio - rhe ratio moved,flT (0.05) to (0 03) due to lower net loss incurred fromP33'4 million down to P19'2 million. Th.is is rrrr.o pnrriir1, ov the decrease in share in the netresults of operations of its associate, Tidemark ,no ir" lo lowlr aominisiialir" .*p"nr.r.

plan of Operations

The company is hoping to get the gov^ernment approval for its application for ExplorationPermit over an area of 3,375 HLctaresln CADTIS+, Air.rn Del Norte. white in the process, itwill continue to conduct series of field inspection to Lnierstand the mineralization occurrence inpreparation for more detailed exploration activities. Concurrent to the field activities incADr134, exploration works continues.in Mt. oariga (587 Hectares), ueno ez (486 Hectares)and Aboloc (567.Hectares) areas also in ngr;r;'b"r Norte, all under Memoranda ofAgreement' "sweet" areas (HIGH GRADE areas"for cotJmineralization) wiinin vlt. Daraga andMendez have been identified for more detailed subsurface. plans'invoiving oil and gasexploration have been shelved in relation fo low oit prices and the uncertainty in supply anddemand situation. sc-72 (Recto Bank) is still t<epi on hold dependrg ;, the outcome ofPhilippine Government initiatives involving west rniiippine sea. The philippine Department of
lnergy has grante! a force majeure on service contract 72 tsc 721 because this contract areafalls within the territorial dispuied area of the west phitippine Sea, which is the subject of aUnited Nations arbitration process betw-een the Republii of the philippines and the people,s
Republicof China. FromNovember20l3to3l December 2olz,theminingexptorationcostof
the Company is Php S,1gZ,41g.OO.

The Company will continue to fund its operations in the next year or two dependlng on theactivities that will materialize using its cash and its money market investments.

The vision of the Company remains and that is to have a substantial involvement in theexploration and judicious_development of various natural resources that will contribute to theeconomic development of the Philippines. The Company's mission to be the leader in chosen
fields by creating value through change, utilizing the group's knowledge .rpltrt and adoptinj
leading technologies, to enhance shareholders' r/alue a'nd profit ttrrougligro*tp, in earnings aniin intrinsic worth' to be committed to a culture of excellence, loyalt! a-nd pride, and to be a
socially responsible and environmentally conscious corporate citizen, adhering to the highest
ethical standards and respecting the communities to which it belongs remains.

Curently,-the Company has no plans of increasing its number of employees during the next
twelve (12) months, however, if the level of activities increase parallel to a more supportive
regulatory position on exploration and mining, the Company, is expected to increase the
number of its employees.

C. OTHER MATTERS

Item '10. Action with Respect to Reports

The approval of the following will be considered and acted upon at the meeting:

1. Review and Approval of the Minutes of the Previous Meetlng held on 31 May 2016

The following took place during the meeting:

a. The minutes of the previous annual meeting of stockholders dated 11 August
2015 were unanimously approved.
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b. The stockholders approved the Management Repor:t and the Audited Financial
Statements of the Corporation as of 31 December 2015.

c' The stockholders approved and ratified all the acts and proceedings of theBoard of Directors, Executive Committee, and corporate officers from the
previous annual meeting on 1 1 August 2015.

d. The stockholders elected the members of the Board of Directors for a term of
one (1) year or until their successors have been elected and qualified.

e. The stockholders approved the re-appointment of Reyes Tacandong & Co., as
the external auditor of the Corporation for the year ending 31 Decemb er 2016.

2. Annual Report of Management and Approval of the Audited Financial
Statements

3' Ratification of Acts of the Board of Directors and Management since the Last
Annual Stockholders' Meeting

4. Election of Directors

5. Appointment of ExternalAuditor

There are no other items submitted for approval or consideration other than those
required in the ordinary course of business that requires approval or presentation to the
shareholders of the Company.

Item 11. Voting Procedures

The vote required for acts requiring stockholders approval is either a majority or two-thirds of
the outstanding capital stock. Since Boerstar Corporation owns 69.75o/o of the outstanding
shares of the Company, matters for decision, if any, will most probably be decided by the major
stockholder.

ln the election of directors, nominees with the greatest number of votes will be elected
directors. For the other proposals or matters submitted to a vote, a vote of the majority of the
shareholders present or represented by proxy at the meeting is necessary for approval of such
proposal.

Every stockholder is entitled to one vote.

The method of counting the votes of the shareholders shall be in accordance with the general
provisions of the Corporation Code of the Philippines. Method of voting shall be conducted by
show of hands unless a shareholder requires a poll to be made on any action. ln such case,
the method of counting votes shall be done by secret. Counting of votes shall be supervised
by the Corporate Secretary and/or Assistant Corporate Secretary.
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A COPY OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (AFS) WITH MANAGEMENTDlscussl0N & ANALYSIS (sEC FoIy 20 r-s) As oi orcrrr,rsr( si, zoiT ts ATTACHEDT0 THls lNFoRMATtoru sinrEMENT nnnb coprEs oF uNAUDTTED FS AND MD&AFOR THE APPLICABLE INTERIM PERIOD SHALL_ALSO BE MADE AVAILABLE TO$TOCKHALDERS UPON REQUESI.

UPON THE WRITTEN REQUEST OF A STOCKHOLDER, THE COMPANY WILL PROVIDE,WITHOUT CHARGE, A COPY OF THE COMPANY'S sEc.fORI'/t f z-A (ANNUAL REpORT)DULY FILED WITH THE SECURTTIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, THESTOCKHOLDER MAY BE CHARGED A REASONABLE COST FOR PHOTOCOPYING THEEXHIBITS.

ALL REQUESTS MAY BE SENT TO:

ATTY. CLIBURN ANTHONY A. ORBE
CORPORATE SECRETARY, ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO,, INC,

sTH FLOOR, THE CITY CLUB AT ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE
7232 AYALA AVENUE CORNER MALUGAY STREET

1209 MAKATI ClTY

After reasonable inquiry and to the best of my knowledge and belief, I certify that theinformation set forlh in this report is true, complete and correct. This report is signed in the cityof Makati on E-T-r ,,, ;,

ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC.
/ssuer

ONY A. ORBE
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A,

B.

ATOK-BrG WEDGE CO., rNc.

MANAGEMENT REPORT

for the
2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Pursuant to sRC Rule 20 (4) (A)

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 37, 2077

Please see the attached Audited Financial statements for the year ended December 3r,2017.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

There are no changes in and disagreements with the accountants on accounting and financial
d isclosures.

MANAGEMENTS ASCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PUN OF OPERATIONS

Atok-Big wedge co. rnc. (the "compdry"), formerly Atok-Big wedge Mining co., rnc., wasincorporated and registered with the securities and Exchange commission on se[temb er 4, 1.93L.
Its corporate life was extended on september 25,1g81 foi another fifty (50) years to expire onseptember 25,203L. rt is listed in the philippine stock Exchange (the ,,RSE;,).

1.

The company is hoping !o get the government approval for its application for Exploration
Permit over an area of 3,375 Heciares in CADii34, Agusan Del Norte. while in theprocess, it will continue to conduct series of field inspection to understand themineralization occ-urrence in preparation for more detailed exploration activities.Concurrent to the field activities in CADT134, exploration works continues in Mt. Daraga(587 Hectares), Mendez (486 Hectares) and Aboioc (507 Hectares) areas also in AgusanDel Norte, all under Memoranda of Agreement. "Sweet" areas within Mt. Daraga and
Mendez have been identified for more detailed subsurface. plans involving oil and gas
exploration have been shelved in relation to low oil prices and the ,n"",trintyin suppty and
demand situation. SC-72 (ReedBank) is still kepi on hold depending on ihe outcome of
Philippine Government initiatives Involving West Philippine Sea. rne eEitippine Department
of Energy has granted a force majeure on Service Contract 72 [SC'iZ1 bu"^use this
contract area falls within the territorial disputed area of the West pfritippine Sea, which is
the subject of a United Nations arbitration process between the Repubiil oitnu philippines
and the People's Republic of China.

The Company will continue to fund its operations in the next year or two depending on the
activities that will materialize using its cash and its money market investments.

The vision of the Company remains and that is to have a substantial involvement in the
exploration and judicious development of various natural resources that will contribute to
the economic development of the Philippines. The Company's mission to be the leader in

c.
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chosen fields by creating value through change, utilizing the group,s knowledge capitat andadopting leading technologies, to enh-ance shlreholderl'value and profit through growth inearnings and in intrinsic worth, to be committed to a culture of excellence, loyalty and pride,and to be a socially responsible and environmentarry -onscious 
corporri" 

"lll"n, adhering

::rt::,J,rhest 
ethical standards and respecting ihe cor*unities to which it betonss

currently, the company has no plans of increasing its number of employees during thenext twelve (12) months, however, if the level of-activities increase 'pr[rr"r to a moresuppotlive regulatory position.on exploration and mininj, the company, is expected toincrease the number of its employees.

2. Financial Condition-Consolidated

a' Analysis of Financial condition and Results of operations for the Last Three (3) years

2017 Operational Results compared with 2016

2017 operations resulted to a P17.3 million total comprehensive loss compared
to P13.6 million in 2016. The total difference of P30.9 million were brought
about by the following:

1) + P1O.89million; decrease in the general and administrative mainly due to
lower salaries and wages consequent to manpower reduction, rent,
representation expenses, allocated mining exploration and communication
costs during the current year.

2) +P5 million; decrease in share on the income of operations of an associate
(Tidemark),

3) -P45 million; decrease on the foreign exchange differences of an associate
(Tidemark)

The Company continues to evaluate investment opportunities and plans to acquire
other mining assets in Northern Mindanao. lt will likewise continue to scout for oil
and assets within the country and overseas to be included in its business folio.
While doing so, the company is planning to magnify its exploration activities in the
areas relative to the signed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) covering three
(3) areas of Agusan Del Norte. lt also plans to conduct semi-detailed to d-etailed
exploration work over the area within the CADT134, Agusan Del Norte where it
applied for an Exploration permit (Ep).

2016 Operational Results compared with 2015

2016 operations resulted to a P13.6 milliion total comprehensive income
compared to P0.5 million in2015 - The total difference of P13.0 million were
brought about by the following:

1) + P3.2 million; decrease in the general and administrative expenses
2) + P3.4 million; decrease in share on the income of operations of an

associate (Tidemark),
3) + P6.4 million; increase on the foreign exchange differences of an associate

(Tidemark)

2015 Operational Results compared with 2015
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20L5 operations resulted to a P0.5 million total comprehensive income compared to thetotal comprehensive loss of P16.6 millio n in 2ot4 - The total difference of p17.2 millionwere brought about by the following:

1) + P3.7 million;_decrease in the generar and administrative expenses ascompared to 2014,
2) - P24.9 miilion; decrease in share on the income of operations of anassociate (Tidemark), p22.2 mirion share ;il iln' zol5 as compared tothe p2.6 million share on the income ,for 20143) - P].z miilion; decrease on inteiest income in 20154) + P38.6 miilion; increase on the toreijn exclrrg.iiff.rences of anassociate (Tidemark)

ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
coNsoLtDATED Srerervl grv

Years Ended December 3t
20L7 2016 2015

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)

Share in the net results of operations
of an associate

lnterest income

Service fees

Others

(L3,735,2091 (18,758,273) (22,208,252)

L,O5l,02t

L,472,990

1,9L6

2,794,483

1.,479,480

30,L41_

2,943,539

1,463,297

27,643

7,836,8241 (19,690,458) 27,927,639)

LL,209,492'l (14,464,1_69) t7,973,773)
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX
INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current

(19,046,306) {33,154,627) 39,801,41,2

L62,094

162,094
209,955

209,955
21.9,688

219,688
NET INCOME (LOSSI

OTHER 

'Item that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation of
the financial statements of Tidemark Holdings
Limited

1,889,325 46,933,425 40,540,500

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE TNCOME 17,3L9,
BASTC AND DTLUTED EARNlNGS (LOSS)

PER SHARE

13,568,943 519,400
(0.0201) (o.03so) (0.0420)
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Key Performance lndicators

The Company and its subsidiaries
computation are as follows:

kuy performance indicators and their manner of

As of

CURRENT/[IqUIDIW RATIO

Current assets

Current liabilities

Current assets

divided by

current lia bilities

22.65:1

54,625,748

2,477,632

75.26:1.

159,039,881

2,773,781-

1.2.97 1.

184,845,834

I4,2s6,356

SOLVENCY RATIO

Net loss after tax
less depreciation

and impairment losses

Total liabilities

The sum of
net loss after tax

less depreciation

and impairment losses

divided by

total liabilities

(7.9s):1

(19,208,400)

40,589

2,41,1,632

(15.58):1

(33,364, s82)

442,826

2,11,3,181.

(2.75ll:1.

(40,021,100)

Bs6, s00

14,256,356

DEBTTO EqUITY RATIO

Total liabilities

Total equity

Total liabilities

divided by

total equity

0.004:1

2,4rr,632

635,025,815

0.003:1

2,1"L3,181

652,344,890

0.022 1,

1,4,256,356

638,776,O47

ASSETTO EQUIW RATIO

Total assets

Total equity

Total assets

divided by

total equity

1.00:1

637,437,447

635,025,815

1.00;1

654,458,071

6s2,344,890

1..02:1,

653,032,403

638,776,047

INTEREST RATE COVERAGE RATIO

lncome before interest and taxes

I nterest expense

lncome before taxes and interest

divided by

interest expense

(19,046,306) (33,1s4,627]} (39,801,412)

PROFITABILITY RATIO

Net loss after tax

Total equity

Net loss after tax

divided by

total equity

(0.03):1 (0.0s):1 (0.06):1

(19,208,400) (33,364,s82) (40,02i,100)

635,025,815 652,344,890 638,776,047

75.26 to 22.97 due to Tidemark,s
CurrenUliquidity ratio - The ratio decreased from
subscription to 6,666,067 shares of Forum in March 2017

Solvency ratio -The ratio moved from (15.58) to (7.95) due to lower net loss incurred ascomparedwith 2016, from (P33.4 million) down to (P19.2 million). This is caused primarily bythe decrease in share in the net results of operations of its associate, Tidemark and due tolower administrative expenses.

Debt-to-equity ratio - The ratio increased from .003 in 2016 to .004 in 2017 due to the
decreased activities on exploration works.

Asset-to-equity ratio - There is no significant movement for the Asset-to-equity ratio.
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Profitability ratio - The ratio moved from (0 05) to (0.03) due to tower net loss incurred fromP33'4 million down to P19.2 million. This is caused primariiy by the decrease in share in the netresults of operations of its associate, Tidemark and due to lower administrative expenses.

il.

ilt.

Events that will Trigger Direct or contingent Financial obligation that is Material to the
company, including any Defaurt or Accereration of an obrigation

There are no events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to
the Company.

Material off-Balance Sheet Transactions, Arrangements, obligations (lncluding contingent
obligations), and other Relationships of the Company with Unconsolidated Entities or other
Persons Created During the Reporting period

There are no material off-balance
relationships of the Company with
reporting period.

sheet transactions, arrangements, or obligations and other
unconsolidated entities or other persons created during the

The general purposes of the capital expenditures are to explore and locate additional gold ore
reserve of a better grade, conduct pilot test, secure all the Company's assets, and keep the
mineral rights in good standing.

The known trends, events or uncertainties that may have a material impact on sales are the
price of gold in the world market, the peso-dollarexchange rate, NGOs'anti-mining position and
changes in the Department of Environment and Natural Resources'rules and regulations at
midstream.

The significant elements of income or loss from continuing operations are the ounces of gold
produced and the cost to produce such gold.

causes for material changes from period to period of the financial statements covering the past
three (3) years, with horizontal and vertical analyses of such changes, are as follows:
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ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOIIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Other current assets

6.4%

0.7%

1.5%

22.3%

0s%
7.2%

26.5%

0.go/o

7.L%

(72.0%)

(20.2%)

24.0%

(ls.6%)

73.7%

6.4%

(7.4%)

79.6%

14.5%Total qurrent Assets 8.6% 24.3% 28.3%
Noncurrent Assets
lnvestment in an associate

Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets

Property and equipment

Advances to mining rights holders
Other noncurrent assets

90.9%

0.3o/o

0,0%

0.2%

0.0%

74.9%

0.3%

0.0%

0.2%

o.2%

70.8%

0.3%

0.2%

0.2%

L8.7%

0.0%

(63.7%)

0.0%

14.0%)

6.7%

0.ja/o

(8e.0%l

0.0%

5.7%

2%)

4.7%

0.0%

(42 4%)

0.0%

77.7%(100.
Total Noncurrent Assets 97.4% 75.7% 77.7% 77.5% s.B% 4.0%

LIABILITIES AND EQUIW
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 0.4% 0.3% lsj.% l9s.z%j

Equity

Capital stock

Deficit

Other

Total Equit

sive income (loss)

1663%

(83.r%)

76.4%

1.62.0%

(78.0%)

15.7%

1.62.3%

(73.1%l

8.6%

0.0%

7.0%

83.8%

2.1%

0.2%

0.0%

9.2%

262.2%

0.1%

o.9%

0.0%

3.8o/o

99.6% 99.7% 97,8% (2.7%)

700.oo/. 700.0%

VERTICAL ANALYSIS - The company showed a significant change in the composition of assets for cash
and cash equivalents and investment in an associate due to the purchase of the new shares of FEL,

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS _

cash and cash equivalents (-72.0%l - due to settlement of operations-related payables and otherliabilities

Property and equipment, net (-63J%l - d ue to depreciation of fixed assets a nd sale of tra nsportation
equipment.

Accounts payable and other current liabilities (lo.g%l- due to decreased activities and settlement of
accounts during the year.
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ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLI DATED STATEM ENTS OF Ft NANCIAL POSITION

December 31

2017 20L6 20L5
ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables

Other current assets

40,764,90L

4,523,710

145,837,63L

5,672,078

7,530,172

172,753,406

5,016,943

7,075,4959,337,237
Total Current Assets 54,625,749 159,039,991 184,945,934
Noncurrent Assets

lnvestment in an associate

Available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets

Property and equipment

Advances to mining rights holders

Other noncurrent assets

579,241,L75

1,ggg,g50

45,574

1,525,000

t25,610

L,525,000

1_,441,579

1,146,655

1,525,000

1,364,065

490,326,051 462,1-50,ggg

1,999,950 1,999,950

Total N oncu rrent Assets 582,811 495,478,190 468,186,559

637,437,447 654,459,071 653,032,403

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

lncome tax payable

2,41]-,632 2,095,070

18,11 1

L4,!63,217

93,139
Total Current Liabilities

Equity

Capital stock

Deficit

LL,632 2,713,L81 74,256,356

1,060,000,000 1,060,000,000 1,060,000,000

(529,797,202) (510,583,802) (477,224,200)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 7 102,933,692 56,000,267

44,8s0 638ii6,06?
637,437,447 654,458,071 653,032,423
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ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARTES
CONSOTIDATED STATEM ENTS OF COM PREH ENSIVE IN COM E

GENERAI AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

-

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)

Share in the net results of operations
of an associate

lnterest income

Service fees

Others

(1"3&2%) (427s.8%) (26.8%) (1,s.s%) (6.s%)
793%

(6.t%)

(8.s%)
20.5%

1,0.9%

0.2%

5475%

287.7%

5.3%

(62.3yo1

(0.4o/4

(94.0%)

(2.1%)

1.1,%

9.0%

1.7%

939.0%

68.6%

gEloRE tNcoME rAx
64.7% 1"06.6%) 1.

710.0%

1 EOl (1,9.1.% 347.2%
(42.6% (16. t16.6%INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current

NET INCOME
(0.e%) L.5% 42]% (22.8%) (4.4%l 38.6%NET INCOME (LOSS) \-../ot 16.0-/0

_,-," \LaJ.J,!t ttlw).)/o) 

-l4zAym
-.,,'^ .-oTHER COMpREHENSIVE rwCOrvrr lLoss;

Item that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation of
the financial statements of Tidemark Holdings
Limited

VERTICAL ANATYSIS -

General and administrative expenses (45,2%l -decreased significantly from last year due to lowersalaries and wages consequent to manpower reduction, rent, representation expenses,allocated mining exploration and communication costs during the current year. The verticalratio however turned positive because of the total comprehensive loss in 2ot7 ascompared to a totalcomprehensive income in 2016.

share in the net results of operations of an associate l7g.g%l- due to favorable results in the
operation of its associate, Tidemark, against _13g,2%in 2016.

lnterest income (-6,1%l-the P1.05 million interest income in2017 is lower that the p2.78 million
earned in201,6 due to lower cash equivalent balances

Gain from translating the financial statements of Tidema rk (-L0.9%l- the decrease was due to p1.g9
million foreign exchange differences of its subsidiary, Tidemark.

HORIZONTAL ANALYSIS -

(10.9%) 34s.s% 780s.3% (s6.0%l Ls.8% 2027.3%

and wages consequent to
mining exploration and

General and administrative expenses (-58.0%) - due to lower salaries
manpower reduction, rent, representation expenses, allocated
communication costs during the current year expenses.
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Share in the net results of operations of an associate (-26.8%l - due to favorable results in the

operation of its associate, Tidemark, (P13.74)million share in2017 against the (P18.76 million) in 2016,

lnterest income l-62.3%l - due to lower interest earned from money market placements.

Others l-94.0%l - other income earned in20t7 very minimal at P1.8 thousand as compared with
P30.1 thousand in 2016.

lncome tax expense - Current l-L2.5%l - the decrease was due to lower taxable income in 2017 as

compared with 20L6.

Gain from translating the financial statements of Tidemark (-96.0%) - the decrease was d ue to the

P1.9 million foreign exchange differences of its subsidiary, Tidemark.

ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CO NSO LI DATED STATEM ENTS O F CO M PREH ENSIVE I NCO M E

2017

Years Ended December 31

20L6 2015

GENERAL AND ADMI NISTRATIVE EXPENSES 7,848,325

(13,73s,208)

1,05L,022

1",472,890

1,816

18,690,458

(18,758,273],

2,784,483

1.,479,480

30,l-41

21,927,639

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)

Share in the net results of operations

of a n associate

lnterest income

Service fees

Others

{22,208,2521

2,843,539

1,463,297

21,643

1 (t7,873,773l.

tNcoME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAX

INCOME TN( EXPENSE

19,057,805) (39,801,41

Current 209,955 219,688

NET INCOME

oTHER CoMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Item that will be reclassifled subsequently

to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation ofthe

(L9,24L (33,364,s82

46,933,475

021,100

financial statements of Tidemark

TOTAL COMPREH ENSIVE I NCOME 13,568,843

BASICAND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE (0.o3so)

External Audit Fees

a. Audit and Audit Related Fees

The Company's External Auditor for 2077 and 2016 is Reyes Tacandong & Co'
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The aggregate ExternalAudit Fees (MC No. 14, series of 2oo4) in connection with the audit
of the annual financial statements and services for the last three (3) years were as follows:

Year

2015

2076
2017

Amount

200,000

200,000
200,000

The above-mentioned audit fees are inclusive of: (a) other assurance and related services
by the External Auditor that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit; and (b)
review of the Company's financial statements, exclusive of tax consultancy fees and/or
representation for legal matters,

The Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning the
external auditors and pre-approves audit plans, scope, and frequency before the conduct of
the external audit.

The Company's Auditors conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the Philippines with the objective of expressing an opinion as to
whether the presentation of the financial statements, taken as a whole, conforms to
accounting principles generally accepted in the Philippines. They performed tests of the
accounting records and such other procedures, as they considered necessary in the
circumstances to provide a reasonable basis for an opinion on the financial
statements. They also assessed the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management and evaluated overall financial statements presentation.

The auditors also considered the Company's internal controls in order to determine the
nature, timing and extent of their audit procedures for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the financial statements. The auditors did not bill separately for this scope of
work.

There were no services provided by the external auditors other than the services reported
in the foregoing.

b. Tax Fees

There are no fees billed in each of the last three (3)years for professionalservices rendered
by the External Auditor for tax accounting, compliance, advice, planning, and any other
form of tax services.

c. All Other Fees

There are no fees billed in each of the last three (3) years for services provided by the
ExternalAuditor, other than the services under items (a) and (b) above.

d. Audit Committee's Approval of Policies and procedures

Ihe 2OL7 audit of the Company is in compliance with SRC Rule 6B(3)(b)(lV) that provides
that the External Auditor be rotated every five (5) years or earlier or the engagement
partner should be changed. The engagement partner is Mr. Emmanuel V. Clarino.
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During Audit Committee and/or Company meetings that would have an agenda that would
affect the financial statements of the Company, a representative of the External Auditor is
expected to be present to discuss issues and be available to respond to appropriate
questions. The ExternalAuditor is given the opportunity to make a statement if necessary
pertinent to matters that may affect the examination of the books of the Company,

Financial Risk Management

The Group and its subsidiary and affiliate have exposure to the following risks from its use of
financial instruments:

Credit Risk

Liquidity Risk

Market Risk

The Company's Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the risk management framework.

The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
bythe Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence
to limits, Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in
market conditions and Company's activities. All risks faced by the Company are incorporated in
the annual operating budget. Mitigating strategies and procedures are also devised to address
the results. The Company, through its training and management standards and procedures,
aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees
understand their roles and obligations.

The Company's Board of Directors reviews and institutes policies for managing each of the
risks.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk of loss the Group would incur if credit customers and
counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligations, The Group's credit risk arises
principally from the Group's cash in banks and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
refundable deposits.

Receivables which are neither past due nor impaired are of good quality. These are from clients
that pay on time or even before maturity date,

Liquiditv Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financialobligations as they
fall due. The Group manages liquidity risk by forecasting projected cash flows and maintaining a

balance between continuity of funding and flexibility in operations. Treasury controls and
procedures are in place to ensure that sufficient cash is maintained to cover daily operational
and working capital requirements. Management closely monitors the Group's future and

contingent obligations and sets up required cash reserves as necessary in accordance with
internal requirements.
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Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest

rates and other market prices will adversely affect the Group's income or the value of its

holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and

control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return,

The company is subject to transaction and translation exposures resulting from currency

exchange fluctuations. The Group regularly monitors outstanding financial assets and liabilities

in foreign currencies and maintains them at a level responsive to the current exchange rates,

Capital Manasement

The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure its ability as a going

concern and that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business'

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio which is calculated as

total debt divided by total equity. Total debt is equivalent to accounts payable and accrued

expenses, other current liabilities and due to related parties. Total equity comprises all

components of equitY.

D" GENERAL NATURE AND SCOPE OF BUSINESS

Atok-Big Wedge Co. lnc. (the "Company"), formerly Atok-Big Wedge Mining Co', lnc', was

incorporated ind registered with the Securities and Exchange Commissio-n (the "SEC") on 4

September 1g31. lti corporate tife was extended on 25 September 1981 for anotherfifty (50)

years to expire on 25 September 2031. The common shares of the company are listed in the

i,lritippine Stock Exchange (the "PSE"; ticker symbol: AB)'

Since its incorporation, the Company engaged in mining as its primary purpose, producing gold

as its major pioduct and silver as a 
-oy-p-roouct. 

lts production was all sold to the Central Bank

of the plrllippines at a price subsidized by the Philippine Government, and later on at the

prevailing world ,rit"t price. Gold bullioni are used by the Philippine Government as one of

the components in the monetary reserve'

Although the company changed its primary purpose in 1996 from mining to general

investment, it revefied to its original pripot. of bngaging In exploration and development of

mining, oil, gas, and other natural resources when it amended its Articles of lncorporation,

which was approved by the SEC on 24 May 2010'

The Company has two (2) wholly-owned subsidiaries, ABStock and Transfers Corporation

(ABSTC) and Tidemark Holdings Ltd'

ABSTC was incorporated on 24 June 2010, with the purpose of establishing, operating and

acting as a transfer agent and/or registrar of corporations.

on the other hand, Tidemark is a company registered and domiciled in Hongkong SAR' which

the Company bought on 3 Octob er 2011 . TidJmark used to own 9,646,757 ordinary shares of

Forum Energy plc, now Forum Energy Limited ("Forum"), a company registered and domiciled

in the United Kingdom representing, approxim alely 27.14% ol Forum's outstanding capital' ln

March 2017, Tidemark subscribed to 
'6,666,667 

new shares of Forum' together with the

subscription simurtaneousry made by the other sharehorder of Forum. This new subscription
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resulted in Tidemark owning 200/o of Forum. Tidemark expects the absolute value of its 20%stake in Forum to exceed the value of its then 27.140/o stake. Forum ir u gu, & oil exploration
and production company with a portfolio of projects in the philippines il;;g these projects isthe Service Contract (SC) 72 where Forum holds 70% equity. sc72 is situated offshore westof Palawan lsland and is host to the Sampaguita offshoie gaslconoensate di*.or.ry. Drillingplans for sc72 have been placed on hold'ovine enilippine government pending the resolutionof territorial sovereignty disputes involving claimant rolntri"r surrounding west philippine Sea.

The company is a regular member and signatory of the Chamber of Mines. lt has adopted thespirit and substance of the Chamber of Mines' Code of Conduct, which calls for sustainablemineral resources development, environmental responsibility and a social commitment to thegeneral welfare and economic development of the people in ihe localities in which it operates.

over the past seven decades, the Company has established a strong foundation in thePhilippine mining industry.

Pursuant to its goal of..seeking out projects to put into operation, the Company made a
continued careful and diligent evaluation-of multiple metallic and non-metallic'proipects forpossible investment' While it looked into investment possibilities in Laos, it recengy decided tore-focus its efforts 

11 ftre Philippines with priority on projects in the advanced stige, but not
disregarding greenfield exploration prospects with potential. Discussions also continued for
mines with confirmed potential and previously operated but closed down during the period with
low metal prices. However, the Company has not made any publicly-rnnorn.ed new products
or services nor it or any of its security holders acquired securiiies of 

'another 
person, aside from

the previously stated acquisition by Tidemark of additional shares of Forum, The Company has
no plans of purchasing or selling any significant equipment.

1. Business lndicators

The Company is exploring the possibility of entering into a business venture with local and
foreign entities. lt will abide by the principle of sustainable and socially acceptable mineral
resources development.

The viability of expanding the current pilot plant operation and sustaining it at an economically
viable scale depends on the price of gold in the world market, the peso-dollar exchange rate,
the efficiency of mining and milling operations, and the grade of ore. The higher the grade of
ore in grams gold per ton of ore, the higher the profit margin will be.

Participation in Bankruptcv. Receivership or similar proceedinss

There is no bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings involving the Company.

Competition

The Company is currently not operating a mine or oil project.

Customers

The Company and its subsidiaries are not dependent on any single customer or on a few
customers.

5. Patents. Franchise/GovernmentApprovals

2.

3.

4.

51SEC Form l7-lS



The Company does not own any registered patent, trademark or copyright. Neither is it a

recipient of any license or concession nor a party to any royalty agreement. The Company has
complied with government rules and regulations and has paid all the necessary taxes and fees.
It regularly coordinates with the Department of Energy (DOE) and DENR with regard to new
rules and regulations that may be promulgated.

5. Effect of Existins or Probable Governmental Reeulations

The Philippine government is currently reviewing its policy on mining. Any such policy, when
adopted, may have a significant on the Company's future endeavors into mining activities.

Nonetheless, a combination of political, administrative and social issues slowed the pace of
mining permit processing in the Philippines. For this reason, none of the pending projects for
the Company progressed. A team sent by the Company evaluated a potentially mineralized

area in the Bicol region last September 2011. Surface indications combined with the presence

of existing producing mines in the vicinity gave interest to this prospect. However, the existing

tenement application by the claim owner was rejected by the DENR. Without a valid permit, a

more thorough exploration program cannot be implemented,

ln 2O!2, FEP encountered a delay in one of its drilling programs. lt has submitted all the
requirements for the issuance of required permits for the drilling program. However, the
permit has not yet been issued by the relevant Government body. The latest resource

assessment supported the case to proceed with the drilling and FEP has been granted an

extension up to August 201.5 to complete its obligations under the service contract. FEP

expects to proceed with its commitment as soon as it is able to obtain the necessary

authorization from the Government.

7. Research and Development Activities

The Company does not allocate specific amounts or fixed percentages for research and

development. The allocation for such activities may vary depending on the nature of the

project.

Total cost incurred, including exploration and development works, during calendar
years 2013 to 2017 amounted to P5.2 million broken down as follows:

Exploration Development Percentage on
Period Revenue and Environmental Cost Revenue
cY 2013 - 165,450 0%

cY 20l-4 - 2,456,558 0%

cY 2015 - 1,593,983 0%

cY 2016 - 976,42a o%

cY 2oL7 o%

Total 5,a92,47"9

The above-mentioned expenses were incurred pursuant to the mandatory requirement to

conduct annual assessment works, i.e. reconnaissance and semi-detailed exploration works

such as geological mapping, sampling, opening up of assessment tunnels, ore reserve

development and assaying of samples, etc., to prove mineable ore reserve, as provided under

the Philippine Bill of 1902, Presidential Decree No.463, the New Mining Code, and applicable

laws, rules and regulations.
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The Company is currently not operating a mine or oil project. ln the event that it does, allnecessary pollution control and environmental protection measures will be set in place,

Emplovees

As of end of 2oL7, the company has three (3) regular employees while ABSTC, the Company,s
subsidiary, has only one (1) regular employee, which employees are not subject to collectiveBargaining Agreement. The company has no plans of adding additional employees for theensuing twelve (12) months, However, if the level of activities increase parallel to a moresupportive regulatory position on exploration and mining, the company, is expected to increasethe number of its employees. The principal duties and [sponsibilities of the employees of thecompany and its subsidiaries are to conduct technical evaluation of potential mining projects,
maintain the validity and existence of the subsidiary's mining rights, conduct exploration and
development works, set and run a pilot gold processing plant,-and secure all other properties of
the subsidiary, including the plant, equipment, records, maps and other valuable information atthe mine site.

Risk Factors

The Company',s profitability is dependent on the performance of its subsidiary ABSTC and
affiliate Forum.

11. Properties

otherthan its shareholdings in ABSTC and in Forum (through Tidemark), the company does not
own any other significant property.

12. Lesal proceedines

The Company is not involved in any legal proceeding.

E, MARKET PRICE OF AND DIVIDENDS ON THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY

1. Market Price of Shares

The Company's common shares are traded in the Philippine Stock Exchange, As of March 31,
2018, the closing price of the shares of the Company is pl-2.78. The high and low sale prices of
the shares for each quarter within the last three (3) years and during the interim period are:

Quarter Ended Hiqh Low

03.31. 1B- 1"t euarter 18.34 1B.30

72.3L.11 - AEn euarter 15.00 1i q?

09.30.17 - 3'd euarter 16.00 15.00
06.30.L'l - 2"d Quarter 14.9A 13 .24
03. 31 t'7 - 1"t Quarter 11.38 r0.00

L2.31.16 - 4th euarter 10.38 9.70

9.

10.
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09. 30. 16 - 3'" Quarter 10. 98 9. 6s
06.30.16 - 2"d Quarter 11. B0 11.78
03.31.16 - 1't Quarter 72 .'t B 1' (O

12,3L.l-5 - 4'n Quarter tt."tB 11.78
09.30. 15 - 3'o Ouarter 10. 90 9. 00
06. 30.15 - 2^" Quarter 11 40 11.04
03.31.15 - 1"' Quarter 10. B0 10. B0

(Data taken from the Philippine Stock Exchange, lnc.)

2. Holders

a. Approximate Number of Shareholders of Each Class of Common Security as of
December 3t,20t72

The Company has 4,200 stockholders as of December 31.,2017 .

b. The Top 20 Registered Stockholders of the Corporation as of December 3L,20L7 aret

No. ofShares %

1,

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

Boerstar Corporation

North Kitanglad Agricultural Co., lnc,

PCD Nominee Corporation:

Filipino - 212,L23,996

Non-Filipino - 133,775

Strong Gain Enterprises Limited

Progressive Development Corporation

Power Merchant lnternational Limited

Carroll, Charles F.,TEE Carroll Family Trust FBO

Charles F. Carroll

Braasch, Herbert

Baron, Rose A. & William J,

Araneta, Jorge L.

McLarney, Jane Mary & Timothy P, McLarney

Silbert, Solomon S. & Claire B. Silbert

Cohen, Sy R. & Barbara

Steiner, Norma

Coherco Sec., Inc, FAO 181513151200

Loo Ngo Kue

Pua, Luis

Cunningham, Edmund F. & Pauline F.

Olasiman, Edilberto O.

Fores, Maria Lourdes A.

Roxas, Judy A.

1,775,21,8,804

309,000,000

212,257,771

69.75%

12.14%

8.34%

7.

8.

9,

10.

11,.

12.

13,

L4,

15.

16.

17.

LB.

19,

20.

120,000,000

93,963,474

30,000,000

593,200

84,884

8L,r97

73,535

70,875

56,567

43,195

38,656

38,000

36,020

35,542

33,275

33,100

29,840

29,840

4.72%

3.69%

L.1B%

0.02%

o.o0%

0.00%

o.oo%

0.00%

o.oo%

0.00%

o.oo%

0.00%

0.00%

o"oo%

0.00%

0,00%

0.00%

o.o0%
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Total issued and outstanding shares -

2,545,000,000

NOTE: NKACI has 200,000,000 shares todged with PCD Nominee Corporation. tn att, NKACT)wns 509,000,0a0 shares representing 20% of the t;tat outstandingshares of tne Co,ipany.

3. Dividends

The Company has not declared any dividends during the last three (3) years.

The Company's Amended By-Laws provide that its Board of Directors may declare
dividends only from surplus profits arising from the business of the Company, in
accordance with the preferences constituted in favor of preferred stock when and if such
preferred stock be issued and outstanding. Restrictions underthe Corporation Code of the
Philippines also limit the company's power to declare dividends.

Constitutins an Exempt Transaction

There were no unregistered or exempt securities sold by the Company, and there were no
issuances of securities made by the Company constituting an exempt transaction.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company has adopted the Securities and Exchange Commission's Corporate Governance
Self-Rating Form (SEC CG-SRF) as its system of evaluation for compliance with the Company,s
Manual on Corporate Governance.

To fully comply with the adopted leading practices on good corporate governance, the
following measrJres, among others, are being undertaken by the Company:

7. Holding a seminar on good corporate governance for Directors and Officers;
2. Adoption and implementation of a Code of Conduct for Directors, Officers and

Employees;

3 Development, adoption and accomplishment of Full Business lnterest Disclosure Form
for all Directors and Officers;

4. Regularly holding, on a quarterly basis at the very least, Regular and Special Board
Meetings;

5. Regular meetings of Board Committees, i.e. Nomination, Audit, and Compensation and
Remuneration Committees;

6. Preparation and implementation of Audit Plans and programs;

7. Adoption and implementation of Vision and Mission Statements and Corporate
Strategy Financial and Operation Plans;

8. ldentification and management of key performance risk areas;
9. Adoption and implementation of Guidelines on Capital Expenditures; and
10. Duly minuted proceedings of all Regular and Special Board Meetings and Board

Committee Meetings.

There were no deviations from the company's Manual of Corporate Governance.

4.
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The Company plans to hold more seminars on the different aspects of good corporate
governance, such as risk management, to improve its corporate governance.
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REPUBLIC OF THE PHILIPPINES
MAKATI CITY

)

) S,S.

SECRETARY'S CERTIFICATE

l, Cliburn Anthony A. Orbe, of legal age, Filipino, and with office address at 5th Floor,
Alphaland Makati Place, 7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street, Makati City, after being
duly sworn in accordance with law, hereby certify that:

1,. I am the corporate secretary of AToK-B|G WEDGE co., lNc. (the
"Corporation"), a corporation duly organized and existing under and byvirtue of the laws of
the Republic of the Philippines with business office address at Alphaland Makati place,7232
Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street, Barangay Bel-Air, 1209 Makati City, philippines;

2. To the best of my knowledge, none of the directors and officers of the
Corporation works in the government.

lN wlrNESS wHEREOF, I have hereunto affixed my signature this
at Makati City, Metro Manila.

Corporate Secretary

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this
Manila, affiant exhibiting to me his TtN 180-OO4-166.

at Makati City, Metro

Doc. No. 3{ ;

Page No, l'] t

Book No. {f ,

Series of 2OL8.

CLIBURN ANTHONY A. ORBE



CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

l, MAIIGARITO B. TEVES, Filipino, of legal age, with address at Great Wall Advertising
Building, 136 Yakal Street, Makati City, after having been sworn to in accordance with law,
hereby depose and state that:

t, I am an lndependent Director of Atok-Big Wedge Co., lnc. (the "Corporation,,).

2. I am also affiliated with the following companies:

P.J. Lhuillier Group of
Com panies

Petron

Brnk 
"f 

C,ffi"r*
Atlantic Aurum lnvestments
Philippines Corporation
AB Capitai Investment Corp.

The Wallace Business Forum

Think Tank, lnc.

The City Club at Alphaland
Makati Place, lnc.

Alphaland Corporation
Alphaland Balesin lsland Club,

I nc,

] Pampanga Sugar Development

I co (pnsurSgq) _

3. lposr;ess all the qualifications and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an

lndependent Director of the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the
Securities Regulations Code ("SRC")and its lmplementing Rules and Regulations
("1 RR").

I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an

lndependent Director under the SRC and its lRR.

I shalrl inform the Corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the
Corporation of any changes in the above-mentioned information within five (5) days

from its occurrence. 
r

Done this __day of

4.

5.

at Makati City.

,#{,-
MARGARTTO B. T{VES

me this
105-549-310.

at

Affiant

i:1,' ':
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before

Makati City, affiant exhibiting to me his TIN No.

ooc No. .kl ;

Page No. dV
Book No. _h ,
Series on 20_{

Member, Strategic
Committee

February 2015 to present

lndependent Director May 20, 2Ot4 to present
July 26, 2013 to present

lndependent Director, July 19, 2013 to present

June 29, 2012 to present
lndependent Director June 14, 2012 to

March 1,20t2to present

Chairman 1998 to 2000; 2010 to present
lndependent Director 20LI - Present

lndependent Director Mav 26 2011- Present
lndependent Director 2017 - Present

July 201"1 - Present

Company Position/Relatlonship Period of Service

Board Adviser

lndependent Director
San Mieuel Corporation

Manaeins Director

Director



CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

l, GREGORIO MA. ARANETA lll, Filipino, of legal age, with address al2tlF Citibank

Tower, Paseo oe Roxas, Makati City, after having been sworn to in accordance with law,

hereby depose iand state that:

L. I am an lndependent Director of ATOK-BlG WEDGE CO., lNC. (the "Corporation").

2. I am also affiliated with the following companies:

3. I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualificatios to serve as an

tndependent Director of the Corporation as provided for in Section 38 of the

Securities Regulations Code ("SRC")and its lmplementing Rules and Regulations

("tRR").

lshall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities as an

lndeperrdent Director under the SRC and its lRR.

I shall inform the Corporate Secretary /Assistant Corporate Secretary of the

Corporartion of any changes in the above-mentioned information within five (5) days
5.

from its occurrence

Done this day of

ri
l-nrr*tffi

TARAZA Iiesc

tcr**m."

4.

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before

Makati City, affiant exhibiting to me his TIN No.

me this ) ,.:

136-998-184.

ooc no.2K*;
Page t',:o <(f,
Book No, D :

Serieson2L(

---j.n.p*,Araneta Prc,perties, lnc.

A RAZA R e sc:,{gq{ glpgtrtigl
Carmel Development, lnc.

Position/Relationship Period of Service

Chairman/Chief Executive
Off ice r

2010 to present

President/Cha irma n 2006 to present

President/Chairman 2007 to present

Gregorio Araneta lnc. Chairman and President 2000 to present

Gregorio Araneta

Ma nagemeut Corporation

Chairman and President 2013 to present

Gamma Properties, lnc. Chairma n 2000 to present

Philweb Corporation Chairman 2016 to present

Alphaland Corporation lndependent Director 2014 to present

Alphaland Balesin lsland Club,

I nc.

lndependent Director 2Ol4 to present

The City Club at Alphaland

Makati Place, lnc.

lndependent Director 20L4 to present

at Makat

MA. ARANETA III

Affia nt

,*
-ri.r.t .r' 

"(- r

,,,/ ,,, }, ,,", \
/" {t'}( )'/, Y:J \J

at



l-, I am
INC.

CIIRTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, QENNIS-A,,,!JY, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of 26th Floor, Fort
Legend Tower, 3'd Avenue corner 31't Street, Bonifacio Global City, Taguig
City, after halring been duly sworn to in accordance with law do hereby
declare that:

a norninee for independent director of ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO..

2, I am affiliaLed with the following companies or organizations (including
Government-Owned and Controlled Corporations):

anization

Please refer to Attachment 1

I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to
serve as ar:i Independent Director of , 0s
provided for in Section 3B of the Securities Regulation Code, its
Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances.

I am related to the following director/officerlsubstantial shareholder of
ATOK-BIG WEDGE, INC. and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates other
than the relationship provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the Securities
Regulation Code, (where apolicable)

5, To the bes:t of my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending
criminal or administrative investigation or proceeding/I disclose that I
am the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or
proceeding (as the case may be):

3.

4,

Period of ServicePosi ti on / Rel ati o n sh i,

Name of Di re:ctor/Offi cer/ Su bstantial
,Shareholder

Company Nature of
Relationship

n.a.

Tribunal or Aqencv Involved

Please refer to Attachment 2

Offe n se Ch a ro ed / I nv esti q ated



6,

7,

B.

(For those in government service/affiliated with a government agency
,, oocc) I 

- have the required permission from (head of the

agency''',lartment) to be an independent director in ATOK-BIG
WEDGE3O., rruc., pursuant to office of the President Memorandum

C,rcular Nlc,. l-7 and Section 12, Rule XVIiI of the Revised Civil Service

Rules.

I shall f,aithfully and diligently comply with my duties and

responsibiliities as independent director under the Securities Regulation
Code and its Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate
Governancr3 drld other SEC issuances.

Secretary of
abovementioned within five

Done, this

DENNIS A. UY
Affiant

SUBSCRIBED
at

AND SWORN to before me this
, affiant personally appeared before me and

exhibited to me the following competent evidence of his/her identity: TIN
No. 172-020-1135.

I shall inform the CorPorate
INC. of any changes in the
days from iits occurrence,

at

Doc, No. ,W$ ;
Pase No, 

-{L-;
Book No. ti, i

-_---j_-

Series of A7/( i

--

Certifi cation of Independent Director
Page)2



NAME OF OFFICE POSITION INCLUSIVE
DATES

Dennison Holdings Corp.
Udema Corporation
Chelsea Logistics Holilings Corp.
Chelsea Shipping Corp.
Chelsea Dockyard Corp.
Michael, Inc.
B unkers Manila Im:orprorated
PNX-Chelsea Shippinpl Corp.
Chelsea Ship Managelnent & Marine Services Corp.
CD Slup Managen'Lent and Marine Services Corp.
Fortis Tu gs Corporati o,n

Trans-Asia Shipping Lines, Ilc.
Davao Gulf Mtrrine Se,rvices hrc.

Oceal Star Shipping Cbrporation
Stamyshoppe, Irrc.

Dynamic Cuisine, hc.
Quality Mctal & Shiprarorks, Inc.

Starlite Fcrries,Inc.
Worklirrk Services, Inc.
Uderma Malagement & Resources Corp.
Clobal Syrrergy Tra<le and DisLribution Corp.
PNX-Udenna Insuranc:e Brokerc, Irrc.
U denna Energy Corporatiotr
Valueleases, Inc.
Udenrra Capiterl lnc.
Udema Environmentarl Services, Inc.
Udenna Development Corporahon (UDEVCO)
Uderu'ra Tower Corporation
CoHotels Davao, Inc.
Lapulapu Land Corp.
Clark Global City CorJr.
GGDC Holdings, Inc.
Global Gateway Development Corp.
CIobal Cateway Logrsl.ics City Holdnrg,s Company
Clobal Cateway Logislics City Aeropark Corporaflon
Clobal Cateway Logistics City Business Park
Corporation
Clobal Gateway Logjstics City Town Center
Corporation
Clobal Gateway Logistics City Logistics Park
Corporation
Calaca Industrial Seaport Corp.
South Pacific lnc.
Betelp;uese Land Corprlration
Plc,iades Land Corporation
Rigel Land Corporation
Elcctra Land Corporabiorr
Kraz Land Corporatiorr
Crafias Land Corporahion
LcssLh L.zurd Corporatiorr
Heze Lard Corporatior:r
Formacis Land Corporiltion
F2 Logistics Philippines Inc.
F2 Globa-l Inc.

Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairmal
Chainnal/Prcsident & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chaiman/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chainnan/President & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairmal
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairm;m
Chainnan
Chainnan
Chairman
Chainnan/ President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chailman/President & CEO
Chairmarr/President
Chainnan/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman
Chairmal/ President & CEO
Chairrnall President & CEO
Director
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/ Presiderrt & CEO
Director
Chairman/Director
Chairman
Chainnan
Chairman

Chainlal

Chairman

Chairmar/President & CEO
Chairmal
Chairmar/ Prcsident & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairrran/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairrnan/President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chainnan/ President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman
Board Member

2018 to present
2402l'o present
2017 to present
2006 to present
2018 to present
20O8 to present
2008 to present
20L1 to present
2012to present
2018 to present
20121o preselt
2Ol7 to present
2076 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2017 to preselrt
2017 to present
2tXl6 to present
2006 to present
2006 to present
2006 to present
2007 Lo present
20121o present
2010 to present
2407 b present
2014to present
2013 to present
2017 to present
2O17 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2417 fi present

2Ol7 to present

2017 to present

2009 to present
2014to present

2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to prcsent
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2006 to present
2010 to present



P-H-O-E-N-I-X Pehokrum Holdings, Inc.
P-H-O-E-N-I-X Petrolerum Philippir^res, lnc.
P-H-O-E-N-I-X Clobal Mt-,rcanLile, lnc.
Subic Pea'oleurn Trading ald Transport Phi1s.

P-F-L Pctroleurl MaleLgement, lnc.
PH Travel and Leisurer Holdings Corp.
Lapulapu Leisure Inc.
Donatela Hotel Panglaio Corp.
Donatela Resorts & Dervelopment Corp.
Clark Clrand Leisure Corp.
CD Treasures Holding;s Corp.
Mactaa PH Resort Corp.
Aetos Air Philippines [nc.
Udenna Trade Corporation
Udemra llfrastructure Corp.
Udenna Water Integrated Services
Lc Pcrrseur, [nc,
Uderura Founda[on, hrc.
Phocnlr Philippines Foundation, Inc.
Lapulapu Cultural Hentage Fourrdahon, h-rc.

APEX Mining Corporertion
Mithras Security and InvestigaLion Inc.
Mindanao Clean Air Clorp.
Davao Wildwater Adr,'enture Inc.

Moonbeam Realty De.rrslsplipnt Corp.
Astana Crand Trade Ciorp.
Udenco Corporatior-r

Negros Navigation Co., lnc.
2Co Group, Inc.

Chairman/President
President & CEO
Chairman/President
ChairmanlPresident & CEO
Chairman/President
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman
Chairman
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairmar/ President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman/President & CEO
Chairman
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman/ President & CEO
Chairman
Chairmal
Chairman
Independent Director
President
Board Member
Board Member / Corporate
Secretary
Board Member
Board Member
Board Member/ Corporate
Secretary
Board Meurber
President & CEO

2006 to present
2002 to present
20fli7 to present
2tl07 to present
2006 to present
2017 to present
2017 to present
2417 b present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2018 to present
2417 b present
201,4to present
2O77 to present
2016to present
2017 to present
2407 b present
2007 to present
2017 to present
2015 to present
1997 to present
2AA2to present
2005 to present

2010 to present
2013 to Present
2000 to Present

2017 to Present
2017 to Present



Attachment 2:

1. people of the F.'hilippines vs. Dennis Ang lJy, John Does ond/or Jone Does, Criminol Cose Nos. 75,8j4-

13 to 75,845-L3 ond 76,067-13 to 76,076-13, Regional Triol Court, 11th Judiciol Region, Dovoo City,

Bronch L4

On August 27,2}l3,the DOJ filed twelve (1-2) lnformation before the RegionalTrialCourt of Davao

(docketed as Criminal Case Nos,75,834-13 to 75,845-13) against Mr. Uy and severalJohn Does and/or

Jane Does in ccrnnection with the Resolutions dated April 24,2A13 and August 13,2073 issued by the

SOJ, finding prr:bable cause against Mr.Uy for alleged vlolation of Section 3602 in relation to Sections

3601, 2530 (tX1), (3), (a), and (5), Sections 1807,7802,3604; and 2530 of the TCCP, as amended, and

AO No.243, CAO No.3-2010 and CAO No.18-2010'

On Septembe r 5,2O!3, an Entry of Appearance with Omnibus Motion (for Judicial Determination of

probable Caus,: and to Suspend lssuance andlor Service of Warrant of Arrest) dated September 3,

2013 was filed by Mr. Uy's counsel, which prayed for the dismissal of the criminal cases for lack of

probable causer.

Thereafter, on September 17,2013, the DOJ filed ten (10) additional lnformation against Mr. Uy and

several John Droes and/or Jane Does for alleged violations of the TCCP. These were docketed as

Criminal Case I'los. 76,067-73 to 76,076-13.

On Septembe r 19,20'13, a Supplemental Motion for Judicial Determination of Probable Cause dated

September 18, 2013 was filed by Mr. Uy's counsel, seeking the dismissal of the ten (10) additional

criminal cases 1[or lack of probable cause.

On October 4, )013, the RTC issued an Order dismissing all the cases against Mr. Uy.

On Novembe r 15, 2073, a copy of the plaintiff People of the Philippines' Motion for Reconsideration

with Urgent Motion for lnhibition of Judge George E. Omelio dated November L2, 2013 was received,

to which Motion, Mr. Uy filed his Opposition.

On August !8, ,2A1.4, the RTC issued an Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration of the plaintiff.

The plaintiff People of the Philippines filed its Petition for Certiorari with the Court of Appeals for the

reversal of the Orders dated October 4,2O13 and August 78,20L4 issued by the trialcourt. Please see

Item 3 below for status on the Petition for Certiorari.

People of the Philippines vs. Hon. George E. Omelio, in his copacity os Presiding ludge of the Dovao

City Regionol Triol Court, Bronch 14, Hon.Loida S. Posodos-Kohugon, in her copacity os Acting Presiding

Judge of the Dtovoo City RTC, Branch L4, Dennis Ang Uy, John Does ond/or Jone Does, CA-G.R.SP

No.06500-MlN, Court ot' Appeols, Cagayan de Oro City, 23'd Division

On October 27,201-4, petitioner People of the Philippines filed a Petition for Certiorari seeking the

reversalof the Ordersdated October4,2073 and August 18,2014 issued bythe trial courtdismissing

the cases filed against Dennis Ang Uy. The respondents filed their Comment to said Petition for

Certiorari, and the parties subsequently filed their respective Memoranda. ln its Decision dated

October 1.2,2016, the Court of Appeals denied the Petition for Certiorari filed by the People of the



philippines. On Novembe r 7,2016, the People of the Philippines filed its Motion for Reconsideration

of the Decision dated October 1,2,201"6. To date, the Court of Appeals has not acted on the Motion

for Reconsideration dated November 7,201'6.

3, Dennis A. l)y v:;. Hon. Secretory ot' the Department of Justice Leilo M. De Limo and the Bureau of

Customs, CA-G.R.Sp No, L31702, Court of Appeols, Monilo, Special Former SpecialTenth Division

There being no appeal or any other plain, speedy and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law

available to question and seek the reversal of the Resolutions dated April 24, 2013 and August 13,

2013 issued by the SOJ finding probable cause against Mr. Uy for alleged violation of the TCCP and

other related rules and regulations, Dennis A. Uy filed a Petition for Certiorari with the Court of

Appeals on Sepllember 4,2013.

On September :10, 2013, petitioner filed a Motion for Consolidation seeking the consolidation of this

case with tlre Pretition for Certiorari (with Application for lssuance of a Temporary Restraining Order

and/or Writ of Preliminary lnjunction) filed by Jorlan Cabanes, docketed as CA-G.R.SP No.129740. The

Motion for Con,solidation was granted in the Resolution dated November 6,2073. Thereafter, all the

parties filed therir respective Memoranda. On july 25,2014, the Court of Appeals issued its Decision

granting the petition for Certiorari and declaring the Resolutions dated April 24,2013 and August 13,

2013 nullified and set aside and directing that the lnformation filed against Dennis Uy and iorlan C.

Cabanes beforg the Regional Trial Courts of Batangas City and Davao City be withdrawn and/or

dismissed for lack of probable cause. A Motion for Reconsideration of the Decision dated July 25,

2014 was filed by respondents SOJ and Bureau of Customs. On July 23,20L5, the Court of Appeals

issued its Resolution denying respondents'Motion for Reconsideration. On September 10,2015,

petitioner received a copy of the Motion for Extension to File Petition for Review on Certiorari filed

by the responrCents with the Supreme Court. To date, the Supreme Court has not acted on

respondents' Motion.

4. Secretory of the Department of Justice Leila M. De Limo ond Bureou of Customs vs. Jorlon Cobanes,

ond Secretary of the Deportment of lustice Leito M. De Lima and Bureau of Customs vs. Dennis A- Uy,

G,R. No. 21929!i-219296, Supreme Court, 2nd Division

On October 8, ;1015, respondents Jorlan C. Cabanes and Dennis A. Uy received a copy of the Petition

for Review on r:ertiorari dated September 8, 2015 filed by petitioners SOJ and Bureau of Customs

seeking to set aside the Court of Appeals' Decision dated July 25,20L4 and the Court of Appeals'

Resolution datr:d July 2,2015. The Supreme Court required the parties to file their respective

Memoranda, which the parties complied with. On December a2,2076, the Supreme Court issued its

Notice of Resolrution dated November 16, 2016 noting the parties' Memoranda'



CERTIFICATION OF INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

I, LOREINZQ_VJI'AN, Filipino, of legal age and a resident of 20 Pili Avenue,

South Forbes Park, Makati City, after having been duly sworn t0 in

accordance with law do hereby declare that:

1, I am a nominee for independent director of ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO.,

INC.

2. I am affiliatecl with the following companies or organizations (including
Govern msnl-(lwned a nd Controlled Corporations) :

I possess all the qualifications and none of the disqualifications to serve

as an Independent Director of ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC', ds

provided for in Section 3B of the Securities Regulation code, its

Implementing Rules and Regulations and other SEC issuances.

I am related to the following director/officer/substantial shareholder of

ATOI(-BIG VITEDGE, INC. and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates other than

the relat'rcnship-provided under Rule 38.2.3 of the Securities Regulation

Code. (where ap7licable)

Na me of Di recto r/Officer/ Su bsta ntia I

3.

4.

Co m pa ny/ a rg' a n i zat i o n Positio n / Re I a ti o n s h i p
Period of
Service

Digital Telecommunications
Phils. Inc

Director
L/27/14 up to
present

SMART Communications
Incorporated

Director
2007 up to
present

Digitel Mobile Phils. Inc Director
t/27/14 up to
present

Voyager Innovat;ions Inc Director
4lLtl16 up to
present

EEI Corporation Director
6/L6/2017 up
to present

House of Investrnents Inc Director

SunLife Grepa Financial Inc Director
616l17 up to
present

Ipeople Director
r/ls/78 up to
present

Malayan Insurance Director
512177 up to
present

Philippine Realty & Holdings
Corporation

Director
7lt3l16 up to
present

Primeiro Partners Inc Managing Partner
2/Llt7 up to
present

Dela Salle Zobel Trustee
L1ltZlLT uP

to present

Relationshi,

N/A
Sllareholder



5. To the best 6f my knowledge, I am not the subject of any pending

criminal or adrninistrative investigation or proceeding/I disclose that I am

the subject of the following criminal/administrative investigation or

proceedin g (as: the case maY be):

6.

7,

B.

Offense Cha 'Invest ated

(For those in tTovernment service rfiliated with a oovernment aoencY or

ffirr-ave ttre required permission from (head of the

aoenc'y ,nartment) to be an independent director in ATOK-BIG WEDGE

CO- iruC., pursuant to Office of the President Memorandum Circular No.

17 and Sectiott 12, Rule XVIII of the Revised Civil Service Rules'

I shall faithfully and diligently comply with my duties and responsibilities

as independerrt directoi under the Securities Regulation Code and its
Implementing Rules and Regulations, Code of Corporate Governance and

other SEC issutances.

I shall inform the Corporate Secretary of ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO" INC'

of any changels in the abovementioned information within five days from

its occurrence.

Done, this

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this

,0t

at

, affiant personally appeared before me

th" iollowing competent evidence of his/her identity:
and
TINexhibited to me

No. 900-036-442'..

Doc. No. sfr 

-',
Paqe No. 6J 

-;
aook No. fC , ,

Series of -.r4( 
;

l.,ilitlr arl!J

il ir

::'.r

Tribunal or AqencY Involved

Affia nt



ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC.
ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE
7232 AYALA AVENUE CORNER MALUGAY ST,,

BRGY. BEL.AIR, MAKATICITY 1209 PHILIPPINES

TELEFAx NO.: +63.2.310-7100

January 19,2018

..STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONS!BILITY
FOR CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"

The management of Atok-Big Wedge Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Group) is

responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the
schedules attached therein, for the years ended December 31,2017,2016 and 2015, in
accordance with the prescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible in overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

The Board of Directorsreviews and approves the financial statements including the
schedules attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Reyes Tacandong & Co,, the independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has

audited the financial statements of the Group in accordance with Philippine Standards on

Auditing, and in its report to the stockholders, has expressed its opinion on the fairness of
presentation upon completion of such audit.

xoLenro v. oNGPTN
Chairman & CEO

€-4.---z
ERIC O. RECTO
Vice Chairman & President

ah**
cRtsINA dJZAenrura 

,

Senior Vice President fof inance



affiants exhibiting to me their respective identification documents, and personally known to
me, follows:

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this ,'.&ffft I 'i ,rlii''

COMPETENT EVIDENCE DATE OF
OF IDENTITY ISSUE

Passport No: P0300707A
Passport No: EC3544131
Passport No: P3451062A

ii
at Makati City,

PLACE OF ISSUE

0911712016 DFA Manila
0212712015 DFA Manila
0612212017 DFA NCR East

NAME

Roberto V. Ongpin
Eric O. Recto
Cristina B. Zapanla

Doc. No. lb(
Page No. 37/
Book No. {r
Series ot zda
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors

Atok-Big Wedge Co., lnc. and Subsidiaries

Alphaland Makati Place,

7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street
Makati City

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Atok-Big Wedge Co,, lnc. and

Subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of f inancial position as at

December 31, 2077 and 2016, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated

statements of changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the three years ended

December 31,20!7,20L6 and 2015, and notesto consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

ln our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial

position of the Group as at December 31, 20L7 and 2016, and its financial performance and its cash flows for

the three years ended December 3!,2017,20L6 and 2015 in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting

Standards (PfRS).

Bosis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA). Our responsibilities

under those standards are further described in the Audito rs' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Finoncia! Stotements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of

Ethics for professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements

that are relevanttothe audit of the consolidated financialstatements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics' We believe

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Notes 1 and 7 to consolidated financial statements

concerning the delay in one of the planned drilling programs of Forum Energy Ltd., an associate of a

subsidiary, The ultimate outcome of the uncertainty related to this delay cannot be presently determined.

Key Audit Matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgment, \,vere of most significance in our audit

of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context

of our audits of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters'

Trlt: POIVER OF BEING l.llIDEnS ioof)
'^,'' ii'i ; Ii' { I (-r'ri'iill.l l1:{l

ItBE

RSI

not itself a separate legal entity of any description in anyjurisdiction.
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Valuation of lnvestment in an ,Associate

The Group is required to review the carrying amount of its investment in an associate at each reporting date

whenever there is any indication of impairment loss. The impairment review is significant to our audits since

the carrying amount of investment in an associate of F579.2 million, which represents 91% of the

consolidated total assets as at December 31, 20!7, is material to the consolidated financial statements.

Further, the impairment review of the investment involves management's judgment and estimate on the

commencement and feasibility of the Associate's exploration projects, which are affected by future market or

economic conditions, particularly the outcome of territorial deliberations in the West Philippine Sea.

Our audit procedures include, among others, the review of the assumptions used by the Group in the

impairment assessment, in particular those involving the forecasted cash flows from the related service

contracts, timing of exploration and the discount rate used. We also focused on the adequacy of the Group's

disclosures pertaining to the status of the Associate's significant exploration projects and the financial

information of the Associate as disclosed in Notes 1 and 7 to consolidated financial statements.

Other lnformotion

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information

included in the SEC Form 20-lS (Definitive lnformation Statement), SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the

year ended December 3!,2017, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors'

report thereon. The SEC Form 20-lS (Definitive lnformation Statement), SEC Form L7-A and Annual Report for

the year ended December 31,2017 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors'

report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon'

ln connection with our audits of the consolidated financialstatements, our responsibility is to read the other

information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other

information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained

in the audits or otherwise appears to be materially misstated'

Responsibilities of Manogement ond Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Finonciol

Stotements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial

statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to

enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group's

ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using

the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so'

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process'
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors, report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's abllity to continue as a going concern. lf we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors'report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
business activities within the Group to express

are responsible for the direction, supervision
responsible for our audit opinion.

regarding the financial information of the entities or
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements, We

and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
that we identify during our audits.

among other matters, the planned scope

significant deficiencies in internal control
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant

ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other

matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are

therefore, the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors' report unless law or regulation

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a

matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would

reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Emmanuel V. Clarino'

REYEs TACANDONG & CO.

fu-)o4-,
EMMANUEL V. CLARINO

Partner
CPA Certificate No, 27455

Tax ldentification No, 102-084-004-000
BOAAccreditation No.4782; Valid until December 3L,2078

SEC Accreditation No. 1021-AR-2 Group A

Valid until March 27, 2020

BIR Accreditation No, 08-005144-005-20L7

Valid until January 13,2020
PTR No. 6607954

lssued January 3, 2018, Makati CitY

March 23,2OtB
Makati City, Metro Manila
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ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDI
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FTNANCIAL

l{

n'

L}

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets

4

5

6

P40,764,801
4,523,770

2076

P145,837,631
5,672,O78
7,530,172

ASSETS

9,337,237
Total Current Assets 54,625,748 159,039,991

Noncurrent Assets
lnvestment in an associate

Available-for-sale financia I asset
Property and equipment
Advances to mining right holders
Rental and security deposits

7

8

10

t
16

579,241,175
1,999,950

45,574
1,525,000

490,326,051

1,ggg,g50

1.25,610

1,525,000
1,,44L,57g

Total Noncurrent Assets 582,811,699 495,418,190

?637,437,447 P654,459,071

TIABILITIES AND EqUITY

Current Liabilities
Payables and other current liabilities
lncome tax payable

t1 P2,4Lt,632_ P2,095,070
t8,ttt

Total Current Liabilities 2,4tL,632 2,1,13,1,81

Equity
Capitalstock
Deficit
Cumulative translation adjustment

13 1,060,000,000 1,060,000,000

1529,797,2021 (510,588,802)

LO4,823,O17 tO2,933,592

Total Equity 535,025,815 652,344,890

P537,437,447 P654,458,071

See accompanying Notes to Consolidqted Finoncial Stotements.
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ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSTDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOI\4E

Years Ended December 31
Note 2077 20]-6 2015

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 1.4 P7,936,924 P18,690,459 P2L,927,639

oTHER TNCOME (EXPENSES)

Share in net results of operations of an associate
Service fees
lnterest income
Others

7

4

(1.3,735,209)

L,472,gg0
l,o5t,o21

1,916

(18,759,273lt

1,479,490
2,794,493

30,1.41"

.22,2O9,252)
!,463,297
2,943,539

27,643
209,482!' L4,464,1,69) (17,873,773

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR CURRENT INCOME TAX T7

(19,045,305)

L6Z,0g4

\33,1.54,627)

209,955

(39,80L,412)

ztg,6gg

(4O,02L,1.0O)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE !NCOME
Item thot will be reclossified subsequently

to profit or loss -

Foreign exchange differences on translation of
the financial statements of Tidemark Holdings
Limited 1,999,325 46,933,425 40,540,500

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE TNCOME (LOSS) (PL7,379,0751 P13,568,843 P519,400

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE 15 (F0.0201) (P0.03s0) (P0.0420)

See occomponying Notes to Consolidoted Financial Stqtements.



ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CTTNTVGES rr.r rqUrW

Years Ended December 31
Note 20t7 20t6 2015

CAPITAL STOCK - p1 par value

Balance at beginning of year
Net loss

P1,050, F1,060,000,000 F1.,060,000,000

(510,588,802) (477,224,2201 (437,203,1,20)

DEFICIT

Balance at end of year

CUMU LATIVE TRANSLATION ADJ USTM ENT
Balance at beginning of year
Foreign exchange differences on translation

of the financial statements of Tidemark

( 33,364,592) 40,o21_,too
529,797,2O2 s10,588,802 (477,224,220)

L02,933,692 56,000,267 75,459,767

Holdings Limited 1,999,325 933,425 40,540,500
Balance at end of year LO4,923,O77 L02,933,692 56,000,267

P635,025,915 P652,344,99O P638,776,O47

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Finoncial Statements.



AroK-BtG WEDGE CO., tNc, AND SUBStDtARtES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENM

Years Ended December 31
Note 2017 201,6 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITTES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:

Share in net results of operations of an associate
lnterest income
Depreciation and amortization

(P33,!54,627) (P39,801,412)

7

4
10

10

(F19,046,306)

13,735,209
(1,051,021)

40,599

18,759,273
(2,794,493)

442,926
7,L02

22,209,252
(2,843,539)

856,500Loss on sale of property and equipment
Operati ng loss before working ca pitaiif,, r,ges
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables

Other current assets
Increase (decrease) in payables and other current

liabilities

(6,32t,5291

t,!gt,22g
(365,360)

376,562

(16,730,90g)

(693,809)

(614,266)

(19,580,199)

(824,640)
(861,916)

5,!L5,O27Net cash used for operations
lnterest received

(5,189,098)

1,019,160

12,068,747)
(30,107,131)

2,923,1.57
(L6,1.51,,72g)

2,947,392lncome tax paid
180,331) (12s,4o4 762,41o)Net cash used in opera activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACT]VIT]ES
Additions to:

lnvestment in an associate
Property and equipment
Advances to mining right holders

(4,351,2691 27,409,378 1,3,466,756)

7

10

(100,761,008)

(37,81.2)

(77,5741
(L1$s;)

(421.,897)

(26,91,5,7751 (13,900,044)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EqUIVAI.ENTS

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF
YEAR

(105,072,830)

145,937,631 772,753,406 186,653,450

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR F40,764,901 P145,937,631. P172,753,406

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash on hand and in banks
Short-term placements

P3,405,747 P3,l-55,576

1,42,692,055
P2,991,299

1,69,762,10737

P4O,764,gat PL45,937,633. P!72,753,406

See occompanying Notes to Consolidoted Finonciol Statements.



ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARTES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENiS
AS AT DECEMBER 31,20t7 AND FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER gt,ZO:t7,2016, AND zols

1. Corporate Matters

Corporate lnformation

Atok-Big wedge Co', lnc' (the Parent Company) was incorporated and registered with the philippine
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on September 3, 1931. The parent company,s corporate
life was extended to another 50 years from September 25, 1981. The parent Company,s primary
purpose is to engage in the business of exploration and development of mining, oil, gas and other
natural resources.

The Parent Company listed its shares in the Philippine Stock Exchange (pSE) on January 8, 194g. As
at December 3t,2017 and 2016, 953,963,474 of the Parent Company's shares are listed in the pSE.

The Parent Company's subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of Percentage of Ownership
Sub I ncorporation Nature of Business
Tidemark Holdings Limited

(Tidemark)
Hong Kong Holding

AB Stock Transfers corporation philippines stock Transfer Agency
(ABSTC)

201.6

100% t00o/o

L00% 'J.000/o

The Parent Company and subsidiaries are collectively referred herein as "the Group.,,

As at December 3L, 2017 and 201.6, the Group, through Tidemark, has 20.00% and27.1,4% interest
in Forum Energy Ltd. (FEL), respectively. FEL's shares were listed and traded at the London Stock
Exchange's Alternative lnvestment Market until June 26,2015. On March 22, ZO!7, the Board of
Directors (BOD) approved the subscription to additional 6,666,667 new shares of FEL (through
Tidemark) at USD0.30 a share or a total of USD2.0 million. Together with the subscription
simultaneously made by other major shareholder of FEL, the new subscription resulted to the
decrease of the Company's ownership in FEL from 27.3.4% in 2016 to 2o.oo% in 2017. The additional
subscription was ratified by the stockholders on May 10,2017.

FEL has interests in various service contracts as follows:

Service Contract
I nterest

Service contract 72 (Reed Bank)
Service contract 40 (North Cebu)
Service contract 14A (Nido)
Service contract 148 (Matinloc)
Service contract 14B-1 (North Matinloc)
Service contract 14C-1 (Galoc)

Other service contracts

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Parent Company is 69.75% owned by Boerstar Corporation,
a holding company incorporated in the Philippines. The ultimate parent of the Group is
Compact Holdings, lnc., a Philippine entity engaged in holding and investing activities.

70%
too%

8.47%
12.41%

19.46%

2.28%
5%-9%

20t7
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The Parent company's registered address is Alphaland Makati place,7232Ayala Avenue cornerMalugay Street, Makati City.

service controct 72 (Reed Bonk). FEL's principal asset is a 7o% interest in service contract (sc) 72which covers an area of 8,800 square kilometers in the west philippine Sea. SC 72 is currently underSub-Phase 2 of its exploration. However, the Philippine government was unable to grant FEL thepermission to deploy vessels for drill site survey work due to the territorial deliberations in the west
Philippine Sea.

on February 26, 2015. the Department of Energy (DoE) grant ed Force Majeure to sC 72 work
commitments effective December L5,2014. ln view of this, all exploration activities in the block are
suspended until the DoE notifies FEL to commence drilling. on July !2,20!6, the permanent Courtof Arbitration in The Hague released a ruling on the maritime case filed by the Republic of the
Philippines against the People's Republic of China. ln particular, the Tribunal ruled that Reed Bank,
where SC 72 lies, is within the Philippines' Exclusive Economic Zone as defined under the United
NationsConventionontheLawoftheSeas. lnNovember2oLT,theAssociationofsoutheastAsian
Nations and China has arrived at a negotiation to commence talks on drafting an effective code of
Conduct in the disputed seas.

Upon lifting of the Force Majeure, FEL will have 20 months to complete the sub-phase 2 work
commitment comprising the drilling of two wells. The terms of the succeeding sub-phase will remain
the same but will be adjusted accordingly. As at December g'l-,2017, Force Majeure is stillenforced
and FEL is still waiting until this is lifted in order to commence the remaining Sub-phase 2 work
commitment' The ultimate outcome of the uncertainty on the conduct of drilling operations cannot
be presently determined.

Service Contract 40 (North Cebu). The Libertad Field had been shut-in since August 2015, lt was
deemed that FEL would not be able to resume operations due to fluctuating pressure, thus FEL
decided to decommission the field and to plug and abandon the 195-1 production well permanently.

Service Controcts 14A (Nido), 148 (Matinloc) ond 148-1 (North Motinloc). The three fields produced
oilon a cyclical basis in 2O77 and 2016. Total production in2017 was 125,755 barrels, or an average
of 345 barrels of oil per day (bopd).

Service Contract 14C-1 (Galoc/. The Galoc Field produced a total of L,5 million barrels of oil in 2017
or 4,001 bopd, as compared to 1,9 million barrels or 5,L34 bopd in 201G. Cumulative production
starting october 2008 up to reporting date is 20. j.8 million barrels of oil.

Other Service Controcts. FEL has participating interests in other service contracts including SC6A
(Octon) and SCL4C-2 (West Linapacan), among others, which are currently under exploration phase.

Potential Acquisition of Certain Minine Rights

The Parent Company entered into various Memoranda of Understanding for the potential
acquisition of certain mining rights. Total advances to the mining right holders amounted to
P1'5 million as at December 31., 2Ot7 and 2016. ln view of the prevailing regulatory environment,
the Parent Company is continuously evaluating the feasibility of this potential acquisition.
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The consolidated financial statements as atDecember 3L, 2017,2016 and ZOri *.*Committee of the BOD on March ,i, ;r;;:

December 3L,2Ol7 and 2016 and for the years endedapproved and authorized for issu" UV if,e Executive

2, summaryorsffi
Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements ha.ve been prepared in compriance with phirippine Financiar
Reporting standards (PFRS) i*r.J iv the phirippine iinlnciat Reporting Standards councir and
adopted by the sEC' This financial reporting framework incrudes prn!, 

-piiiopine 
Accounting::Tf,lf;"tliiL,llil,i!'trr[,,#"i'i'on, rrom rntern.iion"r Financiar Reportins rnrerpretations

Measurement Bases
The consolidated financial statements are presented in phirippine peso (peso), the Group,sffi:lJ; 

and presentation currencv' nttvalues ur. ,.trni.o to the nearest peso, except otherwise

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historicar cost basisof accounting' Historical cost is generutty based on ,r,u i.-il. value of the consideration given inexchange for an asset and fair valul of consideration received in exchange to, in.rrring riabirity. Fair;ffi 
,.'.,ff 

ffi::iffi:,|fi fiffi1;,.tr [:l,l'.',LXLy," t ra n sre r a r ia b ir ity i n a n o ide rry

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
: :X ffi:T,[Ti.J,U?fJ",rff*ff f*:l ;:#,ffi , ; t h e use or'.e reva ni o bse rva b,e i n p uts

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or discrosed in the consoridated financiarstatements are categorized within the fair value hierarcrry, Jescriued as follows, based on the lowestlevel input that is significant to the rrir r.ir. measurement as a whore:

Level L - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active market for identicar assets or riabirities.
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair valuemeasurement is directly or indirectly observable.
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Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair
value hierarchy as explained above.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair value is included in Note 1g.

Adoption of New and Amended pFRS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following new and amended PFRS which the Group adopted effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1,, ZOI7:

o Amendments to PAS 7, Stotement of Cash Flows - Disclosure lnitiotive - The amendments
require entities to provide information that enable the users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

o Amendments to PAS 12, lncome Toxes - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for lJnreolized
losses - The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets related to unrealized
losses on debt instruments measured at fair value, to address diversity in practice.

o Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosures of tnterests in Other Entities - Clarificotion of the Scope of
the Standard- The amendments are part of the Annual lmprovements to PFRS 2014-2016 Cycle
and clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12 apply to interests in entities within the
scope of PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sole ond Discontinued Operations except for
summarized financial information for those interests (i.e. paragraphs 810-B16 of pFRS 12).

The adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS did not have any material effect on the
consolidated financial statements. Additional disclosures have been included in the notes to
consolidated financial statements, as applicable.

New and Amended PFRS in lssue But Not Yet Effective
Relevant new and amended PFRS which are not yet effective for the year ended December 3t,2Ol7
and have not been applied in preparing the consolidated financial statements are summarized
below.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,2018:

o PFRS 9, Financial lnstruments - This standard will replace PAS39, Financiol lnstruments:
Recognition ond Measurement (and all the previous versions of PFRS 9). lt contains
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
impairment, hedge accounting and derecognition,
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PFRs 9 requires all recognized financial assets to be subsequently measured at amortized cost orfair value (through profit or loss or through other compiehensive income), depending on theclassification by reference to the business model within which these are held and its contractuatcash flow characteristics.

For financial liabilities, the most significant effect of pFRS 9 relates to cases where the fair valueoption is taken: the amount of change in fair value of a financial liability designated as at fairvalue through profit or loss (FVPL)that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liabilityis recognized in other comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss), unless this createsan accounting mismatch.

For the impairment of financial assets, PFRS 9 introduces an "expected credit loss,, model basedon the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contracu it will no longer benecessary for there to be objective evidence of impairment before a credit loss is recognized.

For hedge accounting, PFRS 9 introduces a substantial overhaul allowing financial statements tobetter reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging financial andnonfinancial risk exposures.

The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged from pAS 39.

PFRS 15, Revenue from controct with Customers - The new standard replaces pAS 11,
Construction Controcts, PAs 18, Revenue and related interpretations. lt establishes a single
comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently across transactions,
industries and capital markets, with a core principle (based on a five-step model to be applied toall contracts with customers), enhanced disclosures, and new or improved guidance
(e.g. the point at which revenue is recognized, accounting for variable considerations, costs of
fulfilling and obtaining a contract, etc.).

Amendment to PFRS 15, Revenue from Contract with Customers - Clarification to pFRS 15 - The
amendments provide clarifications on the following topics: (a) identifying performance
obligations; (b) principal versus agent considerations; and (c) licensing. The amendments also
provide some transition relief for modified contracts and completed contracts.

Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-bosed Payment - Clossification qnd Meosurement of Share-bosed
Payment Transactions - The amendments clarify the effects of vesting and non-vesting
conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholdlng
tax obligations, and the effect of a modification to the terms and condition of a share-based
payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity settled.

Amendments to PAS 28, lnvestments in Associates and loint Ventures - Measuring an Associate
or Joint Venture at Foir Volue - The amendments are part of the Annual lmprovements to PFRS
201,4'201'6 Cycle and clarify that the election to measure at FVPL an investment in an associate
or a joint venture that is held by an entity that is a venture capital organization, mutual fund,
unit trust or other qualifying entity, is available for each investment in an associate or joint
venture on an investment-by-investment basis, upon initial recognition.
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o Philippine lnterpretation lFRlc 22, Foreign currency Transactions and Advance consideration -The interpretation provides guidance clarifying that the exchange rate to use in transactions thatinvolve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency is the one at the date ofinitial recognition of the nonmonetary prepayment asset or deferred in.ornu liability.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January L,2Ol9:

o PFRS 76' Leases -The most significant change introduced by the new standard is that almost allleases will be brought onto lessees' statements of financial position under a single model(except leases of less than 12 months and leases of low-value assets), eliminating the distinctionbetween operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged
and the distinction between operating and finance rease ii retained.

I Philippine lnterpretation lFRlc 23, lJncertointy over lncome Tax Treotmenfs - The interpretationprovides guidance on how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxesunder PAs 12, lncome Toxes, in particular (i) whether uncertain tax treatments should be
considered separately, (ii) assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations, (iii) determinationof taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, and(iv) effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

Deferred effectivity -
o Amendment to PFRS 10, Consolidoted Financiol Statements and pAS 2g, tnvestments in

Associotes ond Joint ventures - Sole or Contribution of Assets Between an lnvestor ond its
Associate or Joint venture - The amendments address a current conflict between the two
standards and clarify that a gain or loss should be recognized fully when the transaction involves
a business, and partially if it involves assets that do not constitute a business. The effective date
of the amendments, initially set for annual periods beginning on or after January L, 201-6, was
deferred indefinitely in Decembe r 2015 but earlier application is still permitted.

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended pFRS is not
expected to have any material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, except
for PFRS L6. Additional disclosures will be included in the consolidated financial statements, as
applicable.

The Group anticipates that the application of PFRS 16 might have a significant effect on amounts
reported in respect of the Group's leases. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed.

Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiories - Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parent Company, The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries. The parent Company
has control when it is exposed, or has right, to variable returns from its investment with the investee
and it has the ability to affect those returns through its powers over the investee.
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Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition or incorporation, being the date on which
the Parent Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date such control
ceases. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control
until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Changes in the controlling equity ownership (i.e., acquisition of non-controlling interest or partial
disposal of interest over a subsidiary) that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.

When the Parent Company has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

o The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
. Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; or
o The Parent Company's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Parent Company re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

Functionol ond Presentation Currency - The consolidated financial statements are presented In peso,

which is the Parent Company's functional and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency, which is the currency that best reflects the economic
substance of the underlying transactions, events and conditions relevant to that entity, and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency,
When there is a change in those underlying transactions, events and conditions, the entity accounts
for such change in accordance with the Group's policy on change in functional currency. At the
reporting date, the assets and liabilities of Tidemark, a subsidiary whose functional currency is in
United States (US) Dollar are translated into the presentation currency of the Parent Company using
the foreign exchange closing rate at the reporting date, components of equity using historical
exchange rate, and their statement of comprehensive income are translated at the foreign exchange
weighted average daily exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising from
translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity under the "Cumulative Translation
Adjustment" account. Upon disposal of the foreign entity, the cumulative translation adjustment
shall be recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Business Combinotions and Goodwill- Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred,
measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets.
Acquisition costs incurred are recognized as expense.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.

lf the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date
through profit or loss.
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Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date' Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is
deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognized in accordance with pAs 39 either in profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. lf the contingent consideration is classified as
equity, it should not be remeasured. Subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. ln
instance where the contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of pAS 3g, it is measured
in accordance with the appropriate pFRS.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. lf this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in profit or loss. lf the initial accounting for
business combination can be determined only provisionally by the end of the period by which the
combination is effected because either the fair values to be assigned to the acquiree,s identifiable
assets, liabilities or contingent liabilities or the cost of the combination can be determined only
provisionally, the Group accounts the combination using provisional values. Adjustments to these
provisional values as a result of completing the initial accounting shall be made within 12 months
from the acquisition date, The carrying amount of an identifiable asset, liability or contingent
liability that is recognized as a result of completing the initial accounting shall be calculated as if its
fair value at the acquisition date had been recognized from that date and goodwill or any gain
recognized shall be adjusted from the acquisition date by an amount equal to the adjustment to the
fair value at the acquisition date of the identifiable asset, liability or contingent liability being
recognized or adjusted.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned
to those units.

where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the operation disposed
of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained,

Transoctions Eliminoted on Consolidation - All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and unrealized gains and losses are eliminated in full.

Accounting Policies of Subsidiories - The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting year using uniform accounting policies as that of the Parent Company.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Dote of Recognition. The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the consolidated
statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument. All regularway purchases and sales of financialassets are recognized on the trade date,
i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of the assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the market place.
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lnitial Recognition of Financial lnstruments. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair
value of the consideration given (in the case of an asset) or received (in the case of a liability).
Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and liabilities, except
for financial instruments measured at FVPL. Fair value is determined by reference to the transaction
price or other market prices. lf such market prices are not readily determinable, the fair value of the
consideration is estimated as the sum of all future cash payments or receipts, discounted using the
prevailing market rate of interest for similar instruments with similar maturities.

"Doy 7" Difference. Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value
of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Group recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a "Day l" difference) in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. ln cases where there is no observable data on inception,
the Group deemed the transactions price as the best estimate of fair value and recognizes ,,Day 

1,,
difference in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is
derecognized. For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of recognizing
the "Day 1" difference.

Classification of Finonciol lnstruments. The Group classifies its financial assets into the following
categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale (AFSI
financial assets and loans and receivables. The Group classifies its financial liabilities into financial
liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

The Group does not have financial instruments classified as financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVPL and HTM investments,

AFS Financiol Assets. AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as such or are not classified as another category of financial assets. After initial
measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value with unrealized gains or
losses recognized in other comprehensive income. These fair value changes are recognized in
other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognized or until the investment is
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. lnvestment in equity instruments
that do not have a quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are
carried at cost.

This category includes the Group's investment in unquoted shares of stock.

Loons and Receivables. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, After initial measurement, loans
and receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any
allowance for impairment. The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on
acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. Gains and losses are recognized in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income when the loans and recelvables are derecognized or impaired, as well as through the
amortization process,
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Loans and receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within 12 months from
reporting date. otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets.

The Group's cash and cash equivalents, receivables (excluding advances to officers and employees),
and rental and security deposits are classified under this category.

Other Finonciol Liobilities. Other financial liabilities at amortized cost pertain to issued financial
instruments or their components that are not classified or designated at FVpL and contain
obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder as to settle the obligation other
than by the exchange of fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own
equity.

The amortized cost of a financial liability is the amount at which the financial liability is measured at
initial recognition minus the principal repayments plus or minus the cumulative accretion using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount.
lnterest expense, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, is
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method. lnterest expense is added to the carrying amount of the instrument to
the extent that these are not settled in the period in which these arise.

The Group's payables and other current liabilities (excluding statutory payables) are classified
under this category.

lmpairment of Financial Assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial or
group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about loss events such as but not limited to significant financial
difficulty of the counterparty, a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments, probability that borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization.

Loons and Receivables. lf there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets
carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Time value is generally not considered
when the effect of discounting is not material, The amount of the loss shall be recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant.

lf it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, the asset is included in the group of financial assets
with similar credit risk and characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment,
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ll in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of anevent occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss
is reduced by adiusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss isrecognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, to the extent that thecarrying amount of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversal date.

AFS Financial Assets. ln the case of equity investments, eviclence of impairment would include asignificant or prolonged decline in fair value of investment below its cost. where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost andthe current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized, isremoved from other comprehensive and recognized in profit or loss. lmpairment losses on equityinvestments are not reversed through profit or loss. lncreases in fair value after impairment are
recognized directly in other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

FinancialAssefs. A financial asset (or, when applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group
of similar financial assets) is derecognized when:

a. the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired;

b. the Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an
obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a 'pass through,
arrangement; or

c' the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the
asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of tlre asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to pay,

Finoncial Liobilities. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled or has expired.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consotidatedstatement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currentry enforceable legal right to offsetthe recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assetsand settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is no, g.n"r.ily the case with master nettingagreements' and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidatedstatement of financial position.

Other Current Assets
other current assets consist of excess of input value added tax (vAT) over output VAT, rental andsecurity deposits, prepayments and creditabre withhording taxes (cwr).

vAT' Revenue, expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of vAT. The net amount ofvAT recoverable from the taxation authorities is recognized under "other current assets,, account inthe consolidated statement of financial position.

Prepayments' Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.Prepayments are initially recorded as assets and measured at the amount of cash paid.Subsequently, these are charged to expense as these are consumed in operations or expire with thepassage of time' Prepayments that are expected to be incurred no more than 12 months after thereporting date are classified as current assets. otherwise these are classified as noncurrent assets.

cwT' cwr represents the amount withheld by the Group's customers in relation to its income.cwr can be utilized as payment for income taxes provided that these are properly supported bycertificates of creditable tax withheld at source subject to the rules on philippine income taxation.

lnvestment in an Associate
The Group',s investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method. An associate is anentity in which the Group has significant influence

significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
associate but is not control or joint control of those poricies.

Under the equity method, investment in an associate is carried in the consolidated statement offinancial position at cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of theassociate' Goodwill relating to an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment
and is neither amortized nor individuaily tested for impairment,

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income reflects the share of the results of operations
of the associates. where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate,the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associates are eliminated to the extent of the interest in
the associate.

The share in net loss of the associate is shown
associate" account in the consolidated statement

as "Share in the net results of operations of an
of comprehensive income.
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The financialstatements of the associates are prepared forthe same reporting period as the Group.yr:il necessary' adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in rine with those of the

Upon loss of significant {nfluence over an associate, the Group measures and recognizes anyretaining investment at its fair value' Any difference between the carrying amount of the associateupon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining investment and proceeds fromdisposal is recognized in profit or loss.

Propertv and Equipment

::::ilti:i,ilJji;::1il",:[::'at cost ress accumurated depreciation and amortization and any

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, after deducting tradediscounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its workingcondition and location for its intended use.

Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such asrepairs' maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year thecosts are incurred' ln situations where it can be clearly derionstrated that the expenditures haveresulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of anitem of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, theexpenditures are capitalizecl as additional costs of property and equipment. The cost of replacing acomponent of an item of property and equipment is recognized if it is probable that the futureeconomic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost can bemeasured reliably' The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognized.

When significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, these areaccounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment.

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives of the property and equipment:

Asset T

Exploration equipmetnt
Leasehold improvernents
Furniture and fixtures
Office equipment
Transportation equipment

Number of Years

3

5 or lease term, whichever is shorter
4

3

5

The estimated useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed periodically to
ensure that these are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from items ofproperty and equipment,

Fully depreciated items are retained as property and equipment until these are no longer in use.

when assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulated
depreciation, amortization ernd any impairment in value are removed from the accounts. Any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.
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Advances to Minine Rieht Holders
Advances to mining right holders are amounts paid in advance for the potential acquisition ofcertain mining rights' These are carried at the amount of cash paid and are recrassified to the
:i,ffi:i"Ti'&trasset 

account when the mining rights for which the advancer-i,.r" made are

9eferred Mining Exptoration Cost
Deferred mining exploration cost is carried at cost ress accumurated impairment rosses.

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for minerar resources, the determination oftechnical feasibility and the assessment of commerciar viability of the minerar resource.
Exploration and evaluation activity includes:

o Gathering exploration data through geological studies;o Exploratory drilling and sampling; ,ndo Evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource.
Deferred mining exploration cost is no longer classified as such when the technicar feasibirity andcommercial viability of extracting the mineral reserve are demonstrabre, Deferred miningexploration cost is assessed for impairment, and any impairment loss is recognized, beforereclassification to mineral reserves.

and where the carrying amount exceeds its estimateo ,.;;;".,.,r,:':';:::lr:'1:t':ffi':;cash-generating unit is written down to its recoverable amount. The estimated recoverabre amountof the asset is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal or value in use. rn assessingvalue in use' the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present varue using a pre-taxdiscount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risksspecific to the asset' For an asset that does not generate largery independent cash inflows, therecoverable amount is determined for the cash_Igenerating unit to which the asset belongs,lmpairment losses are recognized in the consolidated statemeit of comprehensive income.

The nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

lirff:::rJl^e 
r"TIr_.T::r,_:f an asset mav not be recoverabre. rf anv such indication exists

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previouslyrecognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. lf such indication exists,the recoverable amount is estimated, A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only ifthere has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount sincethe last impairment loss was recognized. lf that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset isincreased to its recoverable amount' However, that increased amount cannot exceed the carryingamount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and amortization for property andequipment' had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. such reversal isrecognized in profit or loss' After such reversal, the depreciation and amortization charge isadjusted in future years to allocate the asset's revised .rrrying amount, on a systematic basis overits remaining useful life.
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A nonfinancial asset it dut"iogn;;-upon disposal or when it is permanentry withdrawn from useand no future economic benefits are expected from the disposar, Any gain or ross arising on
:::::ffil::J 

of a nonfinancial asset is included i, prolit or ross in the period in which it is

Eouitv

capitol stock' capital stock is measured at par value for ail shares issued. Unpaid subscriptions arerecognized as a reduction of subscribed capital shares.

Deficit' Deficit represents the cumurative barance of net ross.

cumulative Tronslotion Adiustment' All resulting exchange differences arising from transration offinancial statements of Tidemark are recognized in other cJmprehensive income and accumurated in"cumurative Transration Adjustment" account, a separate component of equity,

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized to the extent that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and theamount of the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair varue of theconsideration received, excluding discounts and rebates. The Group has concluded that it is theprincipal in all of its revenue arrangements. The foilowing specific recognition criteria must also bemet before revenue is recognized.

Service Fees' service fees are recognized in profit or loss when related services are rendered.

ff:filffi;ff;,r:t::::lrincome is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account the

other lncome' lncome from other sources is recognized when earned during the period.

Expense Recosnition
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefits related to adecrease in an asset or an increase in a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably.

General and Administrative Expenses, General and administrative expenses constitute costs ofadministering the business' These are recognized in profit or ross upon receipt of goods, utilizationof services or when the expenses are incurred.

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share
The Group presents basic and diluted loss per share. Basic loss per share is calculated by dividingthe profit attributable to equity holders of the Group by the weighted average number of commonshares outstanding during the year, excluding common ,h.r., purchased by the Group and held astreasury shares' Diluted loss per share is calculated in the same manner, adjusted for the effects ofallthe dilutive potential common shares.
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Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance ofthe arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent onthe use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. Areassessment is made after inception of the lease only if one of the following applies:

a' there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangemenu

b' a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extension
was initially included in the lease term;

c' there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;
or

d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

Where reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when the
change in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date of
renewal or extension period for scenario (b).

Group as o Lessee. Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as operating leases. operating lease payments are recognized as an
expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Short-term Emplovee Benefits
The Group provides short-term benefits to its employees in the form of basic pay, L3th month pay,
bonuses, employer's share on government contribution, and other short-term benefits,

The Group recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for services rendered
by employees during the year. Short-term employee benefit liabilities are measured on an
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided.

lncome Taxes

Current rox' Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax
rate enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred lax. Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, and carry forward benefits of the excess of
minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular corporate income tax (RCIT) and net
operating loss carryover (NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, excess MCIT and NOLCO can be
utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply to theperiod when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax laws) in effectat the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current taxassets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes rerate to the same taxable entity and thesame taxation authority.

Foreign Currencv Tra nsactions
The Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the consolidated financialstatements are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies areinitially recorded in the functional currency rate at the transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functionalcurrency rate at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the consolidated statement ofcomprehensive income. Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.
Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Related Parties
Related party relationship exists when one party has the ability to control, directly, or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, or exercise significant influence over the other party in making
financial and operating decisions" such relationships also exist between and/or among entities
which are under common control with the reporting entity, or between , andf or among the
reporting entity and its key management personnel, directors or its stockholders. ln considering
each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship,
and not merely to the legal form. A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or
obligations between the Group and its related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.

Segment ReportinR
operating segments are components of the Group: (a) that engage in business activities from which
they may earn revenue and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to
transactions with other components of the Group); (b) whose operating results are regularly
reviewed by the Group's senior management, its chief operating decision maker, to make decisions
about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and (c) for which
discrete financial information is available.

For purposes of management reporting, the Group's operating businesses are organized and
managed separately based on the nature of the business segment, with each business representing
a strategic business segment.

Provisions and Contineencies
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognized as interest expense.
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Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting year and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.

contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements. These are
disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow ofresources embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not recognized in the
consolidated financial statements but disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Events After the Reportine Date
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group's financial position at the
end of reporting year (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements. post
year-end events that are non-adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial
statements when material.

3. significant Judgments, Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of the Group's consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. The judgments and estimates used in the
consolidated financial statements are based upon management's evaluation of relevant facts and
circumstances as at the reporting date.

While the Group believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant
differences in the actual experience or significant changes in the assumptions may materially affect
the estimated amounts. Actual results could differ from such estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Changes in
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the change
affects only that period or in the period of the change and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the significant judgments, accounting estimates and assumptions made by the
Group.

Determinotion of Functional Currency. Based on the economic substance of the underlying
circumstances relevant to the Parent Company, the functional currency of the parent Company
has been determined to be the Philippine Peso. The Philippine Peso is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the Parent Company operates.

Determination of Reportable Operoting Segmenfs. Determination of operating segments is based on
the information about components of the Group that management uses to make decisions about
the operating matters. Operating segments use internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the
Parent Company's chief operating decision maker, which is defined to be the Parent Company's
BOD, in order to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance. The Group reports
separate information about an operating segment that meets any of the following quantitative
thresholds: (a) its reported revenue, including both sales to external customers and intersegment
sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and external, of all operating
segments; (b) the absolute amount of its reported profit or loss is l0% or more of the greater, in

absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all operating segments that did not report a
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loss and (ii) the combined reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss; and
(c) the assets of the segment are'J,O%or more of the combined assets of all operating segments,

The Group determined that its operating segments are organized and managed separately based on
the nature of the business segment, with each business representing a strategic segment,

As at December 3L, 20L7, 201'6 and 2015, the Group's operating segments consist of its mining,
exploration and development, and stock transfer agency activities.

Classificotion of Leases - Group os o Lessee. The Group has operating lease agreement for its office
spaces' The Group has determined that the risks and rewards of ownership related to the leased
property are retained by the lessor. Accordingly, the agreement is accounted for as an operating
lease.

Rental expense amounted to F269,541., P2.o million and p2.2 million in 2017,2016 and 2015,
respectively (see Note 16).

Assessment for lmpairment of Receivobles. The Group maintains allowance for impairment losses at
a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level of this
allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectability of the
accounts. These factors include, but are not limited to, significant financial difficulties or
bankruptcy, the length of the Group's relationship with the customer, the customer payment
behavior, and known market factors. The Group identifies and provides for specific accounts that
are doubtful of collection and reviews the age and status of the remaining receivables and
establishes a provision considering, among others, historical collection and write-off experience,

No provision for impairment losses on receivables was recognized in 2O!7,2016, and 2015.
Receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to p4.5 million and p5.7 million as at
December 3L, 2OL7 and 20L6, respectively. Allowance for impairment losses amounted to
P41,550 as at December 31, 2017 and 2016 (see Note 5).

Assessment for lmpairment of AFS Finoncial Asset. The Group assesses AFS financial asset as
impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fairvalue below its cost or
whether other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is 'significant'
or 'prolonged' requires judgment. ln addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is
evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance,
and financing cash flows.

No provision for impairment losses on AFS financial asset was recognized in2017,2016 and 2015.
The carrying amount of the Group's AFS financial asset amounted to F2.0 million as at
December 31,2017 and 2016 (see Note 8),

Copitolization of Explorotion and Evoluotion Expenditures. The capitalization of exploration and
evaluation expenditures requires judgment in determining whether there are future economic
benefits from future exploitation or sale of reserves. The capitalization requires management to
make certain estimates and assumptions about future events or circumstances, in particular,
whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Estimates and
assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. lf, after expenditure is

capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely,
the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the period when the new information
becomes available.
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As at December 31', 20L7 and 2016, deferred mining exploration costs amounting to p2.6 million
were fully impaired upon management's assessment that the related projects *.r" ,nrr.cessful
(see Note 9).

Estimation of useful Lives of Property and Equipment. The Group estimates the useful lives ofproperty and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available foruse' The estimates are based on a collective assessment of industry piactice, internal technical
evaluation and experience with similar assets. The estimated useful lives of property and
equipment are reviewed at each reporting date and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other
limits on the use of the assets. Future results of operations could be materially affected by changes
in estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above. The amount and timing of
recording of depreciation and amortization expense for any period would be affected by changes in
these factors and circumstances.

There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of the Group's property and equipment for the
years ended December 31,201-7,20j.6 and 20j.5,

Depreciation and amortization amounted to P40,589, p442,826 and pg56,500 for the years ended
December 31', 2017, 20L6 and 2015, respectively. Property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization amounted to P45,574 and F125,610 as at December 31., 2077 and
2016, respectively (see Note 1.0),

Assessment for Recoverobility of lnput VAT. The carrying amount of input VAT is adjusted to an
extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable revenue subject to output VAT will be available to
allow all or part of the input VAT to be utilized, Any allowance for unrecoverable portion of input
VAT is maintained at a level considered adequate to provide for potentially unrecoverable portion.
The level of allowance is based on past application experience and other factors that may affect
realizability.

No impairment loss was recognized on input VAT in 2077,2o16 and 2o15. lnput VAT amounted to
P7'7 million and P7.5 million as at December 31, 2017 and 20L6, respectively (see Note 6).

Assessment for lmpoirment on lnvestment in an Associate ond Property ond Equipmenf, The Group
assesses the impairment on investment in an associate and property and equipment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets may not be
recoverable, Factors that the Group considers in deciding when to perform impairment review of
investment in an associate and property and equipment include the following, among others:

o A significant financial difficulty of the associate.

o A siSnificant change in the technological, legal or economic environment in which the business
operates.

A significant decline in market value of asset is more than would be expected from the passage
of time or normal use.

A significant adverse change in how the asset is being used or in its physical condition.

A current-period loss combined with a history of losses or a projection of continuing losses

associated with the asset,
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o A realization that the asset will be disposed of significantly before the end of its estimated usefullife.

ln2017' 2016 and 2015, management assessed that there are no impairment indicators relating tothe Group's property and equipment.

As at December 3l', 2oL7 and 201"6, the recoverable amount from the Group,s investment in FELexceeded its carrying amount.

The aggregate carrying amount of investment in an associate, and property and equipment
amounted to P579'3 million and P490.5 million as at December 3L, 2Ol7 and 20L6, respectively
(see Notes 7 and 10).

Recognition of Deferred Tox Assets' The carrying amount of deferred tax assets at each reportingdate are reviewed and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxableprofit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilized. The Group,s
assessment on the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences is based
on the forecasted taxable income of the subsequent reporting periods. This forecast is based on the
Group's past results and future expectations on revenue and expenses,

The Group did not recognized deferred tax assets on deductible temporary differences totaling
P47'1 million and F63,9 million as at December 37, 2ot7 and 2016, respectively (see Note 17).
Management has assessed that it is not probable that future taxable profit will be available in the
near future against which these deferred tax assets on these temporary differences can be utilized.

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents

This account consists of:

20t7 201.6
Cash on hand and in banks
Short-term placements

P3,405,747 P3,1,55,576

1,42,692,05537

F4O,764,gOL P745,937,631

Cash in banks earn interest at the respective bank deposit rates and are immediately available for
use in the current operations.

short-term placements are made for varying periods of up to three months and earn interest
ranging from 2.L2%to 2.25% at the respective short-term placement rates.

lnterest income earned on cash in banks and short-term placements amounted to pL.1 million in
2017 and P2.8 million in 2016 and 2015.
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5. Receivables

This account consists of:

Note 2017 201.6Receivable from:
Related parties
Third party

Accounts receivable

72 ?3,544,467
190,450
4l,,-,76L
348,20O

50,049
20,333

P5,!44,41_g

1.24,071

409,397

17,Lgg
19,554

Advances to officers and employees
Accrued interest
Others

Less allowance for impairment losses
4,565,260

(41,550)
5,713,629

(41,5

P4,523,710 P5,672,079

Accounts receivable pertain to stock transfer services billed by ABSTC to its external clients. Theseare unsecured, noninterest-bearing and normally collected in cash within 30 days from the date of
billing.

Advances to officers and employees are unsecured, noninterest-bearing, and are subject toliquidation.

6. Other Current Assets

This account consists of:

Note 20L7 2076
lnput VAT

Rental and security deposits
Prepayments
CWT

Others

76
P7,7O3,39O

1,441.,579
156,949

L26
35,304

P7,485,493

44,679

P7,530,772

Prepayments consist of medical and dental insurance
will expire within one year"

provided to employees and license fees which

7. lnvestment in an Associate

lnvestment in an associate pertains to Tidemark,s 20.00% and
2016, respectively (see Note 1).

27.74% ownership of FEL in 20L7 and
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Movements of this investment are as follows:

2017 201.6
Cost

Balance at beginning of year
Additions

F767,t5g,g6g
100,761,009

F767,1.59,969

Balance at end of 867,920,876 767,759,969
Accumulated Share in Net Results of Operation
Balance at beginning of year (379,767,5091 (361,009,236)
share in net results of operations (l3,l3s,zogl (]:g,7sg,z73)
Balance at end ot year (39g,S0z,t,,gl (379,767,5091

Balance at beginning of year 102,933,692 56,000,267

46,933,425Foreign exchange differences
Balance at end of year LO4,gZ3,Ot7 tOLgll,AgZ
Carrying Amount

As discussed in Note 1, FEL encountered a delay in one of its drilling programs. lt has submitted all
the requirements for the issuance of required permits for the drilling program, however, the permit
has not yet been issued by the relevant Government body. The ultimate outcome of the uncertainty
on the conduct of drilling operation cannot be presently determined.

On July !2,20t6, the Permanent Court of Arbitration in The Hague released a ruling on the maritime
case filed by the Republic of the Philippines against the People's Republic of China. tn particular, the
Tribunal ruled that Reed Bank, where SC 72 lies, is within the Philippines' Exclusive Economic Zone
as defined under the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Seas. ln November 2017, the
Association of Southeast Asian Nations and China has arrived at a negotiation to commence talks on
drafting an effective Code of Conduct in the disputed seas.

Management determined that there is no impairment loss to be recognized in 20L7,2016 and 2015
based on the most recent cash flow projections from FEL's service contracts.

The projections are mainly based on cash flows expected to be generated by SC 72 as approved by
the management and are determined from feasibility studies and expectations on market
development. Cash inflows consider the existing contracts and management's estimate of the
average price per barrel of oil and revenue growth range. The cash flow projections were
discounted using a rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of money and the
risk specific to FEL. The Management's assessment of the status of each service contracts is also
discussed in Note 1"

Following are the summarized financial information of FEL as at and for the years ended
December 31.,2077,2016 and 2015 (in millions):

20L7 20L6 2015

Current assets

Noncurrent assets

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Equity
Net loss

F167.9

1,668.5
465.4
21.3

t,349.7
(63.2)

P143.0

1.,66t.L
3.6

1,096.4
704.L
(6e.1)

F109.4

1.,627.7

3.3

1,016.5
717.3
(81.8)
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8. AFS FinancialAsset

This account pertains to the Parent Company's investment in unquoted shares of stock which is
carried at cost amounting to F2,0 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Fair value bases for the shares (i.e,, quoted market prices) are neither readily available nor is there
an alternative basis of deriving a reliable valuation as at reporting date.

9. Deferred Mining Exploration Cost

The realizability of deferred mining exploration cost is dependent upon the success of future
exploration and development activities in proving the mining property's viability to produce
minerals in commercial quantities, the outcome of which cannot be determined at this stage of the
Parent Company's operations. As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, deferred mining costs amounting
to P2.6 million were fully impaired upon management's assessment that the related projects were
unsuccessful.

3.0" Property and Equipment

The balances and movements of this account are as follows:

2017
Exploration Leasehold
Equipment lmprovements

Furniture and office Transportation
Fixtures Equipment Equipment Total

Cost
Balances at beginning of year F56,235 ?4,422,5L8 ?L,382,532 F1,333,886 F1,565,548 FE,E60,719

Disposals/retirement--(8,049)(63,155)-(71,204)
Balances at end ofyear 55,235 4,422,518 1,374,483 1,270,731 F1,665,548 8,789,515

Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization

Balance at beginning of year 39,798 4,409,424 1,3s0,992 1,269,347 1,565,s48 A,73,,LO9

Depreciation and amortization 1,438 6,833 9,011 23,307
Disposals/retirement--(8,049)(23,708)-(31,757)
Balance at end of year 4L,236 4,416,257 1,351,954 L,268,946 1,655,548 8,743,94t
Carrying Amount P6,261 ?22,529 F1,785 745,574

2076

Exploration Leasehold

Equipment lmprovements

Furniture and
Fixtures

Office Transportation
Equipment Equipment Total

Cost
Balances at beginning of year

Additions

p128,378 p4,422,s18 
"r!Z:,lZZ "rr1,1ZZ P3,068,40s 

"rr:?,,2?:

8,619

Disposals (72,143) - - (31,660) (1,402,8s7) (1,506,660)

Balances at end of year 56,235 4,422,518 1,382,532 1,333,886 1,665,548 8,860,719

Accumulated Depreciation
and Amortization

Balances at beginning of year

Depreciation and amortization
93,500 4,400,805 1,346,486 1,280,301 2,061,820 9,782,9L2

t7,429 4,506 20,706 396,566 442,826

Disposals (66,131) - - (31,560) (792,838) (890,629)

Balances at end of year 39,798 4,409,424 1,350,992 7,269,347 1,66s,11! !,ts!199
Carryins Amount F16,437 P13,094 P31,540 P64,539 F- P125f 10

ln 2017, the Group retired its fully depreciated furniture and fixtures with cost of P8,049'

The Group also sold its office equipment for P39,447 which is equivalent to its carrying amount.



ln 2016, the Group sold
consideration of p60g,929,
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its property and equipment located at the
resulting to a loss of F7,!02.

exploration site for a

1.1, Payables and Other Current Liabilities

This account consists of:

Note 2077 201.6Payable to:
Related parties
Third party

Advances from officers and employees
Accruals:

Professional fees
Utilities and other office expenses

Others

1.2 F1,043,549
447,549

368,924

200,000
tlg,437
233,191

P1,,120,172

256,924

190,000
204,153
333,921

P2,O95,o7o

Payable to related parties and advances from officers and emproyees are noninterest-bearing, dueand demandable, and are payable in cash.

Accrued expenses and other payables are normally settled within the following month.

Other payables consist of:

2077 20L6Retention payable
statutory payables

Others

F95,000
41,596
96,595

P95,000

50,047

788,974
F233,191 P333,921

1.2" Related Party Transactions

The Group, in its regular conduct of business, has transactions with its related parties. Theoutstanding balances and amount of transactions with related parties are as follows:

Nature of _ Amount of Transactions
f rrns.ction -----j

Receivable f rom relatedlai-ies
Entities under common monogement:

Alphaland Corporation (ALpHA)

Alphaland Heavy Equipment Corporation
The City Club at Alphaland Makati place, tnc
Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, lnc.

Acentic Philippines lnc.
Alphaland Aviation lnc.
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log Homes, lnc.
Choice lnsurance Brokerage, lnc.
Philweb Cambodia Ltd.

Allocated costs
Service fee

Allocated costs

Service fee
Reimbursements

Service fee
Allocated costs

Reimbursements

Sale of asset
Allocated costs

Reimbursements

Service fee

P2,794,966
16,800

s79,305

67,200
32,500

50,400

2,s00

^:

P2,794,966
168,000
579,305
84,000
32,500

100,800

27,447
796

418,019
629,5a1
190,450
1 18,560

F-
180,000

180,000

,ro,ooo
39,747

,ro,ool

F-
1.80,000

180,000

180,000

552,9 18

:
180,000

Philweb Corporation

P2,47
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Nature of
Transaction

Payable to r"t.t"oliiii
Amount of Transacliols 

.__gutstanding Balance
zutt 2016

Entities under common monogement:

Alphaland Southgate Tower, lnc. (ASTI)

Alphaland Makati place, tnc. (AMpt)
ALPHA

Philweb

Lease of office space

and utilities
Lease of office space

and utilities
Reimbursements

Allocated rent,
salaries and other

shared costs

P11,605 P1,566,707 ?5g3,g74 P582,35g

266,524 7L7,387 262,392
t87,782 787,782

4,614,938
350,62 1

PL,L20,172

Receivable from and payable to related parties are unsecured, noninterest-bearing, due anddemandable' and settlement occurs in cash. Receivable from related parties arising from servicefees are subject to the company's normal credit terms . tn 201,7 and 2016, the Group has not madeany provision for impairment losses relating to the amounts owed by related parties,

The Parent company had a cost sharing Agreement (the Agreement) with philweb for its share inrental and salaries of shared corporate services and its key rianagement personner" This agreementhas been terminated in October 2017.

Details of shared costs charged to the Group are as foilows (see Note L4):

2017 201,6 201,5Salaries and allowinces
Rental

Others

?1,935,720
6t1-,709

P3,234,369

1,380,569
P3,205,1,92

!,!73,349
28,919

?2,547,429 P4,6L4,939 F4,407,450

ln 2017, Philweb cease to be a related party of the Group.

Following are the intergroup balances presented under receivables account in the parent company,sseparate financial statements which were eliminated in the preparation of the consolidated financialstatements:

NatureofTransa.,ion + outstandinsBarance

Dividend receivable

Receivable from related parties
Tidemark

ABSTC

Working capital advances
Allocated rent, salaries,

P-

8 L3,946

7223,90L

195,406

P223,90L

utilities and reimbursements
932,25L

P4t9,307 ?L,1.56,r52

lntergroup balances which were eliminated in the consolidated financial statements are unsecured,
noninterest-bearing, due and demandable, and normally settled in cash.

The compensation of the key management personnel is included as part of the Agreement withPhilweb under the allocated salaries and allowances. subsequent to october 201,7, the
compensation of key management personnel of the Parent company is being handled by ASTI at no
cost to the Parent Company.
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13. Capitalstock

The composition of the parent Company,s capitalDecember 31.,2017 and 2016 is as follows:
stock consisting of all common shares as at

Authorized Shares Amount-P1 value
10,000,000,000 P10,000,000,000

lssued and outstanding
Subscribed 953,963,474 P953,963,474

1,59i.,036,5261,59L,036,526

Less su receivable
2,545,000,000 2,545,000,000

1.,495,000,000
2,545,000,000 F1,060,000,000

14. General and Administrative E-p""*,

This account consists of:

Note
Allocated expenses P2,547,429

2,log,t15
1,210,341

ggo,2t4

269,547
774,644
139,209

98,707

40,599

31,455
27,447
t6,4gt
6,779
L,69g

190,165

P4,674,939
4,914,255

931,507
1,723,769
2,049,949

369,391
55,933

705,502
442,926
563,139
643,94L
464,L04
194,942
976,429

2017 201,6 2015
t2

Salaries and wages
Professional fees
PSE listing fee
Rent

Supplies
Taxes and licenses
Utilities, dues and subscriptions
Depreciation and amortization
Medical and hospitalization
Representation
Communications
Transportation and travel
Mining exploration cost
Others

16

10

F4,407,450
5,793,506

732,ggg
'J,,123,769

2,770,757
302,579

1,192,703
1,093,730

856,500
378,609
976,500
569,741
291,704

1,593,983
840,134 82L

P7,936,924 PLg,6g0,45g P21,,927,639

15. Basic and Diluted Loss per Share

Basic and diluted loss per share is computed as follows:

20t7 ?016 2015
Net loss (a) (P19,208,400)

953,963,474

(F33,364,582)

953,963,474

(P40,021,100)

953,963,474

Weighted average number of
outstanding shares (b)

Basic and diluted loss per share
(a/b) (po.o2o1) (po.!p!g) (F0.0420)
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fi,:fJ:rT,ili:r1i::';:,or"nt'll''' common shares outstandins, thererore basic ross per share is

L6. Operating Leases

The Parent company is a party to a noncancellable lease agreement with AST; covering its office andparking spaces for a period of five years from January t,iiio, renewabre upon mutuar consent ofboth parties. The rease agreement was terminated on september 30, 20r.6.

under the terms of the covering lease agreements, the parent company is required to pay rentaland security deposits which are included as part oi "o*,", noncurrent assets,, in the consolidatedstatement of financial position aggregating P1,.4 million as at December 3i., 2016. These depositswill become refundable to the p*",it company at the end of the rease contract. As a resurt oftermination of the lease agreement with Asrl, the parent company expects to collect these depositswithin one year from reporting date' Accordingly, the parent iorp.ny reclassified these deposits to"Other current assets,, ,aaorni in 2Ol7 (see Note 6).

ln october 2016' the Parent company entered into a rease agreement with AMpl for its office space"The term of the lease shall commence on october i,o, zol|Jntil terminated by any party upon sixty(60) days advance written notice to the other party. in rvrarcrr i01,7, the rease agreement with AMprwas amended by both parties to stipurate a different office space.

Rent expense on leased properties amounted to P269,54i., p2.o million and pz.2million in 201,7,2015 and 2015, respectively (see Note 1.4).

17" lncome Taxes

ln 2077 and 2016, the provision for current income tax amounting to ?1,62,094 and p209,955,respectively' represents RClr for ABSTC' The Parent company had no provision for current incometax in 2017 and 2016 due to its tax loss position. ln 20L5, the provision for current income taxamounting to P219,688 represents the combined Mclr for the parent company and RClr for ABSTC.

The deferred tax assets on the following deductible temporary differences remain unrecognized asmanagement has assessed that it is not probable that sufficieni taxable profit will be available in thenear future against which the benefits of the deferred tax assets on these temporary differences canbe utilized,

20L7 201,6
NOLCO

Accumulated impairment losses on:
Deferred mining exploration cost
Receivables

Excess MCIT over RCIT

P44,435,570

2,6L3,940
41,550

29

P63.,252,141.

2,613,940
41,550

L,764
P47,091,099 P63,909,395



The Parent Company has NOLCO
Iuture taxable income as follows:

_29_

which can be carried forward and claimed as deduction from

Balance at
End of year Valid Until

Balance at
Year lncurred Begi of Year
2077

201.6

2015
2074

P-

23,679,676
P61,252,747

lncurred
F6,962,105

L7,256,270
20,377,195

P6,962,105

77,256,270
20,3L7,L95

2020
2079
2018
2017

23,6
P6,862,105 P23,679,676 P44,43

can be carried forward and claimed as

570
The Parent Company has excess MCIT over RCIT whichdeduction against future income tax liability as follows:

Balance at
Year lncurred
2015

201.4

of Year lncurred Expired
Balance at

End of year Valid UntilP29

!,735
,: P-

1,735
,,: 2078

2017P1,,764 F- P1,735 F29

Liff::tr1:1':1i*::x;:i*:.?:lilffff*me tax at statutorv income tax rate and provision

Benefit from income Iax computed at
2017 201-6 2015

statutory income tax rate
Expired NOLCO

Changes in unrecognized deferred tax assets
Expired MCtT
Add (deduct) tax effects of:

Share in net results of operation of an
associate

lnterest income already subjected to final

(?5,7X3,9921

7,t03,603
(5,046,706l.

1,735

4,120,563

(315,306)
12,097

(P9,946,389)

4,592,1.95

594,696

5,627,492

(835,345)

r97,325

(F11,,940,424)

5,962,705
203,279
29,203

6,662,476

(853,062)

255,51L

tax
Nondeductible expenses

erovision for inco
?762,O94 P209,955 P21g,6gg

18. FinancialRisk Management OOl"ctir", 
"nA 

Roffi
The Group's principal financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, receivables(excluding advances to officers and employees), AFS financial asset, rental and security deposits, andpayables and other current riabirities (excruding statutory payabres).

l]j,,:lXlr:::l,irt:J'the 
Group's dealings in rinancial instruments is to rund its operations and
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The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and anaryze the risks faced by theGroup' to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to ,oniro, risks and adherence to limits. Riskmanagement policies and systems are reviewed regularly to refrect changes in market conditionsand the Group's activities' All risks faced by the cioup ur. in.orporateJin the annuar operatingbudget' Mitigating strategies and procedures are also devised to address the risks that inevitablyoccur so as not to affect the Group's operations and detriment forecasted results. The Group,through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined andconstructive control environment in which all employe", ,nl"rr,.nd their roles and obligations.
The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and riquidity

i,iX;r#rt otoD 
reviews and institutes policies for managing each of the risks and these are

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and othermarket prices will adversely affect the Group's income or the value of its holdings of financialinstruments' The obiective of market risk management is to manage and contror market riskexposures within acceptabre parameters, whire optimizing the return.

The Group is subject to minimal transaction and translation exposures resulting from currencyexchange fluctuations in relation to its financial instruments. The Group regularly monitorsoutstanding financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and maintains itrem at a levelresponsive to the current exchange rates so as to minimize the risks related to these foreigncurrency denominated assets and liabilities.

Credit Risk

credit risk is a risk due to uncertainty in counterparty's ability to meet its obligations. whencounterparty defaults, the maximum exposure is equal to the carrying amount of the relatedfinancial asset' The Group's credit risk arises principaily from cash and cash equivalents andreceivables (excluding advances to officers and employees), and rental and security deposits.

The Group trades mainly with recognized and creditworthy third parties as well as with relatedparties' lt is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject tocredit verification procedures. ln addition, the Group only deals with financial institutions dulyevaluated and approved by the BOD.

The table below shows the credit quality per class of financial assets as at December 31:

20t7
Neither past Due nor lmpaired

Standard
Grade

Loans and receivables:
Cash in banks and
cash equivalents*
Receivables**

Rental and security
deposits* *i

AFS financial asset

P40,738,075

3,759,901
,: F40,738,075

3,759,801

t,441,579

F-
4L5,709

B-
41,550

P40,738,075

4,2L7,060

7,44t,579
t,441,579
1,ggg,g50

F47,939,40s 709F47,939,405
'Excludes cosh on hond omountinj tiF76,7Err Excluding odvonces to officers ond employees.
rr+ Presented under,,Other current ossets" occount.

Past Due but
not
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2076wuitt"rpa.ffi
Standard

GradeLoans and receivablef
Cash in banks and
cash equivalents*
Receivables**
Rental and security

deposits
AFS financial asset

F145,810,90s

5,262,687

1,447,579
1,999,950

P1.45,810,905

5,262,681

1,447,579
t,

P1s45X5,115

F_
P_ F- P145,810,905

41,550 s3o4,237

1.,447,579
1,999,950*Errlud"t@

*r Excluding odvonces to officers ond employees.

The credit quality of the financial assets is managed by the Group using internar credit quarityratings' High grade consists of financial assets from counterparties with good financial conditionand with relatively low defaults' This also includes tr"nr".iion, with rerated parties. Financiarassets having risks of default but are still lollectibtu .ru lonrio*ed as standard grade accounts.

n*ftIT':'ril3,ffJ;l|ivalents are considered high grade as these pertain to deposits and

;L:::ffiili}j: " 
financial assets that are pasr due but not impaired as at December 3L, 2017 is

Days Past Due
Amount----_

31 to 60 davs P257,098
158 611

P415,709

liquiditv Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they falldue' The Group manages liquidity risk by forecasting prolected cash flows ano maintaining abalance between continuity of funding and flexibiliiy in 

-operations. 
Treasury controls andprocedures are in place to ensure that sufficient cash is maintained to cover daily operational andworking capital requirements' Management closely monitors the Group,s future and contingentobligations and sets up required cash reserves as necessary in accordance with internalrequirements,

The Group's payable to related parties and advances from officers and employees amounting toP1'4 million as at December 31, 2017 and 2015 are due and demandable. The remaining balance ofpayables and other current liabilities (excluding statutorf pavaures) amounting to p957,574 andP668'027' as at December 31, 2077 and 2016, respectively, have a maturity of less than threemonths.

Past Due but
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The table below presents the financial assets and liabilities of the Group whose carrying amountsapproximate fair varues due to the short-term nature of the transactions:

20L7 201.6Financial Assets
Loans and receivables:

cash and cash equivalents p4o,764,gI1 p3.45,g37,631.
Receivables* 

,- 4,Lll,sto s,262,681,
Rental and security deposits** l,441,S7g

P46,381,q9O P151,100,312
Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities -

Payables and other current liabilities*** pZ,g7O,O46 p2,045,023
* Exctuding odvances to oyiciEinifiioyd
** Presented under "other current assets" occount os at December 37, 201.7.*** Excluding stotutory payables.

Rental and Security Deposits. The fair value of rental and security deposits as at December 31, 2016amounted to F1'4 million' Fair values are estimated by discounting the expected cash flow using adiscount rate of 2.45%. This fair value measurement approach is categorized under Level 2 of fair
value hierarchy (significant observable inputs).

AFS Financial Asset' AFS financial assets pertain to an investment in unquoted securities that are
measured at cost since the fair value of the shares are not readily available,

Capital Management policv
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure its ability as a going concern
and that it maintains healthy capital ratios in order to support its business operations and maximize
shareholder value"

The Group considers its total equity amounting to P635.0 million and p652.3 million as at
December 31,2017 and 2016, respectively, as capital employed,

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio which is calculated as total debt
divided by total equity' Total debt comprises of payable and other current liabilities. Total equity
comprises all components of equity.

The debt-to-equity ratios as at December 3L are as follows:

20L7 201,6

0.004:1 0.003:1

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in
economic conditions, To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust its
borrowings or raise capital, No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes in 201.7
and 2016.

Total debt ?2,4t1,632
635,025,915

P2,11,3,181,
652,344,890Total
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19. sesmen, trfi;i*
A segment is a distin
services (business r":::l?!1" componenl

l g e o g ra p h i c r 
"u 

r. n r,l' " " 
;i'-'';' ;ffi :?ir" ff: T;',. f. 

t 

lii 1; "_r::::o either in providing types ofa Particular economic 
"^rir;;;;;;

J::"H[,"##]i:::Ufl:.,,.,ion on business segrnents as at and for the years ended

2077

segment nevenG Stock Transfer

sffi ffi I;:L"J'I-"' custorners

lnterest income
Other income
lncome from other segments

.i.,.
Dep166isliep and amortizatton

"*ffiilfl,T:H1tf 
expense

P_
2,000,000

1,019,603

1,70:

(rqzrspo6t
(28,soL)

(5,87s,23s)

F7,472,89o

31,418

110
180,000

7,684,478
(11,68s)

(1,101,000)

Eliminations

F-
(2,000,00o)

(z,raqooo)

Total

Pt,472,890

1,051,021

1,816

1tt,zos,e@

Profit
(40,sss)

(7,7s6,23s)

Segment Revenue
Revenue from external customers
tnterest income
Other income
lncome from other segments
)hare in net results of ooprari

F_
2,757,642

28,704

of an associate 0t,rur,rrrl
(ls,971,,9271

(43s,643)
(17,464,468)

Stock Transfer

P1,479,480

26,841,

7,437
180,000

1.,687,758

(7,183)
(96s,164)

Eliminations

p-
P7,479,480

2,784,483

30,141

(18,
(180,000)

Oq,qaq:frf

De.preciation and amortization

3,,:::,c-.-1:"t 
a nd adm inistrative expense

&grf ion for. .rrr.ni in.or.iu,
Profit (209,9s

(442,826ll
(78,247,632:l

F507,456
P-

(20e,9ss)

582
P4,766,780

f217:91,1,,246) P654,458,o71

,roooo

Assets
3,872,

F1,s6&202,537

20L5
Mining,

Exploration and Stock Transfer
Segment RevenG
Revenue from external customers
lnterest income
Other income
lncome from other segments
share in net results of onerar

P-
2,833,830

26,26r

P7,463,297

9,709
1,3a2

198,200

Eliminations

*-

(198,200)

Total

P7,463,297
2,843,539

27,643
s of an associate

Depreciation and amortization

(22,208,2s21

-

(19,348,167)
1.,672,588

(854,704)
(20,340,4s4)

(1,796)
(928,88s)

(198,200)

198,200

,r,ror,rrl
(77,873,773)

(8s6,s00)
(21,077,13s)

Other.general and administrative expense
lleyision for current income tax

Profit
543,348)

19,659)

Fs22,248 19,688)

?7,548,377,682
,031

P40,027,tool

--

Mlning
txploration and

Assets

(18O,OOo)

180,000

2016
Mining.

Exploration and
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ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO.,

DECEMBER 37,20T7,2015 
AND 2015

Below is a schedule showing financialsoundness 
indicators for the years 2017,2016 and 2015,

2077Current/Liquidity Ratio
Current assets

201_6
2015

Current liabilities
22.65:l

F54,625,74g

2a71,692

75.26:7
P15g,03g,gg1 1.2.97:L

PL94,945,g34
Solvency Ratio 2,113,7g1 1.4,256,356

|:.l|]:, *t"re depreciation and amortizationrotal liabilities
(7.s5):1

(P19,167,911)

2,4L7,632

(15.58)r1
(F32,921.,756)

(2.75):1
(P39,164,600)

Debt-to-equity Ratio
Total liabilities

2,L73,LS1, 1.4,256,956

Total

Asset-to-equity Ratio
Total assets
Totalequity

535,025,915
652,344,990

0.004:1
?2,471,632

1.00:1
P637,437,447

0.003:1
P2,1.13,1_91.

i..00:1

O.O22:l
F14,256,356

6W76,047

1..02:1
P654,45g,071

P553,032,403
,81'5 652,344,890 638,776,047Profitability Ratio

Net loss

Total
(0.03):1

(P19,2Og,4OO)

535,025,915

(0.05):1
(P33,364,582)

652,344,890

(0.06):1
(P40,021.,100)

638,776,047
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Framework forthe pr, 
--..-.---'-

statements eparation 
"no r."r"rl._illiillnl"i

3:t""' 
tr"r@,riectives 

and quaritative characteristics
PFRS Pr..ti.. st.t.runt M. nuiil,il;"_*

Philippine Financiat Reporting Standards (pFRS)

PFRS

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PFRS 1 (Revised)

..,,,!,,v,,,8u15 ro t t_t(5 1;Additional Exemptions forFirst-time Adopters

Am^-J*^-, - 

-

^,,,truurnenr io pFRs j.: Limited Exemption fromComparative pFRS 7 Disclosures f";;;;;:;;;"
Adopters

-----Amendmentr,ootffi
semovalof Fixed Date for mor,,r" Oj;;;,
^,,,crrurnenfs Io pl_lRs 1; Government Loans
(hrrok^-^rn- .--PFRS 2 -,,q, E_worEu rayment--_-----.-
Amendmp.rc r^ DEt,c!v r rr\J z; vesung Conditions andCancellations

^,,,Eiluiltenfs to pFFis 2: Group cash-settled share_based Payment Trarrsactions

BusinessaorO,nu,,.F-.---.-----_
Amendment,oot*rm
Consideration in a Business Combination

PFRS 3 (Revised)

n, ilsilurilenr to pl-R5 3: scope Exceptions for JointVentures---___
lnsurance aon,rua,, 

-

-_----.-Amendmentrroprniffi
PFRS 4



i;:;:xffi'Assetsr.,m

,rr,oruilon ro, .nr rr",ffi
Financial lnstrurnents: Disclosures

Amendments to pFRS 7; Transition

i::lrr".tstopFRsr,*ffi
Amendments to pFRS r, 

^ffi1:I,r - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to pFRs 7; tmproving;rr";r*,
Financial lnstruments

Amendments to pFRS 7, Oir.lorrru, _irGf olFinancial Assets

Amendments to pFRS Z, Oir.lorrr.riilIil!
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

Amendment to pFRS 7: Servicing Contrr.t,
Amendment ro pFfS 7: OrOf,..U,f,,, lof-,fluAmendments to pFRs z to conoerisfffi;il FinanciarStatements

Operating Segments

Amendments to pFRS g:Aggregation 
or OOffiSegments

Amendments to PFRS 8; Reconcilia,ion of ,f*l*JJthe Reportable Segments,Assets to tf,. iniity,s Assets
Financial lnstruments: Classification rnA r".*rur*iof Financial Assets

Financia I I nstru me nts : Classification u nr r"Iililiof Financial Liabilities

Amendments to nFRS 9: Mandatory erf..,i* oliu JPFRS 9 and Transition Disclosures

Consolidated Financial Statements

Amendments to pFRS 10: Transition e uidance

Amendments to pFRS 10: lnvestment Entities

Amendments to pFRS 1"0: lnvestment Entities:Applying
the Consolidation Exception

Joint Arrangements



PFRS

PFRS 12

, rifle
H
iAmendmenu,oprF:Transition Cr,a.nF_
AmendmentraorFR-
of rnterests in roinr'o-r11: 

Accounting fo,.as;;;

-

O,t.torrru of ,n,"r"r,ffi
Amendmentr ao pfn

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

Amendments to pFRs dtnvil,;, r*,,*

I 
the consotioation r;;u,il#"srment 

Entities: Applvins

H
lfl::::n::"' o'

Fair Value M".rrr.

lililH""o oto

I

PFRS 13

,,,,,=,,u,rrerrr ro pl_RS L3: portfolio 
Exception

Regulatory D"fe...FPFRS 14

Philippine Accounting Standards (pAS)

PAS
Title

Presentationor'nffi

-

Amendmentr,oOaSffi
lnstruments and Obligations Arisins on I inrir{.ii^^

Adopted

-

Not
Adopted

Not
ApplicablePAS 1 (Revised)

An,,,E,,urrerrs ro pAs 1 (Revised): presentation of rtemsof Other Comprehensive lncome

-

Amendment,o rO
Requirements for Comoa[ative pro"o^r^+;^^

PAS 2

| ^,lenqmenrs to pAS 1; Disclosure lnitiative

lrnventotes 

-

l statement of arrn

-

AmendmentstopASffi

-

Accounting Ooti.i.r,
and Errors----

PAS 7

PAS 8

PAS 10 LvErLs drrer tne Heporting period

Construction Contracts

lncome Taxes

PAS 11

PAS 12

Y I



PAS
Till

Adopted Not
AdoptedAmencimentr,oonsF

Underlying Assets 
'2 - Deferred r"' n.*Iior

Property,plantandF

Not
Applicable

PAS 16

ffi;#;l'toPAs,@
Amendmenttopash
Proportionate nesiatr-'':tgvarUd(loD 

Method -

Depreciation- 
"-"orcl7l€nt of Accumulated

-

Ampnd-o^*"^^^^H

PAS 17

"_. 1..-,"-,'" ru rA) Ib: property, plant andcqurpment _ Clarificati
Depreciation lra ;::l,of .Accepta ble Methods of

Arnendmo ) 1b: Agriculture: Bearer plants
Leases

PAS 18 11evenue

PAS 1.9

(Revised) I Emproyee Benefits
Iru
lfr"nu..nr,o pe
Employee Contributions

-

Amendment to tO,
Market lssue

-

Accounting for Co,
Government errirt.n.'Iunt 

Grants and Discrosure of
PAS 20

PAS 21 ,,,E rilecrs oI changes in Foreign Exchange Rates
Amendment,tu,,nhstment in a Foreign Operation
Borrowingcosts 

--

Related Orur Oir.t

PAS 23 (Revised)

PAS 24 (Revised)

Amr

\ccr

'A) 24: Key Management personnel

)untins rnrtPAS 26

PAS 27
(Amended) I 

Senarate Financial Statements
I

I 
Amendments to pAS 27: tnvestment Entities

lA.mendmen,r,o pO
Financial Statements

lnvestments in Associates and Joint Ventures

-

Am^^l.^^-^-,^.---

PAS 28
(Amended)

^,,,srurilenfs ro pA5 2g: lnvestment Entities: Applyingthe Consolidation Exception

tdmo^t



Fina ncial lnstrrrur,r, ilJlili-
AmendmentstopASrrm
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
Amendment to pAS r, 

-

l; Classification of nig;;;

fllil1;iffi,;;jl'szffi
Amendmentsto PASrr,ffi
Holders of Equity lnstruments

Earnings per Share

lrt"ri, FiTncial Reporting

Amendmentto pAS:0, fnffi
sesment 

r nform ation for Tot.; 
^,,.1; 

. illii o,,,r,u,
Amendment to pAS 

.34:. Disclosu;;lmil
'Elsewhere in the lnterim finrn.i.in.por"t, '

lmpairment of Assets

Amendments to pAS 36: Recoverab;Amo;
Disclosures for Nonfinancial Assets

Provisions, Contingent Liabiti,i.rffi
lntangible Assets

Amendment to pAS 3g: Revaluation MethofProportionate Restatement of Accumulated

Amendmenr to pAS 38: Ctarificat,on oflGli[Methods of Depreciation and emortization

Fina ncial tnstrume nts: Recogn ition u nA frf *Jil"ni
Amendments to pAS 39:Transition ,nU ,rlilut-Recognition of Financial Assets ..i i,r.r.O, ,,u0,,,,,.,
Amendments to pAS 39: Cash fto* Huag;;;;G
of Forecast lntragroup Transactions

Amendments to pAS 39: The Fair VutuJffi
A m e n d me nts to pAS 3 9 : Fi na n c i. I C u. ru *ilor-*rl*
Amendments to pAS 39: Reclassification of financiaf
Assets

Amendments to pAS 39: Reclassification of n**i.f
Assets - Effective Date and Transition

PAS

PAS 29

*c
Adopted Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable

7
PAS 33

PAS 34

PAS 35

PAS 37

PAS 38

PAS 39



Amencimentr rnsSr>Embedded Derivatives
Amenoment,orOrF

r; Eligible Hedged ttemsffi;ffir#;i:@____.Accounting
Investrnent property

;nH#Jili{:fmBuSinesS ComOination-\,v,,J,,,p 
oerween PFRS 3,

fropurty .; ;;;;r;#r."lo'ot 40 when Classirying
property tt Property or owner-occupied

Amendmentto pAs 4r-r Agriculture; g..r., of,.if

lnterpretations

IFRIC 1

IFRIC 2

Title

-

Changes,n Er,r,in*F
SimilarLiabilities 

_ rcommissioning, r.r,*uiln_*I

Members,Share in a-tnstruments 
.operative Entities.;;;;;-

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Appticable

IFRIC 4 uetermlning Whether Bn Arre^_^*^ -.;-l--Lease 
. an Arrangement Contains a

-

Rightstornterests@
Restoration a nd Environmenta I Roh. t- ;r:+^.: _

tFRlc 5

rFRtc 6

IFRIC 7

_ 
__.-s.,re,rqwrrrtarron 

FUndS
tiabilities arising rro
Market - Waste Electrical dnd Flpcr.^^i^ r^..: -Llutpment
A nlvi,_r.,,,.b,rg rrtrSrdr€tlent Approach under pAS 29Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
D^^-^^^^. _rFRtc 9 ssment ot Embedded np

I nmendments to philipp,n",n,urrru,*ioi-ffi
I Embedded Derivatives

llnterimFinan.,.f nffi
l 
t"rri." con

l customer,orut,

-

TheLimitonrr.nffi
f undinB Requirements and,f,.,r,r,"r..i"n

tFRtc 10

lFRtc 12

tFRtc 13

IFRIC 14

Title

Philippine lnterpretations



Amendments to phirio -----
Prepayments or a urnile 

lnterpretat'on**E]
tmum Funding Requirement

HedgesofaNeilnvesl 

-

<aForeignoperation
Distri butions of No n_.;;;;;;;
Transfers of Assets from Customers

Extinguishing Financia 
--------- 

-Instruments I Liabilities with Equity

iliff,rrCostsin.h"@

PHILIPPINE INTERPRETATIONS - SIC

lntroduction of the Euro

Government Assistance - No Specific RelatiorilOperating Activities

Operating Leases _ lncentives

lncome Taxes _ Changes in the Tax r,r,r, J*Eilor its Shareholders

Evaluating the Substance of Transacrion, ,n*ilffiLegal Form of a Lease

Service Concession Arranger.n* rillrr*

i."ff:1. 
- Barter rransactions Invotving A;;t,rms

lntangible Assets - Web Site Costs
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Table of Contents

Schedule

-
A

Description

FinancialAssets
poge

N/a

N/n

L

N/A

N/a

B Amounts Receivable from Direclparties,anoprinciparsir.r."n"il".:Ji,,,?ff 
il:,iTlffi i;:,",:l,i,

il":,Jj: jiffil,fl1l,,".T,:fl 
il: j.:#ft whichareEriminatedduring

D lntangible Assets _ Other Assets

g Long_Term Debt

p lndebtedness to Related parties

G Guarantees of Securities of Other lssuers

H Capitalstock

A - The Group,s AFS finoncial asset does not ex
assets meosured at fair vatue throuso ort,,,ir'fiJ!r:::;i;::::;:lr1;;:::::",,::.rrossers.

B - All receivobles orises from the ordinor, ,ourru of businessD - No intongible ossets
E - No long term debts
F - Totdr indebtedness to rerated porties does not exceed five percent (5%) of totar assetsG - No guorontees of securities of other issuers

N/a

N/n

-
2

There are no financial
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Compact Holdings



SUPPLEMT*ro*l|!
| 

^E 
l,AVAITABLE FOR DIVIDEND OTCTNNAT,O*

DECEMBER gI,2OI7

Deficit as shown in the financial statements, at beginning of yearSdiuqtment for 2012 impairment i;;;;;';;r.srmpnr in r a.,L^:r:_

Net loss closed to deficit

(F356,425,19g)

223,495,475
(tEz,gzg,ltE)

(3,994,533)

(p]3a,etq,za6)



AtoK-BlG WEDGE GO., lNG,
ALPHALAND MAKATI PLACE
7232 AYALA AVENUE qORNER MALUGAY ST.,
BRGY. BEL.AIR, MAKATI CITY 1209 PHILIPPINES

January 19, 2018

TELEFAX NO.: +63.2,31 0-7100

..STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY
FOR SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS"

The management. of Atok-Big wedge. co., lnc. (the company) is responsible for thepreparation and fair presentation of the financial statements inciudini the schedules attached
ihereil, for-the years ended December 31, 2011, zola and 201s, in accordance with theprescribed financial reporting framework indicated therein, and for 

"r.h 
-inturnal 

control asmanagement determines. is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that arefree from material misstatement, wheiher due to fraud or error.

ln preparing the financial statements, m.anagement is responsible for assessing the Company,s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclo"sing, as aplltiiaue matters related to going concernandlsing the going concern basis of accountin!' unless management either intends to liquidate
the Company or to cease operations, or has no lealistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible in overseeing the Company's financial repor.ting process.

The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.

Ftygt Tacandong & Co.,1he independent auditor appointed by the stockholders, has auditedthe financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing,
and in its report to t'he stockholders, has expressed its opinion on'the fairness of presentation
upon completion of such audit.,.%

qTRoBERTO V. ONGPTN
Chairrnan & CEO

€.*e*"6
ERIC O. RECTO
Vice Chairman & president

Ubrr"&
cRrsrrNAA.Effiroqt
Senior Vice President for Finan"u
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GOVER SFIEET
for

AU DITED FINANGIAL STATEI\IIENTS

SEC Registration Number

,l 17l2 3 2 nlvl,lr "l la

Department requiring the report Secondary License Type, tf Applicable

mT-rl

The Commission and/or non-receipt of t'totice of Oeffu"s. f rrtfrer, non-re...,p,t,hdl ."t .*;;e th" c*p"rat.,o^ f,ffi-Cbility f"r. it,
deficiencies designated contact person MUST be an officer of the Corporation

COMPANY NAME

PRINCIPAL OFFIGEffi

Form Type

- "No. 
of stgckholdgg * Annuat Meetins (Montfr lg-eyL - -Lisg?lleg1gylgt / oryl_

I 4,zoo II ;r,. *-l 
f rz/sr -lI

CONTACT PERSON INFORMATION - ' "-..-' ]

^* -.--_--'._-_-.--l

Name of Contact person

t--__ -- -. ..*

L M'.9ry11]1!111__i
Email Address

cbzapanta@alphaland.com.ph

Telephone Number/s

L"eryl*l
Mobile Number

Alphaland lVtakati Place, 1232 AyalaAvenue corner Matugay
NorE 7: ln cose of deoth, resignotion or cessation of office of the offtii deturrtrd ,t ,*trri;;rt*,
within thirty (30) colendor doys from the occurrence thereof with information and complete contact

2: All Boxes must be properly:ond completety Jitted-up, Foilure to do so shall cause the
Commission ond/or non'receipt of Notice of Deficiencies. Further, non-receipt shall not excuse the

vle n u e c o r n elr M a I u g a v !i t r e e tl, Mla k altli

COMPANY INFORMA'TION -J
.____Company's Telephone Number/s

[rlgt:9:-''1-:l
Mobil: Number

0908-876225s

CONTACT PERSON'S ADDRESS
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uecemDer 29, 2015, valid until December 31, 2019
SEC Accreditation No.0207-FR-2 (croup A)

September 27, 2016, valid untit Seprember 27, 2019

8741 Paseo de Roxas

Makari city 1226 Philippines

Phone : +632 982 9100
Fax : +632 982 9111
Webslte .s@.rey€stacandong.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

The Stockholders and the Board of Directors
Atok-Big Wedge Co., lnc.
Alphaland Makati Place
7232 Ayala Avenue corner Malugay Street
MakatiCity

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying separate financial statements of Atok-Big Wedge Co,, lnc.,
(the Company) which comprise the separate statements of financial position as at Deiember 31, 20L7 and
201'6, and the separate statements of comprehensive income, separate statements of changes in equity and
separate statements of cash flows for the three years ended December 3!,20!7,20113 and 2015, and notes
to separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies,

ln our opinion, the separate financialstatements present fairly, in all material respects, the separate financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its separate financial performance and its
separate cash flows for the three years ended December 31., 2.017, 2016 and 2015 in accordance with
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (pFRS).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits In accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (pSA). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibitities for the Audit of the Seporate
Finonciol Stotements section of our report. We are independent of the Company ir accordance with the
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to the audit of the financial statements in the phil ppines, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Emphasis of Motter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Notes 1 and 7 to separate financial statements
concerning the delay in one of the planned drilling programs of Forum Energy Ltd,, an associate of a

subsidiary. The ultimate outcome of the uncertainty related to this delay cannot be presently determined.

TiiE F,!]EIER Oi: BEIN(, UNI]ER5TUt]D
,. jrlll l l Tn x I cl;ii-E r-ll,l riirl

RSnd
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Responsibilities of Manogement ond Those chorged with Governonce for the Seporate Financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial statements inaccordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable thepreparation of separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, ,ruhether due to fraudor error.

ln preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for asserising the company,sabllity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as apllicable, ,.ttarc related to going concern and usingthe going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidater the company or tocease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with'governance are responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the separate Financiol statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issu,: an auditors, report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high levelof assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
these could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken rrn the basis of these
separate financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financialstatements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those rislrs, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The rir;k of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud miy
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override cf internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internalcontrol relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

I Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a materia!, u;1ce'ft5inty .exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ablti*ty io continue as a going concern. lf we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required tt A?ta,a,. tgntlo$rlrg5u;'tiuditiirs'freport toto
the related disclosures in the separate financial statem ate, to
modify our opinion, Our conclusions are based on the audi[
auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause tne compan:irtF&#'ii-tl nue as a

going concern.

te of our
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' Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financiar statements, incrudingthe disclosures' and whether tr',a tapatata financial statements represent the underrying transactionsand events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

we communicate with those charged with g-overnance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
iillH [il]#ffilJi;,','J5l]:1';" "ait]inaing', 

in'r'iiie .iv signiricant dericiencies in internar contror

we also provide those charged with Sovernance with a statement that we have complied with relevantethical requirements regarding indepJndence, and communicate with them arr rerationships and othermatters that mav reasonablv be thought ;;il;;;';;;";il";".dence, and where appricabre, reratedsafeguards. 
,

REyEs Taceruooruc & Co.

fu).ea;,
EMMANUEL V. CLARINO

CPA Certificate No, 27458
Tax ldenttfication No, 102-084-004-000
BOA Accreditation No. 47g2;Valid until December 31., 20j.8
SEC Accreditation No. 1021-AR-2 Group A

Valid until March 27,2020
BIR Accredltatton No, 08-005 144-OOS-20L7

Valid untilJanuary !3t 2OZO
PTR No. 6607954 '.

lssued January 3, 201.9, Makati City

l

March 23,2078
Makati City, Metro Manila



ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO.,
SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF FIN
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December 31

{fi$

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Other current assets

4
5

6

?36,95L,297
5,369,909
9,239,449'

P1.47,822,'J.04

6,1,98,267
7,527,557Total Current Assets

52,560,554 155,537,922

Noncurrent Assets
lnvestments in subsidiaries
Ava ilable-for-sale financial asset
Property and equipment
Advances to mining right holders

7

8

1.0

T

1.6

645,594,229
1,ggg,g50

2L,260
1,525,000

544,933,220
1,ggg,g50

gg,60g

1,525,000
1,44L,579

Rental and security deposits
Total Noncurrent Assets 649 140,439 549,999,357

LTAB|L|TY AND EqUtTY

Current tiability
P?yables and other current liabilities TL 72,OL0,773 P1.,852,467

Equity

Capital stock
Deficit

1,060,000,000 1,060,000,000
360,3O9,727 35q,425,l.gg)

Total 699,690,279 703,574,912

5ee accompanying Notes to Separate Financia! Statiments.

t ro i€vrEgv 6,

?705,427,279



ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC.

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOM]E

Years Ended December 31

Note 2077 20:16 201,5

GENERAL AND ADTIINISTRAT|VE EXPENSES 14 (F6,904,136) (p17,900,1:t1) (p21,195,158)

OTHER INCOME
Dividends
I nte rest
Others

7 2,000,000
4 L,019,603 2,757,6t12 2,833,930

1.,463

3,019,603 2,757,6t12 2,835,293

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

PROVISION FOR CURRENT INCOME TAX

(3,894,533) (15,142,469) (18,359,865)

29t7

NET LOSS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(3,884,533) i\75,742,469) (18,359,894)

rorAL coyj.T.ll{ENffi (t3,8!a,593) (p15,i42,4(;9) (p18,3s9,8941

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SI=IARE 15 (F0,004x) (F0.015e) (P0.01e2)

See occompanying Notes to Separote Finonciol Stdtements.



ATOK.BIG WEDGE CO., INC.

SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Years Ended December 31

Note 2017 201,6 2075

CAPITAL srocK - Fi par value 13 F1,060,000,000 p1,060,000,0c0 p1,0G0,000,000

DEIICIT

Balance at beginning of year
Net loss

(356,425,188)
(3,894,533)

(34!,282,71,9) (322,922,825\
(15,142,469) (19,359,994)

E.lq." qt end of year (360,309,721) (356,425,188) (341.,282,71.91

?699,690,279 P703,574,81.2 P7t8,717,291

See occomponylng Notas to Seporote Finonciol Stotements,

fffi ? ? tri+r.=ErFF r = a-'



ATOK-B|G WEDGE CO., tNc.
SEPARATE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Enderj December 3X.

Note 2077 2016 2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIV]TIES
Loss before income tax
Adjustments for:

Dividend income
Interest income
Depreciation and amortization

(P3,994,533)

(2,000,000)
(1,019,603)

29,901
(2,75i"54;)

435,,643

7"702

(2,933,830)

854,704

(P15,tLi'.,4691 (P18,359,865)

7

4

10

10Loss on sale of
Operating loss before working capitat cfranges
Decrease (increase) in:

Receivables

Other current assets
lncrease (decrease):in payables and other current

liabilities l

(6,875,235)

1,951.r599
(270,318)

L58,246

(17,45i',3661

(773,035)
(6L3,413)

(20,338,991)

(923,263)
(861,99s)

5,139,307
Net cash used for operations
lnterest received
lncome tax paid

(5,135,719)

986,473

(12,034,805

(30,879,61.9)

2,797,636
(1_6,994,9421

2,936,098

Net cash used in operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to:

lnvestments in subsidiaries
Property and equipment
Advances to mining right holders

7

10

1.0

4,L49,246

(100,761,008)

39,447

1,579)
pq3) (74,1s0,4221

1t,tos1
(77,51.41

608,929

(s,ssi)

1421.,8911
[oqeeds from dispqsal of rty and equipment
Net cash provided by (used in) i activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
OF YEAR

(100,721,561) 529,649 1425,257)

(t04,87O,8071 (27,55L,334) (1,4,575,679)

741,822,104 169,373,439 183,949,177

CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR t36,951,297 pL41,,822,,104 pL69,373,438

COMPONENTS OF CASH AND CASH EqUIVATENTS
Cash on hand and in banks
Short-term placements

71,576
35,375

F36,95

El: rF- -::--=."*
e__.L.,-.--. i -, rl ir.,,"1._l +_,.-i P!,a79:764

,Eiir,
r rl;

.+5?:6,
168;
':,': ,r**
s9:i,#,q

See occomponying Notes to Seporlte Financiol Statements,



ATOK-BIG WEDGE CO., INC.

NOTES TO SEPARATE FINAIVCIAL STATEMENTS
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND

FOR TI.iE THREE YEARS ENDED EECEMBER ?1,,20L7,2016 AND 2015

1, Corporate Matters

Corporate lnformation

Atok-Big Wedge Co., lnc. (the Company) was incorporated and registered with the philippine
Securities andiExchange Commission (SEC) on September 3, 1931. The Company's corporate life
was extended to another 50 years from September 25, 198L. The Company's prrimary purpose is to
engage in the business of exploration and development of mining, oil, ga:s and other natural
reso u rces.

The Company,listed its shares in the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) on Janrary 8, 1948. As at
December 31',2017 and 2016, 953,963t474 shares of the Company are listed in 1he pSE.

As at December 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company, through its whollv-owned subsidiary,
Tidemark Holdings Limited (Tidemark), has 20.00% and27.L4% interest in Forum Energy Ltd. (FEL),

respectively. FEL's shares were listed and traded at the London Stock Exr:hange's Alternative
lnvestment Ma.rket untilJune 26,20!5. On March 22,2OL7,the Board of Directors (BOD)approved
the subscriptioh to additional 6,666,667 new shares of FEL (through Tidemark) at USD0.30 a share or
a total of USD2.0 million. Together with the subscription simultaneously made by other major
shareholder of,FEL, the new subscription resulted to the decrease of the Company's ownership in
FEL from 27.t4% in 2016 to 2O,OO% in 2017, The additional subscription was ratified by the
stockholders on May L0,20t7.

FEL has interests in various service contracts as follows:

Service Contract I nte rest
Service contract 72 (Reed Bank)

Service contract 40 (North Cebu)

Service contract 1aA (Nido)

Service contract 148 (Matinloc)

Service contract 148-1 (North Matinloc)
Service contract 14C-1 (Galoc)

Other service contracts

70%

t00%
8,47%

72.4L%

L9.46%
2.28%

5%-9%

As at December 31, 20L7 and 2016, the Company is 69.75

holding company incorporated in the Philippines, The ult
Holdings, lnc,, a:Philippine entity engaged in holding and inve

The Company's reBistered address is Alphaland Makati F zlzSzhYala nvenJiT alugay

Street, Makati City.
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Status of the Sisnificant Exploration

service contract 72 (Reed Bank), FEL's principal asset is a7o%interest in Service contract (sc) 72which covers an area of 8,800 square kilometers in the west philippine sea. srl 72 is currently underSub-Phase 2 of its exploration, However, the Philippine government was unable to grant FEL the

ffi[ln:i:'r:t,'", 
vessels for drill site survev work due to the territoriat detiberations in the west

on February 26' 2015' the Department- of Energy (DoE) grant ed Force Mrjeure to sc 72 workcommitments effective December L5,201'4, tn view of this,Ill exploration activities in the block aresuspended until the DoE notifies FEL to commence drilling. on July 12, zo3.6,the permanent courtof Arbitration iin the Hague released a ruling on the miritime case filed by the Republic of thePhilippines against the People's Republic of china. ln particular, the Tribunal ruled that Reed Bank,where sc 72 lies, is within the Philippines' Exclusive Economic Zone as defirred under the UnitedNations convention on the Law of the Seas. ln Novembe r 2o!7,the Associatir:n of southeast AsianNations and china has arrived at a negotiation to commence tarks on drafting; an effective code ofConduct in the disputed seas.

Upon lifting of the Force Majeure, FEL will have 20 months to complete tl.re sub-phase 2 workcommitment comprising the drilling of two wells. The terms of the succeeding srub-phase will remainthe same but will be adjusted accordingly. As at December 31., 20L7, Force Mcrjeure is still enforcedand FEL is still'waiting until this is liftei in order to commence the remaining sub-phase 2 workcommitment' The ultimate outcome of the uncertainty on the conduct of drillipg operations cannotbe presently determined,

service contract 40 (North Cebu). The Libertad Field had been shut-in since August 201s. lt wasdeemed that FEL would not be able to resume operations due to fluctuating pressure, thus FELdecided to decsmmission the field and to plug and abandon the 195-i. producticin well permanently,

service controct 14A (Nido), 148 (Matinloc) and 148-1 (North Motinloc). The three fields producedoilon a cyclical basis in 2017 and20L6. Totalproduction in2017 was L25,755 barrels, oran averageof 345 barrels of oil per day (bopd).

service contract 14C-1 (Goloc/. The Galoc Field produced a total of j.,5 million lcarrels of oil in 2017or 4,001 bopd, as compared to 1.9 million barrels or 5,!34 bopd in 2016. Cumulative production
starting october 2008 up to reporting date is 20.1g million barrels of oil,

other service controcts. FEL has participating interests in other service contracts including sc6A
(octon) and scL4c-2 (west Linapacan), among others, which are currently under exploration phase.

The Company ehtered into various Memoranda of Understanding for the potential acquisition of
certain mining rlights' Total advances to the mining right holders amounted to p1.5 million as at
December 31', 2Q17 and 2016. ln view of the prevailing regulatory environment, the Company is
continuously evaluating the feasibility of this potential acquisition.



-3-

Significant Coiporate Acts

Stock Option Plon (SOP), ln 2015, the BOD approved the SOP which provides among others the
allocation of no more than 5% of the authorized capital for the SOP; each grant is for three years
and will vest 1/3 for each of the succeeding years; and the strike price shall not be less than B0% of
the market value at the time of grant. This was ratified by the stockholders on May gt, ZOt6.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company is still completing the requirements for the SEC's approval of
the exemption from its registration requirements and the PSE's approval of the listing of the shares
under the SOP. To date, no grants have been made under the SOP.

Approval and Authorization for lssuance of Separate Financial Statements

The separate financial statements as at December 31,2017 and 20L6 anc for the years ended
December 3I,' 2017, 2016 and 2015 were approved and authorized for issue by the Executive
Committee of the BOD on March 23,2018.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

i

Basis of Preparation
The separate financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial
Reporting Standards (PFRS) issued by the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council and

adopted by the SEC. This financial reporting framework includes PFRS, Philippine Accounting
Standards (PAS), Philippine lnterpretations from lnternational Financial Reporting lnterpretations
Committee (lFRlC), and SEC provisions.

The Company also prepares and issues consolidated financial statements for the same period in

accordance with PFRS as the separate financial statements presented. ln the consolidated financial

statements, subsidiary undertakings have been fully consolidated, Users of these separate financial

statements shotrld read them together with the consolidated financial statements in order to obtain

full information on the consolidated statements of financial position, ,:onsolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries. The consolidated
financial statements are available for public use and may be obtained at the Company's registered

office address and at the SEC and PSE.

Measurement Bases

The separate financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso (Peso), the Company's functional

and presentation currency, All values are rounded to the nearest Peso, except otherwise indicated.

The separate financialstatements of the Company have been prepared on the historicalcost basis of
accounting, Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for anrasset and fair value of consideration received in exchange for incurring liability' Fair

value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly

transaction between market participants at the transaction date,

The Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which

sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs

and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs'
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the separate financialstatements are categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowestlevel input that is significant to the fair value measurement., . whole:

Level L - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active market for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 - valrlation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
mea'surement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the separate financial statements on a recurring
basis, the conipany determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes of assets andliabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of
the fair value hierarchy as explained above,

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair value is included in Note Lg.

Adoption of New and Amended pFRS

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except for
the adoption of the following new and amended PFRS which the company adopted effective for
annual periods,beginning on or after January t,20tl:

o Amendments to PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows - Disclosure lnitiotive - The amendments
require entities to provide information that enable the users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,

o Amendmen,ts to PAS 12, lncome Taxes - Recognition of Deferred Tox Assets far L)nreolized
losses - The amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets related to unrealized
losses on debt instruments measured at fair value, to address diversity in practice.

o Amendments to PFRS 12, Disclosures of lnterests in Other Entities - Clorificotion of the Scope of
the Standard - The amendments are part of the Annual lmprovements to pFRS 2014-201.6 Cycle
and clarify that the disclosure requirements in PFRS 12 apply to interests in entities within the
scope of PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations except for
summarized financial information for those interests (i,e. paragraphs 810-8L6 of pFRS 12).

i

The adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS did not have any material effect on the
separate financial statements, Additional disclosures have been included in the notes to separate
financial statements, as applicable.
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New and Amended PFRS in lssue But Not yet Effective
Relevant new iand amended PFRS which are not yet effective for the year ended December 3t, ZOL7
and have not been applied in preparing the separate financial statements are summarized below,

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 201.8:

o PFRS 9, Finonciol lnstrumenfs - This standard will replace PAS 39, Finoncial lnstruments:
Recognition qnd Meosurement (and all the previous versions of pFRS g). lt contains
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
impairment, hedge accounting a nd derecognition.

PFRS 9 requires all recognized financial assets to be subsequently measured at amortized cost or
fair value (through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income), depending on the
classification by reference to the business modelwithin which these are held and its contractual
cash flow cha racteristics.

For financial liabilities, the most significant effect of PFRS 9 relates to cases where the fair value
option is taken: the amount of change in fair value of a financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL) that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognized in other comprehensive income (rather than in profit or loss), unless this creates
an accounting mismatch,

For the impairment of financial assets, PFRS 9 introduces an "expected credit loss" model based
on the concept of providing for expected losses at inception of a contract; it will no longer be
necessary for there to be objective evidence of impairment before a credit loss is recognized.

For hedge accounting, PFRS 9 introduces a substantial overhaul allowing financial statements to
better reflect how risk management activities are undertaken when hedging financial and

nonfinancial risk exposures.

The derecognition provisions are carried over almost unchanged from PAS 39.

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contract with Customers - The new standard replaces PAS 11,

Construction Contracts, PAS 18, Revenue and related interpretations. lt establishes a single

comprehensive framework for revenue recognition to apply consistently across transactions,

industries and capital markets, with a core principle (based on a five-step model to be applied to
all contracts with customers), enhanced disclosures, and new or improved guidance

(e.g. the point at which revenue is recognized, accounting for variable considerations, costs of
fulfilling and obtaining a contract, etc.),

Amendment to PFRS !5, Revenue from Controct with Customers - Clorification to PFRS 15 - The

amendment's provide clarifications on the following topics: (a) identifying performance

obligations; ,(b) principal versus agent considerations; and (c) licensing, The amendments also

provide some transition relief for modified contracts and completed contracts.
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Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Poyment - Clossification and Meosurement of Shore-bosed
Payment :Tronsoctions - The amendments clarify the effects of vesting and non-vesting

conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payment transactions, the
accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding
tax obligations, and the effect of a modification to the terms and condition of a share-based
payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity settled.

Philippine'lnterpretation IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Tronsactions and Advonce Consideration -
The interpretation provides guidance clarifying that the exchange rate to use in transactions that
involve advance consideration paid or received in a foreign currency is the one at the date of
initial reco[nition of the nonmonetary prepayment asset or deferred income liability.

Effective for arinual periods beginning on or after January 1,20!9:

r PFRS 16, Leoses -The most significant change introduced bythe new standard is that almost all

leases will be brought onto lessees' statements of financial position under a single model
(except leases of less than 12 months and leases of low-value assets), eliminating the distinction

between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting, however, remains largely unchanged

and the distinction between operating and finance lease is retained.

o Philippine lnterpretation IFRIC 23, Uncertointy Over lncome Tox Treotments - The interpretation
provides gr-iidance on how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting for income taxes

under PAS 12, lncome Taxes, in particular (i) whether uncertain tax treatments should be

considered separately, (ii) assumptions for taxation authorities' examinations, (iii) determination

of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, and

(iv) effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

Deferred effectivity -

Amendment to PFRS 70, Consolidoted Finonciol Statements and PAS 28, lnvestments in

Associotes ond loint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assefs Between on lnvestor and its
Associote or Joint Venture - The amendments address a current conflict between the two
standards and clarify that a gain or loss should be recognized fully when the transaction involves

a business, and partially if it involves assets that do not constitute a business. The effective date

of the amendments, initially set for annual periods beginning on or after January 3., 20L6, was

deferred indefinitely in December 2015 but earlier application is still permitted.

Under prevailing circumstances, the adoption of the foregoing new and amended PFRS is not

expected to haVe any material effect on the separate financial statements of the Company, except

for PFRS 16, Additional disclosures will be included in the separate financial statements, as

applicable. ,

The Company anticipates that the application of PFRS 16 might have a significant effect on amounts

reported in respect of the Company's leases. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable

estimate of that effect until a detailed review has been completed'
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I

Financial Assets and Liabilities

Dote of Recognition, The Company recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability in the separate
statement of financial position when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial
instrument. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date,
i.e,, the date that the company commits to purchase the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of the assets within the period generally
established by;regulation or convention in the market place.

lnitiol Recognition of Finoncial lnstruments. Financial instruments are recognized initially at fair
value of the ionsideration given (in the case of an asset) or received (in the case of a liability),
Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of all financial assets and liabilities, except
for financial instruments measured at FVPL. Fair value is determined by reference to the transaction
price or other market prices. lf such market prices are not readily determinable, the fair value of the
consideration is estimated as the sum of all future cash payments or receipts, discounted using the
prevailing market rate of interest for similar instruments with similar maturities,

j

"Day 7" Difference, Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value
of other observable current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation
technique whose variables include only data from observable market, the Company recognizes the
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a "Day 1-" difference) in the separate
statement of comprehensive income. ln cases where there is no observable data on inception,
the Company deemed the transaction price as the best estimate of fair value and recognizes
"Day 7" difference in profit or loss when the inputs become observable or when the instrument is

derecognized. r For each transaction, the Company determines the appropriate method of
recognizing the "Day L" difference.

Classificotion of Findncial lnstrumenfs. The Company classifies its financial assets into the following
categories: financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) investments, available-for-sale (AFS)

financial assets and loans and receivables. The Company classifies its financial liabilities into
financial liabilities at FVPL and other financial liabilities.

The Company determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where
allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end"

The Company does not have financial instruments classified as financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVPL and HTM investments.

AFS Finoncial Assets. AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are
designated as such or are not classified as another category of financial assets. After initial
measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value with unrealized gains or
losses recognized in other comprehensive income. These fair value changes are recognized in

other compreh€nsive income until the investment is derecognized or until the investment is

determined to ,be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in

other comprehgnsive income is reclassified to profit or loss. lnvestment in equity instruments
that do not haVe a quoted market price and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are

carried at cost.

This category in'cludes the Company's investment in unquoted shares of stock.
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Loans and Receivobles' Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed ordeterminablerpayments that are not quoted in an active market. arter iniiiai i..rur.r.nt, roansand receivables are carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method ress anyallowance foi impairment' The calculation takes irio account any premium or discount onacquisition and includes transaction'.orr, and fees that are an integrar part of the effectiveinterest rate' Gains and losses are recognized in separate statement of comprehensive income
Xr:::rtlt 

loans and receivables are derecognized or impaired, as weil as through the amortization

Loans and repeivables are included in current assets if maturity is within r.2 months fromreporting date. otherwise, these are crassified as noncurrent assets.

The companyls cash and cash equivalents, receivables (excluding advances to officers andemployees), and rentar and security deposits are crassified under this category,

other Finonciol Liobilities' other financial liabilities at amortized cost pertain to issued financiarinstruments or their components that are not classified or designated at FvpL and containobligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder as to settle the obligation other
:lXli: 

the exchange of fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of own

The amortized cost of a financial liability is the arnount at which the financial liability is measured atinitial recognition minus the principal repayments plus or minus the cumurative accretion using theeffective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount.lnterest expense' including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, ischarged to the separate statement of comprehensive income on an accrual basis using theeffective interest method' lnterest expense is added to the carrying amount of the instrument tothe extent that these are not settred in the period in which these arise.

The company's payables and other current liabilities (excluding statutory payables) are classifiedunder this category.

lmpairment of Financial Assets
The company alsesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financialor group of financial assets is impaired.' objective evidence incrudes observable data that comesto the attention of the company about loss events suctr as uut not limited to significant financialdifficulty of the counterparty, a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest orprincipal payments, probability that borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financiarreorganization. ,

Loans and Receivobles' lf there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assetscarried at amortized cost has been incurred, the amount of the ross is measured as the differencebetween the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flowsdiscounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. Time value is generally not consideredwhen the effect of discounting is not material. The amount of the loss shall be recognized in theseparate statem,ent of comprehensive income,

The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually forfinancial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assetsthat are not individually significant,
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lf it is determined that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessedfinancial asset' whether significant or not, the asset is incruded in the group of financiar assetswith similar credit risk and characteristics.and ,r,r, ertrp ;f financiar urr"iriJiottuctirery assessedfor impairment' Assets that are inJiviouatty rrr.rruiio, irprirrent and for which an impairmentloss is or continues to be recognized are not included in a collective assessment of impairment,
lf in a subsequent period' the amount of the estimated impairment ross decreases because of anevent occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previousry recognized impairment rossis reduced by adjusting the allowance account. Any subsequent reversar of an impairment ross isrecognized in the separate statement of compreh.nriuu in.ome, to the extent that the carryingamount of theiasset does not exceed its amortized cost at the reversar date.

AFS Finoncial Assets' ln the case of equity investments, evidence of impairment wourd incrude asignificant or prolonged decline in fair value of inr"rtm"nit"tow its cost. where there is evidenceof impairment' the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the acquisition cost andthe current fair value' less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized, isremoved from'other comprehensive and recognized in proiit or ross. lmpairment rosses on equityinvestments are not reversed through profit or loss. lncreases in fair value after impairment arerecognized directly in other comprehensive income.

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabiiities

:ffff[1f,"'.'ii;,i.ti::ff'il;::::i::,*T;wricabre a part of a financiar asset or part of a group

a' the right to receive cash frows from the asset has expired;

b' the company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an

:l':tltjil.|!,lXr 
tnt'in full without materiat detay to a third party under a ,pass through,

c' the company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) hastransferredrsubstantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred

i;J;:::I"d 
substantiallv all the risks and rewards of the asser, but has transferred controt of

when the company has transferred its right to receive cash frows from an asset and has neithertransferred no'retained substantially allthe risks and rewards of the asset nortransferred controlof the asset' the asset is recognized io the extent of the company,s continuing invorvement in theasset' continuing involvement that takes the form of a grar.nt"e over the transferred asset ismeasured at the lower of the original carrying amount of ttre asset and the maximum amount ofconsideration that the Company could be required to pay.

Financial Liabitities' A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability isdischarged or cancelled or has expired.

when an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
!irere11.terms,'or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchangeor modification ris treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a newliability' and the difference in the respective carryin! amounts is recognized in the separatestatement of comprehensive income.
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Offsetting of Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the separatestatement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currentry enforceable legal right to offsetthe recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assetsand settle the liabilities simultaneously. This is not generaily the case with master nettingagreements' and the related assets and iiabilitie, ur. pr.J.nted gross in the separate statement offinancial position.

Other Current Assets
other current bssets mainly consist of excess of input value added tax (VAT) over output vAT, rentaland security deposits, and prepayments.

y:! Revenue) expenses and assets are recognized net of the amount of VAT. The net amount ofVAT recoverable from the taxation authorities is recognized under "other current assets,, account inthe separate statement of financial position.

Prepayments' Prepayments represent expenses not yet incurred but already paid in cash.Prepayments are initially recorded as assets and measured at the .rouni of cash paid.subsequently, these are charged to expense as these are consumed in operations or expire with thepassage of time' Prepayments that are expected to be incurred no more than 12 months after thereporting date are classified as current assets. otherwise these are classified as noncurrent assets.

The Company',s investments in subsidiaries are carried in the
position at cost, less any impairment in varue. A subsidiary is an
control.

An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or
involvement with the investee and has the abirity to affect
investee.

Propertv and Equipment

li:otryand"equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization and anyaccumulated impairment in value.

The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price, after deducting tradediscounts and rebates, and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its workingcondition and location for its intended use.

Expenditures incurred after the property and equipment have been put into operation, such asrepairs, maintenance and overhaul costs, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year thecosts are incurred. ln situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures haveresulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of anitem of property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, theexpenditures arb capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment. The cost of replacing a
comRon3n,t of a.n item of property and equipment is recognized ii it is probable that the future
economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its cost can bemeasured reliabJy, The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognized.

separate statement of financial
entity in which the Company has

has rights, to variable returns from its
those returns through its power over the
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when significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, these areaccounted for bs separate items (major components) of property and equipment,

Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-rine method over the forowingestimated useful lives of the property and equipment:

Number of years
Explorhtion equipnrent 3
Leasehiold improvements
Furnitrire a nd fixtures
Office equipment
Transportation equipment

The estimated useful lives and depreciation
ensure that these are consistent with the
property and equipment.

5 or lease term, whichever is shorter
4

3

5

and amortization method are reviewed periodically to
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of

Fully depreciated items are retained as property and equipment until these are no longer in use.

when assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and the related accumulateddepreciation' amortization and any impairment in value are removed from the accounts, Anyresulting gain or loss is recognized in proiit or loss.

ndvances to Minine Right Holders
Advances to niining right holderc uru amounts paid in advance for the potential acquisition ofcertain mining irights' These are carried at the amount of cash paid and are reclassified to thecorresponding asset account when the mining rights for which the advances were made areultimately acquired,

Deferred mining exploration cost is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mineral resources, the determination oftechnical feasibility and the assessment of commercial viabilitf of the mineral resource.

Exploration andrevaluation activity includes:

r Gathering exploration data through geological studies;c Exploratory drilling and sampling; andr Evaluating the technical feasibility and commercial viability of extracting the mineral resource.

Deferred 
.lininq exploration cost is no longer classified as such when the technical feasibility andcommercial viability of extracting the mineral reserve are demonstrable, Deferred miningexploration cost is assessed for impairment, and any impairment loss is recognized, beforereclassification to mineral reserves.
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tTeairmlnt of Nonfffiets
The nonfinancial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstancesindicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. lf any such indication existsand where the carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverabre .roun,r, the asset orcash-generating unit is wiitten do*n to its recoverabre amount. The estimated recoverable amountof the asset isrthe higher of an asset', fuir value rur, ,ort, of disposal or rrJr.ln ,ru. rn assessingvalue in use' the estimated future cash flows ure oiscounied to their present value using a pre-taxdiscount rate that reflects current ,urtut assessment, oiil.," time value of money and the risksspecific to ther asset' For an asset that does not g"n"ru," rargery independent cash infrows, therecoverable amount is determined for tnu .rrt,_lg;r"ri,", ,nit to wfricfr tne asset belongs,lmpairment losses are recognized in the separate statement of comprehensive income.

An assessmentris made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previouslyrecognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. rf such indication exists,the recoverable amount is estimated' A previously ,..ognir.d impairment ross is reversed onry ifthere has been a change in the estimates used to deterrn'ine the asset,s recoverabre amount sincethe last impairment loss was tu,ocnir"a. lf that is flre case, the carrying amount of the asset isincreased to its recoverable 
"or.t' However, that increased amount ..inot exceed the carryingamount that would have been determined, net of aepreciation and amortization ror property andequipment' had no impairrnent loss been recognized for the asset in prior years, such reversal isrecognized in profit or loss' After such reve-rsal, tr,e iepreciation and amortization charge is

ir.,,.:'l*ljTlJiffiiJs 
to allocate the asset's revised.r,,yins amount, on a systematic basis over

A nonfinancial asset it d"tu.og;;;-upon disposal or when it is permanently withdrawn from useand no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any uuin o,. ross arising on

:::::ffi[:T 
of a nonfinancial asset is included in prorit or loss in the period in which it is

Equitv

capital stock' capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued. Unpaid subscriptions arerecognized as a reduction of subscribed capital shares,

Deficit. Deficit represents the cumulative balance of net loss.

Revenue Recoenition
Revenue is recolnized to the extent that the economic benefits will flow to the company and theamount of the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of theconsideration received, excluding discounts and rebates, The company has concluded that it is theprincipal in all of its revenue arrangements. The following specific recognition criteria must also bemet before revenue is recognized.

fl::ffiflrfffme' 
Dividend income is recognized when the company's right to receive the payment

lnterest lncome' lnterest income is recognized as the interest accrues taking into account theeffective yield on the assets.

other lncome' lncome from other sources is recognized when earned during the period.
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Expense Recognition
Expenses are recognized in profit or loss when a decrease in future economic benefit rerated to adecrease in anlasset oran increase in a liability has arisen,hrf .rn be measured reliably,
General and Administrotive Expenses. General and administrative expenses constitute costs ofadministering the business. These are recognized in profit or rcof services or when the expenses are incurred. 

)ss upon receipt of goods, utilization

Basiic and Diluted Loss per Share":isrc ano uttuted Lo

#;:#,?Tl,"|Jilili: ?f:,'J#liff:.:'i,':l^'T:^:1:t.,lo,:,o","share is ca,cu,ated by dividing
:nil'j'n',':i::ii;:,:?":xTli j1l1y:iti;;,ffi ';;';f.T:'il,:Til:ft:'fJ#:::?
::ffiT::i::::;,T:1t1'*'#lll:ji:r::*{::[1i",:,T.i1 ,;:,]:l;.1."^i,1flT:^Ju:iTJilj#Jff:;::iil:t;m;?":,::f::'::::.1,:;".;i;;;;,""d1:Lili#'1il::iJ,:::,:il5i:lthe effects of all the dilutive potential *ron shares.

Short-term EmOlovee Benefits

Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a rease is based on the substance ofthe arrangement at inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent onthe use of a gpecific asset or assets or the arrangemen, .onuuy, a right to use the asset. Areassessment is made after inception of the lease ont! ir oi. oi the following applies:
a ' there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewar or extension of the arrangemenu
b' a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless the term of the renewal or extensionwas initialli included in the lease term;

c' there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset;

d. there is a substantial change to the asset.

where reassessment is made, lease accounting shall commence or cease from the date when thechange in circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) and at the date ofrenewal or extension period for scenario (b).

compony os o Lessee' Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards ofownership are classified as operating leases. operating rease payments are recognized as an

,"Jff:tt 
in the separate statement of comprehensive inco"me on a straight-line basis over the lease

The Company provides short-term benefits to its employees in the form of basic pay, 1.3th monthpay' bonuses, employer's share on government contribution, and other short-term benefits.

The company recognizes a liability net of amounts already paid and an expense for servicesrendered by em'ployees during the year. short-term employee benefit liabilities are measured on anundiscounted bdsis and are expensed as the related service'is pioviaeo.
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Income Taxes

i!{{!iJi!;;1ffi[:1t: Ji:::LTfil:i3,J,,d::,I. taxab,e income ror the year, using tax

Deferred Tax' Deferred tax is provided,on all temporary differences at the reporting date betweenthe tax bases of assets and liabilities and their..rrv,nglrlrn,, ro,. financiar reporting purposes.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets arerecognized for all deductible temporary differences and carry forward benefits of the excess ofminimum cor'iorate income t.* irvrclr) over the ,.rrl,. .orporate income tax (RCrr) and netoperating loss carryover (NoLCo), to the extent that iiis probabre that future taxabre profit wi, be
:lfli::it 

against which the ueductiitu ,uroorurv differences and excess MCrr and NoLCo can be

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to theextent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxabre prorit wig ne avairante to arow a,or part of the defered income tax assets to be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to appry to the
f[ti.X[T lh::::t 

is realized or the liabilitv i, ,utir.i, iased on tax rate i"na1u, raws) in errect

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
ffil:i:f:ilT :l['ffii' 

liabilities and the dererrJd ,rr., i.L,. to the same taxabre entity and the

Foreign Currencv Transactions
The company determines its own functional currency and items included in the separate financialstatements are measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies areinitially recorded in the functionir currency rate at the transaction date.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functionalcurrency rate at the reporting date. All differenies are iaken to the separate statement ofcomprehensive income' Nonmonetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in aforeign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initiar transactions.Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchangerates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Related parties

Related party relationship exists when one party has the abirity to control, direcfly, or indirectlythrough one or more intermediaries, or exercise significant influence over the other party in makingfinancial and operating decisions. such relationships also exist between and/or among entitieswhich are under common control with the reporting entity, or between , andf or among thereporting entityrand its key management personnel, directors or its stockholders. In consideringeach possible reilated party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the relationship,
':9 

nol merely to the legal form. A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services orobligations between the company and its related parties, regardress of whether a price is charged.
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Pt'ovjsions and Continqencles
Provisions arel recognized when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events' it is more tit<etv tian not that an outfrow of resources wi, be required to settrethe obligation; and the amount.r, b. r.lf irbly estimate;. 

-

Provisions arelmeasured atthe presentvalue of the expenditures expected to be required to settrethe obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects cu*ent rrrr,", assessments of the time varue off :J3"i[:ii: ff[Tf:['"H:" obrigation' rhe increase in *,e provision ar" to passase or time

ffiTJ' 
are'reviewed at the end of each reporting year and adjusted to refrect the current best

contingent liabilities are not recognized in the separate financiar statements. These are discrosed inthe notes to separate financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resourcesembodying economic benefits it ,.un,ot", A contingent asset is not recognized in the separate::ffiijntT,lff XrTr*;J:'"d 
in ti"-notu, to separate rinanciar statements when an inrow or

Events After the Reportine Date
Post year-end events that prwioe additionar information about the company,s financiar position atthe end of reporting year (adjusting evenis) are reflected i;the separate financiar statements, post

H:ill,:fln H:l"i::. 
non_adjusting events are disctosed in the notes to separate financiat

3. Significant Judgments, a..orntin@
The preparation of the company's separate financial statements requires management to makeiudgments' estlmates and assumptions that affect the .rornt, reported in the separate financiarstatements and accompanying notes. The judgments and estimates used in the separate financial

ffitffi:jrerbased 
upon management's evaluation or ruLrun, facts and circumstances as at the

while the conipany believes that the assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significantdifferences in the actual experience or significant changes in ir.,. assumptions may materiary affectthe estimated a'mounts, Actuar resurts courd differ from such estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. changes inaccounting estimates are recognized in the period in *hi.r, ir," estimutl- i, ,.ur["0 if the changeaffects onlythat period or in the period of the change rna trturu periods if the revision affects bothcurent and future periods.

Ihl?[: 
ng are the significant judgments, accountins estimates and assumptions made by the

clossification oflLeoses - compony os o tessee. The company has operating lease agreement for itsoffice spaces' The company has determined that the risks and rewards of ownership related to theleased propertf are retained by the lessor. Accordingly, the agreement is accounted for as anoperating lease.
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Rental expense amounted to F175,282, P!.g million and F2.1 million in 2017,2016 and 2015,respectively (see Note 16).

Assessment for tmpairment of Receivables. The company maintains allowance for impairmentlosses at a level considered adequate to provide for potential uncollectible receivables. The level ofthis allowance is evaluated by management on the basis of factors that affect the collectibility of theaccounts' These factors include, but are not limited to, significant financial difficulties orbankruptcy, the length of the company's relationship with the debtor, the debtor,s paymentbehavior, and'known market factors. The company iientifies and provides for specific accountsthat are doubtful of collection and reviews the age and status of the remaining receivables andestablishes a plovision considering, among others, historical collection and write-off experience.

No provision for impairment losses on receivables was recognized in 2077,20L6, and 2015.Receivables, net of allowance for impairment losses, amounted to F6.4 million and p6,2 million as atDecember 37, 2077 and 2016, respectively. Allowance for impairment losses amounted toF41,550 as at December 31, 2017 and 201.6 (see Note 5).

Assessment foi lmpairment of AFS Financial Asset. The company assesses AFS financial asset asimpaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost orwhether other objective evidence of impairment exists. The determination of what is ,significant,
or 'prolonged' requires judgment. ln addition, impairment may be appropriate when there isevidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance,
and financing cash flows,

No provision fclr impairment losses on AFS financial asset was recognized in2o!7,20L6 and 2015.The carrying ;imount of the company's AFS financial asset amounted to p2.0 million as atDecember 3L,2077 and 2016 (see Note g).

Copitolization of Exploration and Evaluation Expenditures. The capitalization of exploration andevaluation expenditures requires judgment in determining whether there are future economic
benefits from future exploitation or sale of reserves. The iapitalization requires management tomake certain estimates and assumptions about future events or circumstances, in particular,
whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established, Estimates andassumptions made may change if new information becomes available. lf, after expenditure iscapitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely,the amount capitalized is written off in profit or loss in the period when the new information
becomes available.

As at Decembel 3L, 2017 and 201.6, deferred mining exploration costs amounting to p2.6 million
were fully impaired upon management's assessment that the related projects *ur. u,.,ru.cessful
(see Note 9).

Estimation of upeful Lives of Property and Equipment, The company estimates the useful lives of
property and equipment based on the period over which the assets are expected to be available foruse' The estifiates are based on a collective assessment of industry practice, internal technical
evaluation and experience with similar assets, The estimated useful lives of property and
equipment are reviewed at each reporting date and are updated if expectations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other
limits on the use of the assets. Future results of operations could be materially affected by changes
in estimates brought about by changes in the factors mentioned above, The amount and timing of
recording of depreciation and amortization expense for any period would be affected by changes in
these factors and circumstances,
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There were no changes in the estimated useful lives of the company's property and equipment forthe years ended December 37,2017,2016 and 20j.5.

Depreciation and amortization amounted to P28,901,, F435,643 and F854,704 for the years endedDecember 31,20!7,20L6 and 2015, respectively. Property and equipment, net of accumulateddepreciation and amortization amounted to P21.,260 and Fgg,60g as at December 31,, 2077 and2016, respectively (see Note 10).

Assessment fol Recoverability of tnput vAT. The carrying amount of input VAT is adjusted to anextent that it is probable that sufficient taxable revenue subject to output vAT will be available toallow all or part of the input VAT to be utilized. Any allowance for unrecoverable portion of inputvAT is maintained at a level considered adequate to provide for potentially unrecoverable portion.
The level of allowance is based on past application experience and other factors that may affectrealizability,

No impairment loss was recognized on input VAT in20!7,2016 and 2015. lnput vAT amounted to
P7'7 million and F7.5 million as at December 31, 2Ot7 and2016, respectively (see Note 6),

Assessment for lmpairment of lnvestments in Subsidiaries and property ond Equipment. The
Company assesses impairment on investments in subsidiaries and property and equipment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of these assets maynot be recoverable. Factors that the company considers in deciding whether to perform
impairment review of investment in subsidiaries and property and equipment include the following,
among others:

. A significant financial difficulty of the subsidiaries,

A significant change in the technological, legal or economic environment in which the business
operates.

A significant decline in market value of asset is more than would be expected from the passage
of time or normal use,

e A significant adverse change in how the asset is being used or in its physical condition,

r A current-p,eriod loss combined with a history of losses or a projection of continuing losses
associated with the asset.

o A realization thatthe assetwill be disposed of significantly beforethe end of its estimated useful
life.

ln20!7,201"6 and 203.5, management assessed that there are no impairment indicators relating to
the company's property and equipment and investments in subsidiaries.

Accumulated impairment losses on investments in subsidiaries amounted to p223.5 million as at
December 3L,2017 and 2016 (see Note 7).

The aggregate carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries and property and equipment
amounted to F645.6 million and P544.9 million as at December 31, ZOLT and 20L6, respectively
(see Notes 7 and 10).
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Recognition of Deferred Tox Assets, Th,date are reviewej,and reducea ," ,rr. l_rt:[IT}IrriTil[of deferred rax assetsprofit will n" .r.ilur"]" 
?,;;;r,-or'o"uu of the deferred ,r*,n*", 

probabre ,il :ffflt'l.firr#assessment on the rec.ognition of deferred ru, urr.i, o;;fiffi:t,:"J;[.lX*l,urli:ff1*lj
:: ;l: fi f ; ;x:T[ :ffiT l,",ffi *-[i;1?ff : H[;r,,u : ru :ffji; 

"ll,, 
ro re ca s, s b a s e d . ; ; ; ;

The company'did not recognized deferred tax assets on deductibre temporary differences totaring
p47'1 mirion and Bes.g m]rio;-r;;;';".e1ber ,r, zorr l, d 20L6,;;;;#; (see Note 1.7).

Management has assessed that it is noiprooaure ilrat ruirrJ'trrrotu profli;,r;'# avairabre in the
near future against which tnttt'it[* l.* ,rr",, on *,uru t"mporary differences can be utirized,

4. Cash and c*f,ErirJ*t,
This account consists of:

Cash on tranoJn-OT Uffi
Short-term placements

2017 20L6
7t,576,209 P1.,079,764
35,375,094 L40,742,34o

P36,957,297 P141,922,104
___j___-:-:___

:::i.'?^:'JJ:;;;::t"*st at the prevaiting bank deposit rates and are immediatery avairabre ror

Short-term placements are made for varanging rrom 2..12% to 2.2s%at *re ;;il1'r:*,f;1:::r"l ::"f"ji::e months and earn interest

lx11:TJ:::rffi?jfil#;1'lr lJrTks 
and shorr_term pracements amounred to pl.0 mi,ion in

5. Receivables

This account consists of:

Receivable

Relatedtparties
Third party

Dividends receivable
Advances to officers and employees
Accrued interest
0thers

Note 2077 201,6

12

1,2

?3,926,974
190,450

2,000,000
325,LOt
49,601
20,333

F5,809,494

396,299

75,47t
1g,554

l-ess allowance for i irment losses
6,47!,359

41,550
6,229,977

41,550

Advances to officers
liquidation.

P5,359,909 P6,799,267

and employees are unsecured, noninterest_bearing, and are subject to
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6. other Crr*ileGf,

This account consists of:

lnput VAT Note 2017 2016
Rental and security deposits
Prepayments

Others

16
P7,703,3g0

1,44L,579
72,193
22,296

P7,495,499

18,556

23,502
P9,239,449 P7,527,551.

Prepayments consist of medical and dentar insurance providedwill expire within one year. to employees and license fees which

7, lnvestments in SuUsiUiaries

Movements in,this account are as follows;

2017
AB Stock transfer

Corporation

Cost
Tidemark (ABsrc) Total

:[,:.,T1ffi-,'#ing 
orvear ,r,21,:::,:20 peee,ees p7o8,3z8,6esaor9yf

ing Amount - 223,495,475

201.6
fidemark ABSTCCost Total

Less accumulqted impairment
P767,329,700 F999,995 P769,328,695

Carrying emounl
223,495,475

223,495,475
P543,833,225 Pggg,gg5 P544,933,220

ABSTC was incorporated on June 24, 201'0 and registered with the philippine sEC to establish,
:ffi'Jnni,Tli;:.,iff1.J:::,11i: :l ?:ce:nb;;1i, rrr) and 2016, the compan y hasee ee%

;H'J: T:, I lfl ,Ti;, i : :::; il :l:, ti iJ:; 
; ; ;;' ;; ; ; ;, ; fi ;; ffi ] ffi -: ; iHI \1:,? :,ZU

The company' through Tidemark, a wholly-owned subsidiary based in Hong Kong, has 27,4%interest in FEL ds at December 31, 2076. on 
.March 22, 2o!7-, the BoD 

"ppror"d 
the subscription toadditional 6,66;6,667 new shares of FEL (through ,ii"rrrtl at usDo.3o a share or a totat ofusD2'0 million' Together with the subscription simultaneorriv ,ra. by other major shareholder ofFEL' the new subscription resulted to the decreas. .r;;;;;;pany,s ownership to 20,00% in 2017,This was ratified by the stockholders on May 1,0,2017. As at December 3L, 2017 and20L6, thecompany's interest in FEL is 20,00% and 27.14%, respectively.
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As discussed in Note 
1l 

t!'encountered 
I dqrav in one of its drilring programs. rt has submitted a,

tTil?::!:Ji:iT.T:fi#H*Tquired 
p.,,it,io-,,t o,,jli,, p,.o,o,, 

^owever, 
the permit

il,l],.,,,il:f ,Tl:HSJfl*fl :tHf :[T[:::ffi l*Hlll;;l;:i,::il*Lk[:;j:[l
on July 72' 201'6' the Permanent court of Arbitration in The Hague rereased a ruring on the maritime
case filed bv the Republic of tit *;;;es against the neopiei l;il; ffirl rn particurar, the
rribunal ruled that Reed Bank,-wn.rJ!a ,, ,i.r, i, ;;;ffiil phirippines, r*.rrriru Economic Zone
as defined under the united rttution''Jonruntion on ,re raw of the Seas, rn rrror.rou r 2077, theffi::ilT;n".'ii?i:fl1T":*:x:",f,,lil:;3il[,Ii:::*o a, a neso,ia, on,o cornmence

[:ii'tllil':[:5rilil'L:]::,companv's 
investment in,rEL rhrough Tidemark amounting to

;H;lffill,;;J,.;i;,ogni,ud"in ff;;#il:llj,l',-,i;1,[:,,liJ *,:;,**i]J,....,#fl;

;:j:1;5"T;::il-,-"1'5i::i#,1T#'::il3lli,,XilfiH:;'"" of the subsidiaries as at and for the

Assets

Liabilities

Equity

Net income

2017 201.6 201.5
P969.4

665.6

303,8

0.4

P866,9

664.2

202.7

0.5

P819.0

663.8

155.2

0.s

amounting to
[ 3'.lli,iXir::il:i|lreco'nized dividend income rrom its investment in ABSrc

8, AFS Financi"lnrr.t

This account pertains to the company's investment in unquoted shares of stock which is carried atcost amountingrto F2.0 mirion as at December 31, 2017 and 2016.
Fair value bases for the shares (i'e', quoted market prices) are neither readily available nor is therean alternative basis of deriving , ,.riJ. ,.ruation as at reporting date.

9. Deferred Mining Exptoration Cost

The realizability of deferred mining exploration cost is dependent upon the success of futureexploration and development actiJities in proving il'.," mining property,s viabirity to produceminerals in commercial quantitie', the out.ome of which cannot be determined at this stage of thecompany's operations' As at December 3L, 203.7 and zoio, a"rurred mining exploration costs

;ff#:[1J:;if.[ll,,"r?. 
*." fulty impaired upon ,rnre.r.nt,s assessm.it thrt the related
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L0. properry andifripment

The balances and movements of this account are as follows:

Exploratioi- Leasehold Furnlture Jnd

Ealances at beginning of year
Ulsposals/retiramo 

^+
Batances at eiEf
A.crmulutuJffiiiii-

and Amortlzation.
Balances at beginning of year
Depreciation 

"na 
.rlrtir"tion

Batances at eiEGil
Amount

Additions

Salances at endii
Accumulated DupruGii;;

and Amortization

Offlce Transportitiii

1q,a22,51,!

Fixtures t

PL,324,786 F1,253,858 F1,555,548

t6,737 7

39,798
7,438

L,324,786 1,193,791

20,630

548

1,665,548 8,633,347

28,901
41

814,999

708)

1,190,773 1,565,548
F- F-

2076
Exploration Leasehold rurnitGn]

Balances at beginning of year F128,378 p4,422,518 p1,324,786 ?7,28s,762

4,422,518

P3,068,405 P1,O,227,84g

8,722,gss
324,786 1,2s3,868

1,208,3L4

17,137

Balances at beginning of year
Depreciation and amortization

Ealances at end oGr

93,500

12,429

131)

39,798
P76,437

2,060,928
397,4s8

9,088,333

435,643
31, (7e2

7,193,797 1,665,548 347
7 P- P89,608

ln 2017 ' the company retired its fully depreciated furniture and fixtures with cost of pg,04g. Thecompany also sold its office equipment fotr F39,447which is efuivalent to its carrying amount.
ln 2016' the company sold its property and equipment located at the exploration site for aconsideration of p60g,929, resulting to a loss of pl,1O2.

i.1, Payables and Other Current LiabiIties

This account consists of:

Note
Payable to:

2077 201.6

Related iparties
Third party

Advances from officers and employees
Accruals:

Professiona I fees
Utilities and other office expenses

Others

12 P726,397
447,548
368,924

190,000
7O3,2L6

794,629

F927,216

256,924

180,000
179,566

308,951
?2,010,7L3 Pl,852,467

Accrued expenses and other payables are normally settled within the following month,

Cost

F56,235

17t,2o4l

- 7,766
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other payables consist of;

Retention payaUte 2017 2016
Withholding taxes payable
Other statutory payables
Others

P95,000

14,900
12,933
61,795

P95,000

21,,599

L3,389

1"79,974
Pt94,628 P309,961

12, Related party Transactions

The company' in its regular conduct of business, has transactions with its related parties. The
outstanding balances and amount of transactions with rerated parties are as forows:

Recelvable from reldted parttes

W hol ly- ow n e d s u bsi di o rie s :
Tidemark

ABSTC

Enti.ties under common mdnogement
Alphaland Corporation
Alphaland Heavy Equipment

Corporation
Alphaland Balesin lsland Club, tnc.
Alphaland Aviation, lnc,
Choice lnsurance Brokerage, lnc.
Philweb Cambodia Ltd.
Acentic philippines lnc.
Alphaland Baguio Mountain Log

Working capital advances
Allocated rent, salaries,

utilities and other
shared costs

Reimbursements

Reimbursements

Allocated costs
Reimbursements

Allocated costs
Sale of assets

F.

757,62L

3L,022

918

P- F223,901 ?223,901

813,946 195,406 %2,251.

Allocated costs
Allocated costs

2,794,966

579,305

32,500

,t:

2,794,966

579,305

32,500

796
609,865
190,450
27,441.

418,019

Dividends receivable

Whol ly-owne d su bsid i o ry .
ABSTC

F-
Payable to related partles

W holly-owned su bsidi o ry -
ABSTC

P5,809,494

F18q000 P18O,OO0 F_ P_
E n,tities u nde r common monogeme nt :
Alnhaland Southgate Tower, lnc. Lease of office space,(ASTI) 

utilities and altocated

Alphaland Makati place, tnc, (AMpt)

Philweb

Stock transfer

sa la ries
Lease of office space

and utilities

Allocated rent, salaries

7,576,274 s85,413 576,595

777,397 t4o,gg4

8,914

129,563

and other shared costs

F726,397
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Receivable from and.payable to related.parties are unsecured, noninterest_bearing, due andl"J ILT ?i:' ,;3i, ;;':',",T* rru: i ; i*[ Jffil : i{ir'; n,:;r,,H f 
s n., m a d e a n y

The company had a cost sharing Agreement. (the Agreement) with phirweb for its share in rentar;::,Tiffi ,?:i?i ::,:;ru1;1;,",n", .,,,,, *ur-,, n,-g","nt person ne r rhis agreeme nt has

Details of shared costs charged to the company are as forows (see Note L4):

Salaries

Rental

Others

allowances
20L7

PL,935,720

611,709

203.6

P3,234,369

1,390,569

201s
F3,205,1g2

1,173,349

28,g1,gP2,547,429 P4,63"4,939 P4,407,450
ln 2077, philweb ceased to be a related party of the Company.

IThecompensation"rffiersonnelisincludedaspartoftheAgreementwith
Philweb under the allocated 

'atu"rL, 
,no arowances. subsequent to october 2017, the;tffitxt i: 

of kev management personnel of the co*prnvl, being handted by Asr at no cosr to

L3. Capitalstock

]ff;:ffi;[T::ffirt;Irrrv's capitar srock consistins or ar common shares as at December 31,

Authorized - Fj. par valu;

Number of
Shares Amount

10,000,000,000 F10,000,000,000

lssued and outstanding
Subscribed 953,963,474

11591,036,526
P953,963,474

1,591,035,526

Less subscriplion receiva ble
2,545,000,000 2,545,000,000

1,495,000,000
2,545,000,000 P1,060,000,000
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14. Generat.rOe,@
This accourlt co,nsists of:

Allocatqt6,pfiG
Professibnal fees
Salariesland wages
PSE listihg fr:e
Rent 

i

supptiei
Taxes alld li,cgr..,
Utilities] dur:s and subscriptions
Medical ancl hospitalization
Depreciatiorr and amortization
Represelntation
Transportatlon and travel
Commuqlications
Mining $xplrrration cost

2077
P2,s47,429 2075

F4,407,450

7,155,342
5,L30,1.56
L,593,gg3

2,05A,757

591,330

301.,599
g07,0gg

379,609
954,704
976,500
449,74L
794,704

1,723,769

P4,674,93g
L,0O4,445
4,!60,650
1,723,769
1,913,568

357,449

43,109
695,502
563,139
435,643
643,941
794,942
394,559
976,429
779,730

201"6

t6

1,37O,34t
1,274,69s

990,214
t75,282
164,243

97,976
45,005

31,456
2g,got
21,447
6,779
2,097
l,6ggOthers

-

7
F6,904,x.36 P17,900,1,!7 F27,795,759

l5. Basic rna Oftrt,, _vrJrs.Jrrdre _

Basic and dif uted loss per share is computed as follows:
I

trlet loss i(a)
2017 2016

Weighte! a!,erage number of
(F3,884,533)

953,963,474

(PLs,142,469) (F19,359,g94)

outstanrling shares (b

ry!,"i-to.s'p"[E'eG7b, P0.0159 (F0.01s2)

2015

953,953,474 953,963,474

Ilirt"#'.iJ llilt:l:T:ff:'tial common shares outstanding, thererore basic ross per share is

1.6. Operating lbasts

]!: ,to,,o'fY is a party to a noncancellable lease agreement with AST; covering its office andparking spaqes lior a period of five years from Januaryi.,2010, renewable upon mutuar consent ofboth partiesi the rease agreement was terminated on september 30,2076.

ylo:: the 
lernrs 

of the covering lease agreements, the company is required to pay rentat andsecurity deRgsits which are included as part of "other noncurrent assets,, in the separate statementorjinlrylatfosition aggregating FL'4 million as at December 31, 2016. These deposits will become
::llifl]: Pjl':9"'panv at the end of the lease contract. As a resutt of termination of the tease

'l- "'- "-"li::'l qL Lrrq trrru er tlre rease contraC. Rs a result of termination of the leaseagreement vyith ASTI, the company expects to collect these deposits within one year from reporting

l:l?,.::.:ll:l:lr, the companv recrassified these uupoJtrio ,,other 
current assets,, account in

of financial
refundable lo tlre

2017 (see Ngte r3).

10
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ln octoberiz,to' the,company entered into a rease agreement with AMpr for its office space. The

:i{{i,:fiL.;,H!i'[:*ffii*ol.,0" '0, 'o,u 
,,,,r'i.,,in,tuo il;;; o,*,0",, sixty (50)

ir'.*','^i jI#:1 j:r::[j'#T,T.1i.;,t*'1il!,:.,,r#Ii:fl *:rl,t#ffi
i

Dax+ ^. -. I

, ;;; ;;;,;,,,ti.n in 2077,
2016 and 2p1.5, respectively ir;"-il;;;

l

------ :_
L7. lncome Taxts

',::\i:,ilj::;?jl;:;ff1?JJ,:xn:#'ff?Jil::;fi,;,T," ,ax due ,o i,s ,ax ,oss posi,ion

The deferreJd tax assets o:.lhu following 
!;-oy;tiu,re 

temporarv differences remain unrecognized as[:?i::il:Hffiffii;:1j::lffir:11^,:;,,,i',iir*itaxabre proritwi, be avai,ah,p i^+,.^
;: T.,,I,'JJ: 

a ga i n s t w h i c h, r'. o.,.io' ;ffi iffi lfi ::xfl :llH1?':,: lT; xJ l,T ffi",ri: J : :f
ruorco 

l

Accumulated impairment losses on:
Deferred mining exploration cost
fleceivables

2017
P44,4?5,57O

2,6L3,94o
41,550

P67,252,747

2,613,940
41,550

2076

Excess MCIT over RCIT
29 L,764

*ilffi::H.'::iffih:? which can be carried forward and craimed as deduction from

Year lncurredi Br

-

20L7

2016

201s

2ot4 l

-

Balance at
of Year

P_
t7,256,270
20,377,L95
23,679,676

Expired

t:

76

Balance at
End of year

P6,962,105

77,256,27O

20,377,795

future

Valid Until
2020
2019

2018
20t7P6L,252,1,47

79,676 435,570:
]5::H:?J::il:?T ffff:I"X;;,ln,.n can be carried rorward and craimed as deduction

I Balance at

, * 
piry DateiZJ p_2or4 1 7?q P- Fzg 2o1g

- 

1,tJJ 
- 

i-11_ 1.,735 _ zollP7,764
F29
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J[x[::lixi::#."ff:i"'ff.ffi::[j';],ff:*,:i;:ffJled atstatutorv income tax rate and
l

--_
Benefit fronl inr 20t7 201,6 2015

income tdx ra,te
Expired NO{CO

!h.,na:t in {nrecognized deferred tax assetsExpired MC|T
Add (deduct) ta;< effects of:

Nontaxa!le dividends

lrl::._rl 
,i:.:rne already subjected to finaltax

ible ex

(F1,165,360)

7,103,503

|.5,046,706lt
1,735

(600,000)
(305,881)

72,609

(P4,542,747)

4,592,795
594,695

(F5,507,960)

5,962,705

203,279
29,203

tiglltel@@
(827,293)
193,153

(850,149)

262,957
F- F- P29

]lo,,:ilJ,,,|.,Tff:.::the 
companv's dealings in rinanciar instruments is to fund irs operations and

l

The compa{y's risk management policies are estabrished to identify and anaryze the risks faced bythe compariy' lio set appropriate'rist< iimits und .ontrol,-lnd to monitor risks and adherence tolimits' Risk ima,agement policies and systems are reviewed regurarry to reftect changes in marketconditions 
f nd the company's ,.tiriti*. A.lr risks rr..J uy the company are incorporated in theannual operbting budget' witigating,trrt.ei., and procedures are arso devised to address the risksthat inevita$ly c'ccur so as not to affect the company', op.rraions and detriment forecasted resurts.The compa4y' through its training ,nJ ,.r.r.ment standards and procedures, aims to deverop a

:f,t#ljffii lnd ':onstructive contil environment in which ail emproyees understano ,t,ui," rores and

The main ripks arising from the company's financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and
i;ilflyJ:1frJ,h:"' 

reviews 
'no 

in'tiirtes policies ror managing each or the rlsks and thes" are

Market Risk
Market risk ]is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and othermarket pricds rarill adversely affei the companv's income or the varue of its h-rdings of financiarinstruments'i rn. objective of ,rr[.t 

-rirk 
,.nu*ement ls to manage and contror market riskexposures wfthin acceptabre parameters, whire optimizing the return.

lS, Financial RiEk nn

il.:,T,H:[lj;:jl'j'j-::il::i tr'jrr:'j ::Hi:r cash and cash equivarents, receivabresi"#rss:lffi :,H,i,.,ffi fi H:r*1,:*fri:id;Ji1u::J:;,^ 
j::::i:tf ;Jiliffi :i:i

Lv v, I rLEl s dno emproyees), AFS financiar asset,payabres and otiher current riabirities tu*.iloins statutory payabres).

The compa4y is subject to minimal transaction and translation exposures resulting from currencyexchange fluctuations in relatlon to its financial instruments, The company regurarly monitorsoutstanding]financial assets and liabilities in foreign currencies and maintains them at a levelresponsive !o the current exchange rates so as to minimizp rho ricrzc rar-+^r +^ rr--- r .
--rYrrY,v :v r rs LuIrtrIrL excnange rates so as to minimize the risks related to these foreigncurrency deriominated assets and liabilities.
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Credit Risk j

fi!i,t#il,' ;"lii,-lue, 
to uncertaintv in counterparty,s abirity to meet its obrisations. when

l[r=**lx,*#::r:J':fl ,'j:'"t'^:,',= 
j!*,f, 

*,":;'Tffi :]t;'"T;#gTJfinancial asiets, rvEJ Lrr orrrcers and employees), rental .ra r..*t,i Jlporitr, and AFS

lffi::H*,1fi',1i,Til[illH:::'Jxil:#L::',':'#:','1r.il;,,iif:TJr,,dition, 
the company

?1, ]The table bblovv shows the credit quality per crass of financiar assets as at December 31:

Past Due but
not

Cash and cash
equivalentsl

Receivablesr r
Rental and secfrity

deposits* + +i

AFS financial assdt

'Excludtng ciih-
**Excluding

'**Presented

?36,926,577

6,044,708

1,447,579

nona oioun
:es, to.office rs o nd em p loyees.

"other cu rrc nt ossex,, Lcciunt.

P-

Loans and ,eceiiq:El6
Cash and cash i

equivalen15;l
Receivables* *

Past Due but
not

P147,797,378

5,801,969

1,,447,579

1,999,950

,: ,: t: P- P741,797,378
41,550 5,843,519

7,447,579

,950rExctudinsidi
amounting to F24,78| +Excluding

to offlcers ond emptoyees.
F41,550

The credit Quality of the financial assets is managed by the company using internar credit quarityratings' High grade consists of financial assets fil ;;r;rparties with good financiar conditionand with relftively low defaults' This also includes transactions with rerated parties. Financiar assetshaving risks gf default but are stirr cor[ctiule are conside"d .; standard grade accounts,

n*#.1il,f;il:rj[',lJrlffalents are considered high grade as these pertain to deposits and

t-iquiditv Rislk
Liquidity ris( is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they falldue' The cbmlrany manages liquidity iirt uv ror.."riins oroj".,"o cash frows ]na ,.intaining abalance befwer:n continuity oi rrnoing--and flexibirit11 in operations. Treasury contrors andprocedures fre in place to ensure that sutficient cash ir'rrint.in.d to cover dairy operationar andworking capital requirements, Management closely monitoii ih. corprny,s futuie and contingentobligations 

iancl sets up required cash reserves as necessary in accordance with internarrequirements.
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The compqny's payab]e to. related parties and advances from o{fi11y_ano emproyees amounting toP1'1 miilion and p1.2 miilion ,i'ri ol..mu., 37, 2077 and 20L6, respectivery, are due anddemandabfe' The remaining balance Jpayables ano other-current liabirities (exctuding statutory[:I:?fifffi;:l[ij?,::i1,,"" ;:l;.'a;:;;;;-,;';; ;".",ber 31, ,o,, iia.io,u, ,",o".tive,y,

Fir Vatue Ugrsurement
lhe table belorrv presents the financial assets and riabirities of the company whose carrying amountsapproximafe f;rir varues due to the short-term nature of the transactions:

Financial p,siets-_
Loans qnd receivables:

20L7 2076

Cash arrd cash equivalents
ReCeiv;lbles* P36,951,297

6,044,7O9
P141,922,704

5,901,969Rehtaland security
1,44L,579

P747,624,073

Other financial liabilities _

laya{rr and r!h"r .rrrent liabilities*** F1,gg2,gg0 PL,BL7,4go
::x:ludllS 

o.dvonces to officers ond employees.

ii!ir::,1::,! -r:.der .,,other 
current ossets,, occount os at December sl, 2a17.Exctultng stdtutory poydbles omountlng to F27,833 and F34,987 os at December 3L, 2017 and 2a15, respectivety.

***

:ilTliJiff,;rr,,y:,i,|::,,r;.,1T^rIT]1.:-lreltaland security deposits as at December 31, 2016
ffi= il:' :'- ;: ffi x::il ?,'# L il'J :discount ra[e of 2.4so/". Thi< fair rrrt,o *^--j:: 

:,:,_T :[". ot,r.oty:. rrr i s ra i r va il e-,n;;;Ii,"J##' :is categorized under Level 2 of fairva lue hiera lcfry (sign ifica nt o bserva ble inputs).

AFS Finonc)ol llsset' AFS financial assets pertain to an investment in unquoted securities that aremeasured 
{t c.st since the fair varue of the shares are not readiry avairabre.

Capitat Manag,:ment policv

The prima4y objective of the company's 
.capital management is to ensure its ability as a goingconcern anp thrat it maintains healthy capital ratios in oider to support its business operations andmaximize slrarerholder value.

It t:'oiny-considers its total equity amounting to p699.7 miilion and p703.6 miuion as atDecember 
flt,ltOtl and 2016, respectively, as capital employed.

Itt3 Cgmqalny tnonitors capital on the basis of the debt-to-equity ratio which is calculated as total
!1!l^aivioe]otv 

to.tat equity. Total debt comprises of payables and other current liabilities. Totalequity compris,es all components of equity.

,584
lUabilities
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The debt-t$-eq;uity ratios as at December 31 are as follows:

Total dbbt
Total P2,010,7!3 P7,952,467

999,690,279 703,574,972
0.003:1 0.003:1--

I[,:ffi1:1,,1il,ilx:",r;:flT:i,'ll'fix,,if.i:[:,:,,lil,,1T.,u to it, in ,ight or changes in

!"it:y]ltrior naise capital. No chanses werc m,rra;^ *r.^ ^",Ic-t-Yre, 
the. compriy ,ry adjust its;;;';il;:'or rarse capital' No changes were made in the ";j;;;,il,';:l,5il1"[::.:1.,fitrl.;
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we have auditdd the. accompanying separate financiar statements of Atok-Big wedge co., rnc.l'}ilffi:illi:ffi;;;;;;J;;J;'"",oLo December it, zoin,on which ,,u il," ..ndered our reporr
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tssued January sj zota, Makati City

March 23,21lg
MakatiCity, Met+ Manila
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WRnyns Tlnr:exnorvc & Co
Fr R il,r pR 

r NCr pr-rs, w rsfior- uiioi(.

Dvryr^L AL(teotk(p,t t\q, q/61
uecember 29, 2015, vatid untit December 3i, 20lg

.^-. - ::11,:lr-dlr.rion No. 0207+R-2 (Group A)
5eprember 27, 2010 vatid until September 27, 2019

8741 Paseo de Roxas

Makati City 1226 philiDDines

Phone ; *63i 982 gloo
Fax : +632 982 9111
Website :ww.reyestacandong.com

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
ON SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDUTES

The. Stockholderi anrtr the Board of Directors
Atok-Big Wedge Co., tnc.
Alphaland Makati plerce,

we have auditedLin etccordance with Philippine standards on Auditing the separate financial statementsof Atok-Bis wedLe Co., lnc. (th; ;";;;ny) as at foi il. ;;;r, ended December 3t,2017,201G and2015' and have ilsued our report trrereon dated Marc n zE, ioia. our audits were made for the purposeof forming an opf nion on the basic separate financial statements taken as a whore. The accompanyingsupplementary $chedule of Adoption of Effective a.curntiig Standards and rnterpretations is theresponsibility of he company's management. This schedure is presented f;; p;;poses of compryingwittr securities Regutation coo. *rt; uu; ;; ;r#;; *',1 no, part of the basic separate financialstatements' Thelinformation have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our audits ofthe basic separatt firtancial statements, including.omprring;uch information airlltty to the underlyingaccounting and dther records used to prepare the basic sJparate financiar statements or to the basic
:::::::,lianciai statements themselves. ln our opinion, the information is fairty stated in ail materialrespects in relatidn to the basic separate financial statements taken as a whole.

Reyes TacRruooluc {[ Co.

7232 Ayala Avenl.re corner Malugay StreetMakatiCity 
]

i)
 DEMMANUEL v. crlnnr

Partner 
i

cPA Certificate No. 27455
Tax ldentification No. 102.084-OO4-OOO
BOAAccreditation Ng. 47li?,;Vand until December 31, 2018
)EL Accreditation No. 1021_AR_2 Group A

Valid until Marc\ 21, ZO20
BIR Accreditation No. 08-005 L  -OOi-ZOL1

Valid until Januafy L3,2O2O
PTR No. 66079s4 i

tssued January z)zou,Makati city

March 23,ZOL} 
I

Makati CitV, Metrp Manila

O?;
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THE PowtiR 0F setNo uNnensroooj
a{io!'i j'rA X i eONgULItNf, ITE
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ATOK-B|G wEDqE CO., tNc.

DECEMBER 3t,2Ot7

] SUPPLEMENTANV S
EIr.:CTIVE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIIONS

f 1a lework for th! prepa ration 
"nd 

or"r"n*"ioi- oJil"iItStatements l

k Phase A: objectives and quaritative characteristics
PFRSs Practice Staiement Management Commentary

PFRS Title Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

PFRS 1 (Revised) rFrrst-ume Adoption of philippine Financial Reporting
I Standards
l-
Amendments to pFRS 1: Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendment to pFRS 1: Limited Exemption from
Cornparative pFRS 7 Disclosures for First_time
Adopters

lAmendments to pFRS 1: Severe Hyperinflation and
Rernoval of Fixed Date for First_time Adonrer<

Amendments to pFRS 1: Government Loans
T_*

PFRS 2 snare-based payment

Amr..ndmsnls to pFRS 2: Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations

Amr-.ndments to pFRS 2: Group Cash_settled
Share-based payment Transactions

PFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

llmo:9ment to pFRS 3: Accounting for Contingent
Lonstoeration in a Business Combination

flmr:ndment to pFRS 3: Scope Exceptions for Joint
Ventures
I

Insurance aon,+-
PFRS 4

Amendments to pFRS 4: Financial Guarantee ContractsT-

Title
Adopted Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable



Non-current Assets Held for Srtu rnO Oir.oiiilil
Operations

t",""d-"r,.. rr^ ges in wtethofof Disposal

Exploration for and Evaluation or uin"r.l RIlilf
Financial lnstruments: Disclosures

Amendments to pFRS 7: Reclassificr,ion of Rililil
Assets

Amendments to pFRS 7: Reclassificu,ion of rill*-IJ
Assets - Effective Date and Transition

Amendments to pFRS 7: lmproving Oir.lorrrlliif
Financial lnstruments

Amendments to PFRS 7: Disclosures _ Transfers ofFinancial Assets

]1:::1i:rts to pFRS 7: Disctosures _ onsittine
nn;rncial Assets and Financial Liabilities

nI,=ndr.nt to pFRS 7; Servicing Contracts

Amr-.ndment to pFRS 7: Applicability of the
A.m.r)ndments to pFRS 7 to Condensed lnterim Financial
Statements

iop€irating segments

[::lf-"rts to pFRS B: Aggregation of operating

.

flmr:ndments. to PFRS g: Reconciliation of the Total ofthe Reportable Segments, Assets to the Eniity,s Assets

Finr ncial.lnstruments: Classification and Measurement
bf Financial Assets

Fina ncia I I nstruments: Classification rnO V,"ililIi
bf Firnancial Liabilities

fmerndments to pFRS 9: Mandatory rff".,irJlil
Ff n:; S and Transition Disclosures

on:solidated Financial Statements

nts to PFRS L0: Transition Guidance

ndments to PFRS LOi lnvestment Entities

flmetndments to pFRS 10: lnvestment Entities:Applying
the rConsolidation Exception

PFRS 11 Jointt Arrangements

Amerndments to pFRS 11; Transition Guidance



Arnendments to pFRS 11: Accounting fo;;qri;mof lnterests in Joint Operations

Disclosure of lnterests in Other Entities

Amendments to pFRS 12: Transition AuiUanf
Amendments to pFRS f Z,lnruUrIGtf
Amendments to nFRS 12: tnvestmen, en,i.i*Iiitgthe Consolidation Exception

Amendment to pFRS j.2: Clarification oi,hllffithe Standard

] 
Fair Value Measurement

]Amendment to pFRS 13;Short-terr r..",rJilliJ
]Payabtes

f*:rdrr"I,"IRS 13: portfolio exception

ry DeferralAccounts

PAS
Title

Presientation of Financial Statements
T---
hmttndmenu,o
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation
i^,-

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
ApplicablePAS 1 (Revised)

amenoments to pAS 1; presentation of ltems of Other
Lontprehensive lncome

,{rnenoment to pAS l.: clarification of the
Keqrirtrements for Comparative presentation

-firn€tnoments to pAS 1: Disclosure lnitiative
PAS 2 lnventories

ftatement of Cash Flows.-'
PAS 7

flm€,ndments to pAS 7: Disclosure lnitiative
1_-

PAS 8 flccounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
{nd Errors
1-

PAS 10
fverlts after the Reporting period

Conr;truction Contracts

lncorne Taxes

PAS 11

PAS 12

Philippine accountlng Sitandards (pAS)



PAS
Title

_+_____

Anrendmentr ao ,
Underlying Assets

an,^^.J--.-- 

-

Adopted

-

Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable

| ^,,rsilurilenrs to pAs L2: Recognition of Deferred Tax
I 
Rsslets for Unrealized losses

Prcipe y, Ot.n, .
Anrrendment.o rO
Equipment

Ama^,i*^-. --

PAS 16

, r, ,,,s, ,ur I rErr rL re t A5 lb: Revaluation Method _
Prqportionate Restatement of Accum utateJ
Deltreciation

nrIrtrilurilenf to pAs 16: property, plant and
Equipment - Clarification of Acceptable Methods ofDepreciation and Amortization

PAS L7
rtanls

] Leases

PAS 18 Revenue+-
Emllloyee Benefits

PAS 19
(Revised)

r/.tril,sfloment to pAS 1g: Defined Benefit plans _

Eml)toyee Contributions

PAS 20

i^rnrrnoment to pAS 19: Discount Rate - Regional
Marrket lssue

inccounung 
tor Government Grants and Disclosure ofuovernment Assistance

f-
PAS 21 r ne Errects ot Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

hm*ndmen,' *;
t_-tson'owing Costs
I

Het€ited party Disclosures

PAS 23 (Revised)

PAS 24 (Revised)

nm0ndment to pAS 24:Key Management personnel

PAS 26
lccounttng and Reporting by Retirement Benefit plans

PAS 27
(Amended) Separate Financial Statements

,\m()noments to pAS 27: lnvestment Entities

rmendments to pAs 27: Equity Method in separate:inancial Statements

nvestments in Associates and Joint Ventures
PAS 28

(Amended)



PAS
Title

A

Adopted Not
Adopted

Not
Applicable..,..!,,v,r,tril15 ro rA5 zg: lnvestment Entities: Applying

_tlie 
Consolidation Exception

Finanri.l Da^^_rr_._PAs 2e 
] pur ung rn xyperinflationarv F

PAS 32 Financial lnstrumpnt". F)ienr^-________, e,rurv)ur e dno Hresentation
Fihancial,nr,rrruffi
Arhan-I*^-- 

-

-i
l ,f,,,srruriltrilrs ro pAs 32: puttable Financial lnstrumentsarid Obligations Arising ofl Liorrirtetin^

A,.,,,s,rurilcflr ro pAs 32: classification of Rights lssues
Arnendments t., pa
Firlancial tiaOifitia, 

rv s.. vr)trrung rrnancial Assets and

Anra^-l-^---, ^.^-,ar,,,s,,urnen{.s [o pAs 32; Tax Effect of Distribution toHolders of Equity lnstruments

--Earnings p.rShrr"-PAS 33

PAS 34 rcrar xeporting

n,ilerrurnErlf to pAS 34: lnterim Financial Reporting andse1;ment tnformation for Totat il;;;; ;l 
^,,,*,^.

A,,,,,E'r\..ilrEilr [o rA) J4: Disclosure of lnformation
'Elsewhere in the tnterim financial *;;;"
lm;)airmentofOrrF
Amendmen,r,o O

Dis,closures for Nonfinancial Assets

Provisions, aon,,n

lntangibleAssets 

-

\mendment to pAS ;
>roportionate Restatement of Accumulated
\m,ortization

\mendmgnltopASrt,m
/lel,hods of Depreciation and Amortization
----__

PAS 35

PAS 37

PAS 38

F

il
PAS 39 erncrat tnstruments; Recognition and Measr

flmr:ndments to pAS 39: Transition and tnitial
Recr:gni1i6n of Financial Assets and Financial I i:hit;tio.

n,ilt:,rurilenEs to pAs 39: cash Flow Hedge Accountinggf Frcrecast lntragroup Transactions

Ienoments to pAS 39: The Fair Value Option

Am(lnoments to pAS 3g: Financial Guarantpp c

I,"c,uuilreilr.s ro rA5 sg: Reclassification of Financial
Asse,ts

]--

i

lhanr{m^



Athendments to pAS 39: Reclassifi..rio*f nn.nfiAlisets - Effective Date and Transition

Athendments pAS 3g: Embedded oerivatiil
Arnendment to pAS 39: e tigiut" HAil;
Arnendments to pAS 39: Novation of OurirrilrnOContinuation of Hedge Accounting

lnrrestment property

Arhendment to pAS 40: Clarifying,t,u ,n*ililnlil
f llx:::: :.i:1_i^s 

qo *r,un l;#;,;; Properuyas lnvestment property or o*n."o..rpi; ;;"*;

Antendment to pAS 4j.: Agriculture: rur[ffii,

lnterpretations
Title Adopted Not

Adopted
Not

Applicable
IFRIC 1

vrr(rr.r6es rn Exlsung Decommissioning, Restoration andSintilar Liabilities

tFRtc 2
rvrelrnoers' snare in Co_operative Entities and Similarlnstruments

tFRtC 4 uer;errflt,tI]g whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease

rFRtc 5
,\r6nr.5 r.o tnrerests arising from Decommissioning,
Restoration and Environmental Rehabititaiion Frrnrtc

tFRtc 5
Lraol.ues artsing from participating in a Specific
Market - Waste Electrical and Elecironi. i.,,,,.,-.^

IFRIC 7 iA,pt'ryrng 
the Restatement Approach under pAS 29

i'n.nciar Reporting in Hyperinfrationary Economies

tFRtC 9 neassessment of Embedded Derivatives

n,rrsnurnenfs ro pniltppine lnterpretation IFRIC 9:
Emlledded Derivatives

IFRIC 10 Inrenm Financial Reporting and lmpairment

isenricecon."rffir-.
tFRtc 12

IFRtC 13 ustlomgp Loyalty programmes

,FRIC 14 lrAs 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
fvlinimum Funding Requirements and their interaction].-

Agriculture

Philippine



|j::L$ll, to phitippine rnt.,p,.t.,i*, rffirrepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement
tFRtc t6 Hedges of a Net lnvestment in a Foreign d;;;

Distributions of Non_cash Assets ao Orr*,
Tr,ansfers of Assets from Customers

Extinguishing Financiat Liabitities *ni a*il
lnritruments

Striipp;ng Costs in the production phase of .;rfr.;Mine

IFRtC 21

PHILIPP!NE TNTER+RE]ATIONS . SIC

lntr.oduction of the Euro

Government Assistance - No Specific RelationT
Op,erating Activities

Opr:rating leases - lncentives

,n.lll: Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entityor its Shareholders

]Evaluating the Substance of Transactions lnvolving the
lLegal rorm ofa Lease

]*:." aoncession Arrangements: Disclosurll

Revenue - Barter Transactions lnvolving Advertising
Senlices

lntangible Assets - Web Site Costs

lnterpretations 
]



ATO,KTEBIG WEDGE GO., tN,C.

iif#hffilH^qitll,rm;L:ffi 
,rrr,

TELEFAX NCr,: +63,2.310.7100

January lg, ?0rB
i

srArEM ENr oF M+lv{g!I{ENT's REs poNst BtLtryFo R ANN ual I r,rcona i.iix irtrunru

H:' *ru,ff['l[ 
"$.}:"l:d,% ffii',?, fs; l,i; J.*!ii 

r"rs i bre ror a, inrorm ation a nd
!:,?,2'^1 Mpnagement is likewise res.on.aihra rar ^,r ',lj9t the year.,nd"d o...ri"t.J,,,'1"1,#f, :?p,"#;,:1$,XI,"Jlf ,::ffi fi",rH#dii?ffi"-flXilii;ffi
lfi iH,,,liisls ::*r* * {rfr:?[? #:qi[ : lj :.'::pon s i b,e ro r a,, i n ro rm ation a ndi"tff ffi LTi".?il:,#if",:ou:1l:,,;$:*l#ltall:u",,mJ,"litr#j[;ffi 

[.13ft:oocumentary stannp tax returns,;;;;y and all other tax returns.
ln this regard' ]tnu ['t'n'gement affirms,that the attached audited financial statements for thevear ended Decernber it, zoii ,;; th. ilrff;i,ift irrlar rncome-i* n"trrn are in,X'ff 'fl :?i,',Jl*l[:f mru:i::f#J*:#;'X'',*;il"co,in.-ii,6rt.anocorieci

(a) the Anr\uat lncome Tax Returns has been prepared in accordance with the provisionsof the Natiionar rnternar ndriri,. b99;, 9!'ffiil#, and pertinent tax regurations
fl:$":ljl:t 

issuances or t:ne'6Jp.rtrunt oi iirrnE and the Burerau or rnternar

(b) any dis[arilty of figures in the submitted.reports arising f.m the preparation of thettnancial statements p".rrni tolilnanciar ,t.orntinJ standaros and the preparationof the lnc.me tr* r"trr-n-priJrrilt i;rr--;;;i,il"rg rures has been reported asreconcilins items ano mainialn;lr.r#ffi;;t'il:k1 
1nd records in accordance

[XlJ:F*requirements ot ne-vinue nugririio'n- ilI. a-zoot-;;j-;ilr rerevant
I

(C) AtOk-Biq Ulr/edoa e.. tna h^^ rit-, -tt

ISSUanCpS; I lvvvrqrrvr I rru. o-zvu I and Other feleVanl
I

Atok-Big ulfedge co" lnc' has filed all applicable tax returns, reports and statementsrequire( to be fited_under pr,irippi* tax rbws r*t"'rliorting period, and a, taxesand othfr irnpositions s.h9wn ihffi;ri: l+i,;rg"ol?io,. have been paid ror thereporting perriod, except those .ort.ri"o rn good faith.

*lphtirman a Ceb

CRISTINA
Senior Vice prelid

/INTAs\
ent for frnance



me, follows:

NAllil]E

Roberto V. Ongpin
Eric O. Recto
Cristina B. Zaplnta

Aoc. No: -tb-i
Page No. 771."
Book No. ff,
Series of zdA -

'gP.€ e x ?*tG
:_yl,:3:ll[p,3lrp gygRN to before me this

# : ffi #l] 
ot t i n ii i; ; ; ffi i ;"'i:.?[:. il. H iim r_____at MakatiCity,

oocuments, and personally known to

COMPETENT EUDENCE
OF IDENTITY

Passport No: p0300ZATA
Passport No: EC3S44131
Passport No: p34S10624

DATE OF
,SSUE

09t17t2016
02t27t2015
46t22t2017

PLACE OF ISSUE

DFA Manila
DFA Manila
DFA NCR East
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r{97', e rf, r rrs 
it 
A( J$pup#$,,*.,#,go ,;.,jfif5:.l1frff#,tifffi!3,d

Citlbrnl lowe,
8741 pa$o do RMr

It*l cttv tzzo pirrrrpprn.,

Ifn' 
' -i-o#iiii,oo

P.r
, fvJ.yutyllp
| +53: 9g? gUl

lo ACCoMpANy rJrro*, 
oF TNDEPENDENTAUDTTORS

TmHilHIfi ffiffi**i;1}fl H L,No r^,,rH rHE

l

iffi'f |I:1,-'J:;I1 j:: Boa rd or D,rectors

lillrlrrl Makatl t)tace,
7232 Ayatanrdnri, 

"rvratatt tity' 
I' ri I I ss; t'orD€r Malugay Street

We have audited t

l'*,'ffi ff;l#ihif, ii::rr;lJiH,;Til:i:#if !i]]:.#'ffi JL jt*t,,:,y..,:nf,?Jr;
fn compriance r/dth Rg.venue Regurarlons 

r3g:r. are starng that no partner of c
consanguinrtv or afrinrtv i" ,n" p?";a# manager o,. prin.ipi stockhorders of the i,ompany.

REyEs tncnruodruG& Co.

fu0.%
EMMANUEL V. CLARINO
Partner
cPA Cerflficate No. 4745t,
r ax.tdentlflcaflon No. 10ll_0g4_004.000
B0A Accredltaflon No. ai,82; Valtd unil oecember g t,2[tgsEc Accredrtauon No, 1o:11-AR-2 e;;;; ;-"'","",
_.- Valld unfll Marcfr 27, ZO2O
BIR Accredttaflon wo, Oa.ilOS 144-OOS-2Oll

or* nlj.,,3Jl?srJanuary 
r.B, 2020

tssued January g, 20:t& Makatl Clty

March 29,ZOtg
Makatl City, Metr:o Mtanila

TtiH Irfilll8t 0r tsf; ffi( uN0Hn$T00u,r'ri, i r/rxrr'Nril,r"Tr*fi rrry
R5M

Iilfifltfl ilfl ilillfl Itf, t[ffifl fifl fftflfl flflililtfl ililtffIflflflI
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2 Year Ended (My,t2}yy)
Short pedod R6turn?
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Annual lncome Tax Return
Page 2

trtK rorm N0.

1702-RT rlll'ffiffi;Hd;#ffifl,Ii
201

Name

from gp"r"tton /rrTldEG a4

f otut,Cro$lnror.o.]s-rG@

(sum or kems 3sliij

(lt , s, r"r" /i"mjt6E

otneirth^nuci(t@)
i@

lnaome Tax tn ttem4fffiitem 49,

Frcm scneCuto r ngm t4 foFii il ltom 17)

(ttem 44 Less ttomiq-@Fffi

ry'ptiierranoiiffoM
(Sun ltem 46 & 60) (To part tt item n)

Deductlons (30% ot ltem @

(Sun 9l ttems OZ & OJ)

'rttps;//efps'bir'gov'ph/faces/EFPSWerb-wilr/formsz0l3verslo 
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Annua! Income Tax
3t - Schedules I

Return
&2

BIR Form No.

1702-RT

(rtu.tt"*Giffi)

Sale (Sumof ftemil

torlse (sumuaiiffi)

(surottt r"ts&tiffiig)
tz rinisnea cooosFeilffi
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l

l
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Annual tncome Tax Fleturnpage4,-Schedules3&4
BIR Form No.

1702-RT ]ilffiilhr-iiffiIt
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nua,"l ln,.or*-f", Rffi
Pagg5-Schedules4,5&6

Itemlzed Deductlong fsu m of llems t a 11 lniuaG

Gross lncomo (Fron pitrt lV tnm

o, NoLgO & Deduction Under Speclal Law

Year

https//efps.bir.gov.ph/faces/EFPSWdb-war/forms2013Versio 
nllTozRTllTo2RTJcrint.xhtmt

5/8

17,02.RT



Annuaf ln'"ffi
page 6. Schedules Z, A A S--'- 

"

l
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Annuailr"ffi
Hage 7 ., Schedules 10 & 1i

Membere lnformafion {ropzostocxn@
ilils rgpr€sents on Ih6 onilra 

^w^o^hr^r
o/o to
Total
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==========
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==========
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